**Outer Continental Shelf** 

# Essential Fish Habitat Assessment for Oil and Gas Activities in the Gulf of Mexico



# Essential Fish Habitat Assessment for Oil and Gas Activities in the Gulf of Mexico

Authors

Bureau of Ocean Energy Management Gulf of Mexico Regional Office

May 2022

**US Department of the Interior** Bureau of Ocean Energy Management Gulf of Mexico Regional Office

# Contents

List of	Tables	iii
Abbrev	/iations and Acronyms	v
1.0	Proposed Actions	1
1.1	Purpose of and Need for the Proposed Actions	1
1.2	Related Activities	2
1.2	2.1 Pre-lease Activities	2
2.0	Lease Stipulations and Guidance	8
3.0	Habitats	9
3.1	Gulf of Mexico Essential Fish Habitat	9
3.1	1.1 Water Column	9
3.1	1.2 Wetlands	11
3.1	1.3 Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)	11
3.1	1.4 Oyster Reefs	12
3.1	1.5 Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low-Relief Features)	13
3.1	1.6 Potentially Sensitive Biological Features	14
3.1	1.7 Topographic Features	14
3.1	1.8 Sargassum Habitats	14
	1.9 Deepwater Benthic Communities	
3.1	1.10 Habitat Areas of Particular Concern	15
3.1	1.11 Humanmade Structures and Artificial Reefs (non-EFH designated habitat)	
4.0	Managed Species	19
4.1	Red Drum	
4.2	Reef Fish	19
4.3	Coastal Migratory Pelagic Species	20
4.4	Shrimp	
4.5	Caribbean Spiny Lobster	
4.6	Corals	
4.7	Highly Migratory Species	21
4.8	Other Species of Importance	
4.8	8.1 Fish	22
4.8	8.2 Invertebrates	
5.0	Impacts of Routine Activities	
5.1	Water Column	23
5.2	Wetlands	
5.3	Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)	26
5.4	Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief)	
5.5	Potentially Sensitive Biological Features	
5.6	Topographic Features	
5.7	Sargassum Habitats	
5.8	Deepwater Benthic Communities	
5.9	Managed Species	32

5.	9.1 Noise	32
6.0	Impacts of Accidental Events	
6.1	Water Column	
6.	1.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	
6.	1.2 Response Activities	
6.2	Wetlands	
6.	2.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	
6.	2.2 Response Activities	39
6.3	Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)	
6.	3.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	39
6.	3.2 Response Activities	40
6.4	Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief)	40
6.	4.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	40
6.	4.2 Response Activities	41
6.5	Potentially Sensitive Biological Features	41
6.	5.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	41
6.	5.2 Response Activities	41
6.6	Topographic Features	41
6.	6.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	41
6.	6.2 Response Activities	42
6.7	Sargassum Habitats	42
6.	7.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	42
6.	7.2 Response Activities	43
6.	7.3 Ship Strikes and Collisions	43
6.8	Deepwater Benthic Communities	43
6.	8.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	43
6.	8.2 Response Activities	44
6.9	Managed Species	44
6.	9.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment	
6.	9.2 Response Activities	45
7.0	Cumulative Impacts	46
7.1	Water Column	46
7.2	Wetlands	47
7.3	Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)	47
7.4	Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief)	
7.5	Potentially Sensitive Biological Features	50
7.6	Topographic Features	50
7.7	Sargassum Habitats	
7.8	Deepwater Benthic Communities	53
7.9	Managed Species	54
8. Ove	rall Conclusions	
8.1	Water Column	
8.2	Wetlands	
8.3	Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)	57

8.4	Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief)	57
8.5	Potentially Sensitive Biological Features	58
	Topographic Features	
8.7	Sargassum Communities	59
	Deepwater Benthic Habitats	
	Managed Species	
	References	

# List of Tables

Table 1: USEPA's National Coastal Condition Report ratings for the GOM	.11
Table 2. Gulf of Mexico Managed Species	. 88
Table 3. Described Essential Fish Habitat Locations for Reef Fish in the Gulf of Mexico	. 90
Table 4. Described Essential Fish Habitat Locations for Coastal Migratory Species Using the Gulf of           Mexico	.94
Table 5. Described Essential Fish Habitat and Spawning Locations for Shrimp in the Gulf of Mexico	.94
Table 6. Described Essential Fish Habitat Locations for Highly Migratory Species in the Gulf of Mexico	.95
Table 7. Described Essential Fish Habitat Locations for Shark Species Using the Gulf of Mexico	.96

# Abbreviations and Acronyms

Short Form	Long Form
°C	degrees centigrade
°F	degrees Fahrenheit
bbl	barrel (of oil)
BOEM	Bureau of Ocean Energy Management
BOP	blowout preventer
BSEE	Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement
CD	consistency determination
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CMP	Coastal Management Program
COA	Condition of Approval
CZMA	Coastal Zone Management Act
DOCD	development operations coordination document
DPP	development and production plan
EEZ	Exclusive Economic Zone
EFH	essential fish habitat
e.g.	exempli gratia ("for example")
EIS	environmental impact statement
EP	exploration plan
ESA	Endangered Species Act
et al.	et alia ("and others")
FGBNMS	Flower Garden Banks National Marine Sanctuary
FMP	Fishery Management Plan
ft	feet
G&G	geological and geophysical
GOMFMC	Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council
GOM	Gulf of Mexico
GOMRO	Gulf of Mexico Regional Office
HAPC	habitat area of particular concern
Hz	Hertz
i.e.	<i>id est</i> ("that is")
km	kilometer
m	meter
MARAD	Maritime Administration (US Department of Transportation)
mi	mile

Short Form	Long Form
National OCS Leasing Program	National Outer Continental Shelf Oil and Gas Leasing Program
NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act
NMFS	National Marine Fisheries Service
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NOS	Notice of Sale
NPDES	National Pollution Discharge Elimination System
NTL	Notice to Lessees and Operators
OCS	Outer Continental Shelf
рН	potential of hydrogen
PSBF	potentially sensitive biologic features
PTS	permanent threshold shift
ROD	Record of Decision
ROV	remotely operated vehicle
SAV	submerged aquatic vegetation
SEA	Site-specific Environmental Assessment
TTS	temporary threshold shift
U.S.	Unites States
USACE	US Army Corps of Engineers
USCG	US Coast Guard
USDOI	US Department of the Interior
USDHS	US Department of Homeland Security
USDOC	US Department of Commerce
USDOT	US Department of Transportation
USEPA	US Environmental Protection Act
USFWS	US Fish and Wildlife Service

# 1.0 Proposed Actions

#### 1.1 Purpose of and Need for the Proposed Actions

This Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) Assessment serves as the initiation of a Programmatic EFH Consultation between the Bureau of Ocean Energy and Management's (BOEM) Gulf of Mexico Regional Office (GOMRO) and the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA) National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) for oil- and gas-related activities on the Outer Continental Shelf (OCS) of the Gulf of Mexico (GOM). Pursuant to Section 305(b) of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (NMFS 2007), Federal agencies are required to consult with NMFS on any action that may result in adverse effects to EFH. NMFS published the final rule implementing the EFH provisions of the Magnuson-Stevens Fisheries Conservation and Management Act (50 Code of Federal Regulations [CFR] part 600) on January 17, 2002. Certain OCS activities authorized by BOEM may result in adverse effects to EFH and require consultation.

BOEM oversees the National Outer Continental Shelf Oil and Gas Leasing Program (National OCS Leasing Program), pursuant to Section 18 of the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act (OCSLA)(43 U.S.C. §§ 1331 et seq.). OCSLA requires the Secretary of the Interior (Secretary) to develop a schedule of lease sales for five-year periods to best meet national energy needs. Proposed lease sales provide qualified bidders the opportunity to bid upon and lease acreage in the GOM OCS and to explore, develop, and produce oil and natural gas.

The proposed actions addressed in this EFH Assessment include reasonably foreseeable oil and gas activities on the GOM's OCS, including proposed lease sales and activities related to exploration, development, production, and decommissioning, including, but not limited to, geological and geophysical (G&G) activities, drilling, construction, support, removal, and site clearance operations. Related activities that do not occur on the OCS, such as inshore and onshore activities (e.g., vessel traffic, navigation channel maintenance, and new pipeline landfalls) are also addressed and assessed for potential impacts to EFH and federally managed fisheries species (i.e., species managed under a fisheries management plan (FMP)) in the GOM.

The previous programmatic EFH Assessment for the GOM (BOEM 2016), which was prepared in association with the Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) for the 2017–2022 National OCS Leasing Program, is set to expire in July 2022. Going forward, BOEM proposes that EFH consultation not be tied to a specific five-year National OCS Leasing Program. Rather, consultation will focus on the suite of BOEM and BSEE-authorized activities associated with any National OCS Leasing Program, independent of the specific years. Reinitiation will occur when NMFS and BOEM jointly agree to reinitiate consultation, when BOEM significantly alters the proposed action (e.g., the Eastern Planning Area becomes available for leasing), or upon meeting conditions for site-specific EFH consultation (e.g., as identified in conservation recommendations). BOEM subject-matter experts routinely review activities for proposed technologies, methods, locations, and other sources of potential effects to species and habitats. This process includes concurrent reviews for circumstances that could result in the initiation of site-specific EFH consultation as determined by the current EFH consultation and conservation recommendations. To facilitate a simplified description of the proposed actions and BOEM's environmental review processes, this assessment groups activities into *Pre-Lease Assessment and Coordination*, *Exploration, Development, and Production Activities*, and *Decommissioning* (see below under **Related Activities**). Although some activities may occur at multiple stages in the OCS oil and gas lease, exploration, development, production and decommissioning life cycle, the simplified presentation helps reduce redundancy in the description of activities and analysis.

# 1.2 Related Activities

## 1.2.1 Pre-lease Assessment and Coordination

Scoping before lease sales is conducted in accordance with the Council on Environmental Quality's (CEQ) regulations implementing the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). BOEM conducts early coordination with appropriate Federal and State agencies and other concerned parties before a proposed lease sale. Key agencies and organizations include NMFS, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), U.S. Department of Defense, U.S. Coast Guard (USCG), U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), State Governors' offices, and industry groups. BOEM provides relevant NEPA documents, as appropriate, for review and comment by Federal, State, and local governments, federally recognized Indian Tribes, nongovernmental organizations, and other interested parties.

As part of this process, Section 307(c)(1) of the Coastal Zone Management Act (CZMA) requires that Federal agency activities affecting any land or water use or natural resource of the coastal zone be carried out in a manner that is consistent to the maximum extent practicable with the enforceable policies of a State's federally approved coastal management program (CMP). Before each proposed lease sale, BOEM reviews and analyzes the potential impacts to any natural resources, land uses, or water uses of the coastal zone as outlined by our environmental review(s) and considers new information and applicable BOEM studies as they pertain to the enforceable policies of each State's CMP. Based on the analyses, BOEM prepares a Consistency Determination (CD) for each State in which a proposed lease sale could have reasonably foreseeable coastal effects. The CD takes into consideration the reasonably foreseeable coastal effects of a proposed lease sale and its consistency with the enforceable policies identified by an affected State's CMP. BOEM's Director sends a CD to each affected State's CMP at least 90 days before final approval of a proposed lease sale pursuant to the CZMA.

BOEM typically prepares an EIS that provides programmatic NEPA coverage for multiple lease sales and is used for tiering purposes for NEPA related to activities on the GOM OCS. The EIS analyzes proposed alternatives and associated impacts. The final EIS is published approximately five months before the first proposed GOM lease sale in each National OCS Leasing Program. A Record of Decision (ROD) will identify the alternative chosen and include a summary of the proposed action and the alternatives evaluated in the EIS, the conclusions of the impact analyses, and other information considered in reaching the decision. The ROD is issued concurrently with the Final Notice of Sale. Before subsequent lease sales covered by the programmatic EIS, information and analyses are reviewed for NEPA adequacy and, if necessary, a supplemental EIS may be prepared.

A Proposed NOS is typically made available to the public 4–5 months before a proposed lease sale. If the decision by the Assistant Secretary of the Interior for Land and Minerals Management

is to hold a proposed lease sale, a Final NOS will be published in its entirety in the Federal Register at least 30 days before the lease sale date, as required by the OCSLA.

# 1.2.2 Exploration, Development, and Production Activities

BOEM employs a range of mitigation measures to minimize potential impacts that could result from BOEM authorized activities on the OCS. These measures are implemented through operating regulations, lease stipulations, Notices to Lessees and Operators (NTLs), and projectspecific requirements or conditions of approval. Such measures address concerns related to endangered and threatened species, geologic and humanmade hazards, military warning and ordnance disposal areas, archaeological sites, air and water quality, sensitive benthic communities, artificial reefs, operations in hydrogen sulfide prone areas, and shunting of drill effluents in the vicinity of biologically sensitive features. BOEM reviews proposed activities for compliance with regulatory requirements and applies conditions of approval as needed. Following are descriptions of several categories of proposed activities reviewed by BOEM.

**Geological and Geophysical (G&G) Permits**: A G&G permit must be obtained from BOEM before conducting off-lease G&G exploration or scientific research on unleased OCS lands or on lands under lease to a third party (30 CFR §§ 551.4 (a)-(b)). Geological investigations include various seafloor sampling techniques to determine the geochemical, geotechnical, or engineering properties of the sediments. On-lease G&G activities are considered ancillary and do not require a separate permit.

**Plans**: Exploration plans (EPs), development and production plans (DPPs), and development operations and coordination documents (DODCs) (30 CFR §§ 550.211 through 550.273) with supporting information must be submitted for review and approval by BOEM before an operator may begin exploration, development, or production activities on any lease. Supporting environmental information, archaeological reports, biological reports (monitoring and/or livebottom survey), and other environmental data determined necessary must be submitted with an OCS plan. The EP describes exploration activities, drilling rigs or vessels, proposed drilling and well-testing operations, environmental monitoring plans, and other relevant information, and it includes a proposed schedule of the exploration activities, platforms or other facilities, proposed production operations, environmental monitoring plans, and other relevant information, and it includes a proposed schedule of development and production activities.

**New or Unusual Technology (NUT)**: Technologies continue to evolve to meet the technical, environmental, and economic challenges. NUTs may be identified by the operator in its EP, and DPP or DOCD or BSEE pipeline or structure permit application and assessed during BOEM's NEPA review processes. The operating procedures developed during the engineering, design, and manufacturing phases of the project, coupled with the results (recommended actions) from hazard analyses performed, will be used to develop the emergency action and curtailment plans. NUTs are also reviewed by the NMFS for potential impacts to ESA-listed species.

**BSEE Permit Applications**: Before an operator can conduct operations proposed under an EP, DPP, or DOCD, they must also obtain the requisite BSEE permits for well, structure, and pipeline activities, and ensure that the activities proposed in the subsequent permit applications conform with those proposed in the associated plan (30 CFR § 550.281). The regulatory linkage

between the EP, DPP, DOCD, and BSEE permit allows for BOEM's NEPA review of the plan to be adopted by BSEE for NEPA compliance coverage for the associated permit approval and ensures that the requisite mitigation measures are carried over to the offshore operations.

Well Permits–Application for Permit to Drill (APD): Before conducting drilling operations, an operator is required to submit an APD and obtain approval from Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement (BSEE) (30 CFR § 250.410(d)(1)). The APD must include information such as location plats (30 CFR § 250.412), design criteria used for the proposed well (30 CFR § 250.413), blow out prevention system descriptions (30 CFR § 250.731), and requirements for using a mobile offshore drilling unit (30 CFR § 250.713).

**Structure Permits**: BSEE requires that operators submit permit applications for review and approval before conducting structure installation, modification, and repair activities (30 CFR § 250.905). The applications must include location plats, drawings and design data, and environmental information associated with soils, currents, and other site conditions to support the facility installation and maintenance, which is assessed by BSEE to allow for the safe installation, maintenance, and repair of the structure. Other items associated with vessels, moorings, and the associated emissions and discharges are addressed in the associated DPP or DOCD and assessed for impacts under the plan's NEPA review.

**Pipeline Permits**: Regulatory processes and jurisdictional authority concerning pipelines on the OCS and in coastal areas are shared by several Federal agencies, including the Department of the Interior (USDOI), the Department of Transportation (USDOT), the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (COE), the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, and the USCG. Pipeline applications for OCS pipelines are submitted to BSEE and then forwarded to BOEM. Pipeline information is required in an associated DPP or DOCD (30 CFR § 550.256); however, since the information provided in most plans is minimal and subject to change. BOEM reviews subsequent pipeline applications separately. Pipeline applications may be for lease-term (LT) pipelines or right-of-way (ROW) pipelines with the latter on or crossing other lessees' leases or unleased areas of the OCS. Pipeline permit applications include a pipeline location plat, vessel information, profile drawing, safety schematic diagram, pipe design data, a shallow hazard survey report, and an archaeological report, if applicable. BSEE evaluates the design, fabrication, installation, and maintenance of all OCS pipelines.

BSEE District Offices provide for both annual scheduled inspection and periodic unscheduled (unannounced) inspections of oil and gas operations on the OCS. The District inspections are to assure compliance with all regulatory constraints that allow commencement of the drilling, development, and production operations and focus on safety issues and technical oversight. BSEE's Office of Environmental Compliance conducts compliance-verification reviews and facility and site inspections to assess compliance with environmental mitigation measures conditioned as plan and permit approval. Post-activity compliance review and field inspection findings are shared with BOEM resource specialists to help improve subsequent reviewing and mitigation development. The lessee is required to use the best available and safest drilling technology to enhance the evaluation of conditions of abnormal pressure and to minimize the potential for the well to flow or kick (i.e., a well control problem that occurs when formation fluids or gas are forced into the wellbore). Because blowout preventers (BOPs) are important for the safety of the drilling crew, and for the rig and the wellbore itself, BOPs are regularly inspected, tested, and refurbished. BSEE's responsibilities under the Oil Pollution Act of 1990

include spill prevention, review, and approval of oil-spill-response plans; inspection of oil-spill containment and cleanup equipment; and ensuring oil-spill financial responsibility for facilities in offshore waters located seaward of the coastline or in any portion of a bay that is connected to the sea either directly or through one or more other bays. The responsible party for covered offshore facilities must demonstrate oil-spill financial responsibility, as required by BOEM's regulation at 30 CFR part 553. Under 30 CFR part 250.1500 subpart O, BSEE has outlined well control and production safety training program requirements for lessees operating on the OCS.

#### Decommissioning

Decommissioning operations generally occur after lease expiration, when well-related (e.g., wells and conductors) or platform-related (e.g., jacketed platforms and well protectors) infrastructure, as well as subsea pipelines, are deemed economically unviable or when the physical condition of the equipment and/or structures becomes unsafe or a navigation hindrance. Operators must submit applications for the permanent abandonment of well-related infrastructure by completing an Application for Permit to Modify (30 CFR § 250.1704(g)) or in the case of platform-related infrastructure, a final structure removal application (30 CFR § 250.1704(b)) must be submitted to BSEE. In some cases, the Regional Supervisor may grant the operator a departure from platform-related infrastructure removal requirements if the structure becomes part of a state artificial reef program (30 CFR § 250.1730(a)) and satisfies the USCG's navigation requirements (30 CFR § 250.1730(b)). For pipeline decommissioning, an operator must submit an application to BSEE if they intend to decommission a pipeline in-place (30 CFR § 250.1751(a)) or submit a pipeline removal application (30 CFR § 250.1752(a)). An operator may decommission a pipeline in-place if the Regional Supervisor determines that the pipeline does not constitute a hazard (i.e., obstruction) to navigation and commercial fishing operations, unduly interfere with other uses of the OCS, or have adverse environmental effects (30 CFR § 250.1750). Unlike applications for decommissioning pipelines in-place (30 CFR § 250.1751), an operator proposing to remove a pipeline is required to include plans to protect sensitive biological features as part of their proposed removal procedures (30 CFR § 250.1752(6)).

Well-related decommissioning operations, such as the permanent abandonment of wells, includes the isolation of zones in the open wellbore, plugging of perforated intervals, plugging the annular space between casings (if they are open), setting a surface plug, and mechanically cutting and retrieving the casing at least 15 feet (ft) (5 meters [m]) below the mudline. Jetting of the sediments is typically conducted in order to obtain access to cutting points.

Platform-related decommissioning operations, such as the removal of jacketed platforms and well protectors, involves the use of explosive and/or mechanical severance techniques. The application to decommission a platform must describe the proposed techniques, the types of explosives (e.g., number and sizes of charges), the depth of detonation below the mudline, as well as plans for protecting, assessing, and mitigating impacts to sensitive marine life, including marine mammals, sea turtles, fish, and benthic communities (30 CFR § 250.1726 (d)). Like well-related infrastructure, platform-related infrastructure must be removed to at least 15 ft (5 m) below the mud line and jetting is often conducted to access cutting points. Operators are also required to flush all production risers with seawater before removal.

Pipeline decommissioning operations (removal or decommissioning in-place) typically involves pigging the pipelines (unless the Regional Supervisor determines that pigging is not practical), which is a method used to perform various maintenance operations such as cleaning and inspecting the pipeline. Both removed and decommissioned in-place pipelines must be cleaned and/or flushed. Pipelines that are decommissioned in-place must be filled with seawater, and each end must be cut, plugged, and buried at least 3 ft (1 m) below the seafloor or covered with protective concrete mats (30 CFR § 250.1751). All valves and fittings that could interfere with other uses of the OCS are removed. If a pipeline is to be removed, typically a pipeline lay barge (either anchored or dynamically positioned) will use a reverse reel lay technique whereby the

pipeline is lifted from the seabed, reeled back onto the vessel, and eventually brought back to shore for salvaging.

Once the removal and salvage of well-related and platform-related infrastructure is completed, the seabed must be cleared of any potential obstructions. Operators are required to perform siteclearance verification (SCV) work to ensure that the seafloor of their lease(s) has been restored to pre-lease conditions and that all debris and obstructions are removed as to avoid impacting other OCS users (30 CFR § 250.1703(e)). Based on requirements found in Subpart Q of the OCSLA regulations (30 CFR § 250.1740–250.1743), operators have the option of trawling (with commercial nets) or conducting diver, high-resolution sonar, or ROV (remotely operated vehicle) surveys over structure-centered grid areas. Guidelines also direct trawlers to conduct their operations in a manner that would avoid causing undue or serious harm to the marine environment (30 CFR § 250.1703[g]). A common practice with several decommissioning subcontractors is the use of high-frequency sonar to detect objects on the seafloor and then dispatch divers or ROVs to aid in the recovery or investigation of the objects. Unlike trawling, survey-led recovery activities only disturb the seafloor in a limited area around the obstruction, reducing the potential for impacts to sensitive benthic habitats.

# 2.0 Lease Stipulations and Guidance

BOEM developed lease stipulations to protect the most sensitive live bottom areas, including topographic features, live bottom Pinnacle Trend habitats, low-relief live bottom habitats, and potentially sensitive biologic features (PSBF). Guidance documents (e.g., NTLs) were developed in consultation with various Federal agencies and informed by comments solicited from State, industry, environmental organizations, and academic representatives and provide clarification of siting and mitigative measures expected to satisfy regulatory and lease stipulation requirements.

NTL 2009-G39 ("Biologically-Sensitive Underwater Features and Areas") (MMS 2009a) and NTL 2009-G40 ("Deepwater Benthic Communities") (MMS 2009b) offer guidance about the codified regulations at 30 CFR § 550.216(a), 30 CFR § 550.221(a), 30 CFR § 550.247(a), 30 CFR § 250.552(a), and 30 CFR § 550.282. These are regulations for BOEM's oil- and gasrelated activities (e.g., drilling wells, shunting of drill cuttings and fluids, and pipeline emplacements) and their required monitoring programs and reports. NTL 2009-G40 offers guidance by providing a consistent and comprehensive approach for avoiding impacts to all deepwater benthic communities (MMS 2009b). NTL 2009-G40 defines deepwater benthic communities as either features or areas that could support chemosynthetic communities or deepwater corals and other associated hard bottom communities (MMS 2009b). Recent lease stipulation examples may be found on the BOEM website (https://www.boem.gov/oil-gasenergy/lease-sales) under individual lease sale Final Notices of Sale. The Topographic Features Stipulation Map Package includes drawings of each bank with associated protection zones. In addition, BOEM reviews proposed oil- and gas-related activities for any activities requiring sitespecific EFH consultation. Such activities are those not included in the Proposed Action and bottom disturbing activities occurring closer to sensitive habitat than is recommended in BOEM guidance, which is based on prior programmatic EFH consultations between BOEM and NOAA.

Links to BOEM's NTLs addressing biologically sensitive features, the Western and Central GOM Topographic Features Stipulation Map Package, and a map depicting the live bottom (pinnacle trend and low relief features) lease blocks in the GOM are provided below.

#### NTL No. 2009-G39

https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/regulations/Notices-To-Lessees/2009/09-G39.pdf

#### NTL No. 2009-G40

https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/regulations/Notices-To-Lessees/2009/09-G40.pdf

#### Western and Central GOM Topographic Features Stipulation Map Package

https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/oil-and-gas-energy-program/Leasing/Regional-Leasing/Gulf-of-Mexico-Region/Topographic-Features-Stipulation-Map-Package.pdf

#### Live bottom (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief Features) Lease Blocks Map

https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/environmental-stewardship/Environmental-Studies/Gulf-of-Mexico-Region/topomap.pdf

# 3.0 Habitats

#### 3.1 Gulf of Mexico Essential Fish Habitat

BOEM will continue to evaluate and assess risks to federally managed species and identified EFH in upcoming environmental compliance documentation under NEPA and other statutes based on the most recent and best available information. The EFHs that are covered in related BOEM environmental documents are water column, wetlands, submerged aquatic vegetation (e.g., seagrasses, macro-algae), live bottoms (including potentially sensitive biological features), topographic features, *Sargassum*, chemosynthetic communities, and deepwater benthic communities. Descriptions of the aforementioned habitats in the GOM are provided below and more in-depth analyses of these and other important habitats in the GOM can be found in BOEM's *Biological Environmental Background Report for the Gulf of Mexico OCS Region* (BOEM 2021a).

#### 3.1.1 Water Column

To help focus this analysis, we distinguish between coastal and offshore waters. Coastal waters include all bays and estuaries from the Rio Grande River to Florida Bay. Offshore waters include both State offshore waters and Federal OCS waters extending from outside the barrier islands to the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ). The inland extent is defined by the CZMA. Offshore waters can be further divided into three regions: the continental shelf west of the Mississippi River; the continental shelf east of the Mississippi River; and deep water (> 984 ft; 300 m).

The coastal waters of the GOM region are found along the coastline of five states, from the southern tip of Texas moving eastward through Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and ending in the Florida Keys. Including the shore of all barrier islands, wetlands, inland bays, and inland bodies of water, the combined coastlines of these states total over 47,000 miles (mi) (75,639 kilometers [km]) (National Ocean Service 2011). The GOM coastal areas comprise over 750 bays, estuaries, and sub-estuary systems that are associated with larger estuaries (USEPA 2012). More than 60 percent of U.S. drainage, including outlets from 33 major river systems and 207 estuaries, flows into the GOM (USEPA 2012). The largest contributing flows from the U.S. coast are from the Mississippi and Atchafalaya Rivers in Louisiana.

The GOM's shallow, offshore waters (water depth < 984 ft [300 m]) east and west of the Mississippi River are highly productive and largely influenced by freshwater inputs from rivers and estuaries, particularly in the northcentral and western GOM. The physical oceanography of the GOM's deep, offshore waters can be approximated as a two-layer system with an upper layer about 2,625- to 3,281 ft (800 to 1,000 m) deep that is highly influenced by the Loop Current; and the lower layer below roughly 3,281 ft (1,000 m) that has near uniform currents (Inoue et al. 2008; Welsh et al. 2009). The Loop Current and its associated eddies are dominant circulation features in the GOM's deep offshore waters, creating dynamic zones with strong divergences and convergences that concentrate and transport organisms (this includes larvae from both oceanic and continental shelf fisheries species).

#### 3.1.1. Water Quality in the Gulf of Mexico

The term "water quality" describes the condition or environmental health of a waterbody or resource. It reflects particular biological, chemical, and physical characteristics and the ability of the waterbody to maintain the ecosystems it supports and influences. The primary factors influencing water quality in coastal and offshore waters are temperature, salinity, dissolved oxygen, chlorophyll content, nutrients, potential of hydrogen (pH), oxidation reduction potential, pathogens, transparency (i.e., water clarity, turbidity, or suspended matter), and contaminant concentrations (e.g., heavy metals, hydrocarbons, and other organic compounds). In the GOM, water quality is greatly affected by both natural and anthropogenic factors.

Lower salinities are naturally characteristic in shallow, GOM waters where fresh water from rivers and estuaries enter and mix with coastal waters. There is a widespread surface turbidity layer in the northcentral GOM associated with the freshwater plumes from the Mississippi and Atchafalaya rivers. This is due to suspended sediment in river discharge, especially during seasonal periods of heavy precipitation and snowmelt in the upper Mississippi River. Outside of these areas, water clarity in the GOM is good to excellent, with low levels of suspended sediment. During summer months, shelf stratification results in a large hypoxic zone on the Louisiana-Texas shelf in bottom waters (Turner et al. 2005). The hypoxic zone in the GOM occurs seasonally and is influenced by the timing of the Mississippi and Atchafalaya River discharge (largely spring-summer), and the formation of the zone is attributed to nutrient influxes and shelf stratification. The hypoxic zone persists until wind-driven circulation mixes the water column and the large, seasonal influxes of river discharge subside.

Offshore waters, especially deep waters along the continental margin, are directly affected by natural hydrocarbon and brine seeps. Natural seeps are extensive throughout the continental slope of the GOM and are chronic contributors of petroleum hydrocarbons to the offshore environment. BOEM's Seismic Water Bottom Anomalies database identifies over 23,000 sites of likely or confirmed hydrocarbon seepage (a link for these ArcGIS<sup>TM</sup> data layers can be found in <u>http://www.boem.gov/Seismic-Water-Bottom-Anomalies-Map-Gallery/</u>). Pelagic tar, which can have both natural and anthropogenic origins (Green et al. 2018; Warnock et al. 2015), is a common form of hydrocarbon contamination present within the water column in offshore waters. Aggregates of pelagic tar (e.g., tar balls and tar mats) can eventually reach coastal waters of the GOM.

Anthropogenic factors that affect coastal water quality in the GOM include urban runoff containing oil and trace metals; agricultural runoff containing fertilizer (e.g., nutrients including nitrogen and phosphorus); pesticides, and herbicides; upstream withdrawals of water for agricultural, industrial, and domestic purposes; upriver flood control measures that introduce large volumes of freshwater; and contamination by industrial and sewage discharges, dumping, air emissions, and spills of oil and hazardous materials. Urban and agricultural runoff can cause excess nutrients to enter coastal waters and contributes to the formation of algal blooms in the GOM. Some may result in harmful algal blooms, which result in mass mortalities of aquatic animals and pose health risks to humans. Mixing or circulation of coastal water can either improve these water quality issues through flushing or be the source of factors contributing to its decline.

The USEPA, in their National Coastal Condition Report, rated the conditions of multiple U.S. Gulf coastal water indices listed in Table 1 (USEPA 2012). Of the evaluation indices listed, sediment quality (ranked as poor) poses an impact risk to coastal water quality as contaminants in sediments may be re-suspended into the water by anthropogenic activities, storms, and other natural events. Sediments in the GOM coastal region have been found to contain contaminates such as pesticides, metals, polychlorinated biphenyls, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (USEPA 2012).

(USEPA 2012)		
Gulf Coast Index Evaluated	<b>USEPA Rating of Condition</b>	
Sediment quality	Poor	
Coastal habitat	Poor	
Benthic	Fair to Poor	
Coastal water quality	Fair	
Fish tissue contaminants	Good	
Overall coastal water condition	Fair	

 Table 1: USEPA's National Coastal Condition Report ratings for the GOM

 (USEPA 2012)

# 3.1.2 Wetlands

Wetlands occur throughout GOM coastal areas, with the highest density occurring in Louisiana and southern Florida (Dahl and Stedman 2013). Coastal wetlands are complex systems that provide many essential functions and serve as a front line of defense against storm surge and a buffer against sea-level rise. High organic productivity and efficient nutrient recycling are characteristic of coastal wetlands. Wetland corridors provide habitat for a large and diverse group of resident plants, invertebrates, fish, reptiles, birds, and mammals. Marsh environments are particularly vital nursery grounds for many economically important fish and shellfish juveniles. As "living filters," wetlands improve water quality by removing pollutants and nutrients, as well as trapping sediments.

Mangrove swamp habitat, a type of coastal wetland, can be found from Texas to Florida along the U.S. portion of the GOM. Mangrove swamps are named after the dominant vegetation, the salt-tolerant mangrove tree. In the conterminous U.S., only three species of mangrove exist: red (*Rhizophora mangle*), black (*Avicennia germinans*), and white mangroves (*Languncularia racemose*). Mangroves provide essential habitat for a diversity of animals, including fish, oysters, shrimp, and other invertebrates, which subsequently support wading birds, pelicans, and the Endangered Species Act (ESA)-listed American crocodile (*Crocodylus acutus*). Mangroves serve as storm buffers and stabilize shorelines by functioning as wind breaks and through prop root baffling of wave action. Mangroves trap fine substrates and reduce turbidity by filtering upland runoff and trapping waterborne sediments and debris.

#### 3.1.3. Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)

Submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV) is a vital component of coastal aquatic ecosystems, with at least 26 species of SAV growing in the northern GOM (Carter et al. 2011; Yarbro and Carlson Jr 2013). They are defined as the collection of benthic plants (e.g., seagrasses) that settle and grow in marine and/or estuarine waters, but do not emerge above the water's surface. The SAV

provides several vital ecological functions, including foraging material for grazers, habitat for marine life, and essential nursery grounds for numerous commercially important fish and invertebrate species. The SAV also provides shelter and protection for many species from predation. Further, SAV provides food resources for associated infauna species, nekton, megaherbivores, and overwintering waterfowl (Castellanos and Rozas 2001; Heck et al. 2003; Maiaro 2007; Orth et al. 2006; Rooker et al. 1998; Rozas and Odum 1988).

According to the most recent and comprehensive data available, an estimated 1.25 million acres (ac) (500,000 hectares [ha]) of SAV beds exist in exposed, shallow coastal and/or nearshore waters and embayments of the GOM; over 80 percent of these beds are in Florida Bay and Florida coastal waters (calculated from Handley et al. 2007). In the northern GOM from south Texas to Mobile Bay, Alabama, marine SAV occur in relatively small beds behind barrier islands in bays, lagoons, and coastal waters; freshwater SAV occurs in the upper regions of estuaries and rivers (Castellanos and Rozas 2001; Handley et al. 2007; Onuf 1996). Elevated nutrient concentrations, declining water quality, and sedimentation from natural and anthropogenic events are common and are a significant cause of seagrass declines worldwide (Carlson Jr. and Madley 2007; Orth et al. 2006; Waycott et al. 2009). In the northern GOM, SAV coverage has decreased from the bays of Texas to the GOM shores of Florida (Handley et al. 2007). Though declines have been documented for different species in different areas, it is difficult to estimate rates of decline because of the fluctuation of biomass among the different species seasonally and annually.

# 3.1.4 Oyster Reefs

The Eastern oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) is the dominant reef-building species in the northern GOM and is primarily found in shallow-water, coastal estuarine areas. Maturation (>75 mm [2.95 in] shell height) typically occurs within 1 year of settlement. Oysters can form extensive reefs, isolated clusters, or, in southwest Florida, attach to the prop roots of mangroves. Ecosystem services provided by oyster reefs include

- providing a nursery, food, and habitat for recreationally and commercially important fish, crustaceans, and other invertebrates;
- providing a natural filter for phytoplankton, detritus, bacteria, and contaminants;
- preventing coastal erosion and boat wake mitigation; and
- acting as sentinels for environmental monitoring (Volety et al. 2014).

Reef characteristics such as adjacent habitat, connectivity, redundancy, complexity, and water quality affect associated oyster reef assemblages. A synthesis of occupancy studies identified overall 115 fish and 41 decapod crustacean species inhabiting oyster reefs in northern GOM estuaries (La Peyre et al. 2019). The cycle of oyster recruitment, growth, death, and degradation create a succession of available benthic habitat. Relict oyster reefs can create habitat that provide refuge from predation and substrate for egg-laying by mobile organisms (Tolley and Volety 2005).

Oyster reefs are sensitive to damage and impairment. In the Big Bend region of Florida, evidence suggests that the primary mechanisms for reef loss is reduced survival and recruitment due to decreased freshwater inputs, which increase vulnerability to wave action and sea-level rise (Seavey et al. 2011). Aggregate analysis and in situ sampling of restoration sites in the north-central GOM indicate that 73 percent of restoration efforts produced at least one living oyster (La Peyre et al. 2014).

Oyster reefs typically occur in inshore waters and would not be affected by routine BOEMauthorized OCS activities and, therefore, will not be further analyzed in this assessment as a habitat. However, oysters are also a commercially and recreationally valuable species and are discussed further as a managed species (see Chapter 4–Managed Species and Section 6.9– Impacts of Accidental Events).

## 3.1.5 Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low-Relief Features)

Live bottom habitats (pinnacle trend and low-relief features) can be found in the coastal and offshore waters of the GOM. In NTL 2009-G39 (MMS 2009a), BOEM defines pinnacle trend features as small, isolated, low to moderate relief carbonate reefal features or outcrops of unknown origin or hard substrates exposed by erosion that provide surface area for the growth of sessile invertebrates and attract large numbers of fish. Low-relief live bottom features are defined as seagrass communities (see **Section 3–Submerged Aquatic Vegetation**), areas that contain biological assemblages consisting of sessile invertebrates living upon and attached to naturally occurring hard or rocky formations with rough, broken, or smooth topography, and areas where hard substrate and vertical relief may favor the accumulation of sea turtles, fish, and other fauna.

The northeastern central portion of the GOM includes a region with a large concentration of small, isolated, low to moderate relief carbonate reefal features or outcrops collectively known as the "Pinnacle Trend." These outcrops of unknown origin or hard substrates exposed by erosion provide surface area for the growth of sessile invertebrates and attracts large numbers of fish. This area is located at the outer edge of the Mississippi-Alabama shelf between the Mississippi River and De Soto Canyon. The Pinnacle Trend spreads over a 64 x 16 mi area (103 x 26 km) in water depths of 200–650 ft (60–200 m).

The inner and middle Mississippi-Alabama shelf has a high concentration of low-relief live bottom habitats, including fields of small seafloor mounds that rise only about 3–6 ft (1–2 m) from the seafloor but provide hard surfaces for encrusting and attached epifauna. Low-relief live bottom habitats also include isolated low-relief, reef-like structures; rubble fields; low-relief flat rocks (e.g., 20 ft long and 2 ft thick [6 m long and 0.6 m thick]); limestone ledges (e.g., 13 ft [4 m] high); rocky outcrops off Mobile Bay (59- to 131-ft [18- to 40-m] depth range; 16 ft wide and 7 ft high [5 m wide and 2 m high]); and clustered reefs (e.g., tens of meters across and 10 ft [3 m] high) (Schroeder et al. 1988; Schroeder et al. 2000). Hard bottom features on the Mississippi-Alabama-Florida Shelf typically provide reef habitat for tropical organisms, including sessile epifauna (e.g., soft corals, nonreef-building hard corals, sponges, bryozoans, and crinoids) and fish; these areas are typically of low relief (<3 ft; 1 m) (Thompson et al. 1999). Other low-relief, hard bottom areas include De Soto Canyon, Florida Middle Grounds, Pulley Ridge, Steamboat Lumps, Madison Swanson, and the Sticky Grounds. Low-relief live bottoms also include SAV communities, although, in areas of the eastern GOM (e.g., Big Bend region of Florida, the Florida Everglades, and the Florida Keys), some seagrass communities exist outside of estuarine

habitats and extend into shallow, offshore waters. Biological lease stipulations have been routinely applied since 1973 (Pinnacle Trend features) and 1982 (low relief features) and have required lessees to comply with measures created to reduce potential impacts to live bottom habitats resulting from bottom-disturbing activities. A link to the map of leases blocks included in the Live Bottom Stipulation can be found in **Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance**).

# 3.1.6 Potentially Sensitive Biological Features

The term "PSBFs" is used by BOEM to describe hard bottom features not protected by a biological lease stipulation that are of moderate to high relief (about 8 ft or higher [2.4 m]), provide surface area for the growth of sessile invertebrates, and attract large numbers of fish. These features are located outside of any "No Activity Zones" of any of the named topographic features (banks) listed in BOEM's Western and Central Gulf of Mexico Topographic Features Stipulation Map Package or the identified live bottom (pinnacle trend and low-relief) stipulated lease blocks (see links in **Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance**). Although they are not protected by a biological lease stipulation, NTL 2009-G39 (see link in **Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance**) provides guidance for avoiding impacts to these features when proposed activities occur in the vicinity of identified PSBFs (MMS 2009a).

# 3.1.7 Topographic Features

In NTL 2009-G39, BOEM defines topographic features as isolated areas of moderate to high relief that provide habitat for hard-bottom communities of high biomass and diversity and large numbers of plant and animal species (MMS 2009a). Topographic features support, either as shelter or food, large numbers of commercially and recreationally important fish. They are typically up thrusts of rock due to uplift (salt diapirs) by underlying layers of salt deep under the seafloor. Some others, like the South Texas banks, are relic coral reefs left over from the last sealevel low stand (about 10,000 years ago) or fossilized shorelines (Berryhill Jr. 1987; Bright and Rezak 1976; Rezak and Bright 1981). Other identified topographic features in the GOM include the mid-shelf and shelf-edge banks (including the East and West Flower Garden Banks). These topographic highs, or subsea banks are identified in BOEM's Western and Central Gulf of Mexico Topographic Features Stipulation Map Package and they are protected through biological lease stipulations that have been implemented since 1973 (see links in **Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance**).

# 3.1.8 Sargassum Habitats

Pelagic *Sargassum* algae are one of the most ecologically important brown algal genera found in the pelagic environment of tropical and subtropical regions of the world. Throughout the GOM, *Sargassum* is ubiquitous in surface waters, generally forming large mats or "floating islands" that can be up to dozens of meters long and in diameter. The pelagic complex in the GOM is mainly made up of *S. natans* and *S. fluitans* (Lee and Moser 1998; Littler and Littler 2000; Stoner 1983). Both species of macrophytes (aquatic plants) are hyponeustonic (living immediately below the surface) and fully adapted to a pelagic existence (Lee and Moser 1998). *Sargassum* serves as nurseries, sanctuaries, and forage grounds for both commercially and recreationally exploited fish, such as billfish, jacks, tunas, and dolphinfish (Dooley 1972; Lafolley et al. 2011).

## 3.1.9 Deepwater Benthic Communities

Deepwater coral communities survive on hardbottom substrate across the GOM continental slope, which is composed of either exposed bedrock or relict authigenic carbonate coral reef (Brooks et al. 2016). Both hard- and soft-bodied corals colonize deepwater substrate, including some scleractinian corals (e.g., *Lophelia pertusa*), and they are often found in association with high-density chemosynthetic communities. Associated sessile and mobile benthic megafauna include sponges, anemones, echinoderms, crustaceans, and demersal fish. Field data suggest that the extent of deepwater hardbottom habitat in the GOM is large and that diversity of corals and sponges is high (Boland et al. 2017).

#### 3.1.9.1 Cold Seeps and Chemosynthetic Communities

Cold seeps are areas of the ocean floor where high concentrations of oil or reduced chemicals, including methane, sulphide, hydrogen, and iron II, are expelled forming hydrocarbon or gas plumes. Hydrocarbon seep ecosystems are composed of mosaic habitats with a range of physiochemical constraints for organisms including temperature, salinity, pH, oxygen, carbon dioxide, hydrogen sulfide, inorganic volatiles, hydrocarbon components, and heavy metals (Levin and Sibuet 2012). These habitats support chemosynthetic communities. Such communities on natural substrate typically occur in the GOM at water depths greater than 984 ft (300 m), at a temperature range of 13°C to 4°C (~55°F to 30°F), with seafloor currents from 5 to 10 cm/s (2 to 4 in/s), and in locations with moderate hydrocarbon flow. GOM seep communities tend to be large, up to several hundred meters across (MacDonald 1992). Typical chemosynthetic fauna in the GOM include chemoautotrophic bacteria, vestimentiferan tubeworms, mussels, epibenthic clams, and burrowing clams (MacDonald et al. 1990). Over 330 chemosynthetic communities are confirmed in the GOM at depths ranging from 290 m (952 ft) (Roberts et al. 1990) to 2,750 m (9,022 ft) in Alaminos Canyon (Roberts et al. 2010). BOEM has compiled a geodatabase (i.e., ArcGIS<sup>TM</sup> layers) containing known seep communities, as well as a map depicting the locations of these features (seep anomaly confirmed organisms in map legend) in the GOM. Both the seismic water bottom anomalies geodatabase and the seismic water bottom anomaly map are available for download at the following URLs.

#### Seismic Water Bottom Anomalies Geodatabase

http://www.boem.gov/Seismic-Water-Bottom-Anomalies-Map-Gallery/)

#### Seismic Water Bottom Anomalies Map

https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/oil-and-gas-energy-program/Mapping-and-Data/Map-Gallery/Fig1-GOM-anomalies-2016.pdf

# 3.1.10 Habitat Areas of Particular Concern

Habitat Areas of Particular Concern (HAPCs) are subsets of EFH (designated by regional fishery management councils) exhibiting one or more of the following traits:

- ecologically important for federally managed species (e.g., spawning and/or nursery grounds);
- especially sensitive or vulnerable to anthropogenic impacts (e.g., overfishing);

- stressed by development (e.g., nutrient and sediment pollution); and/or
- rare area as compared with the rest of a species' EFH geological range.

Among documented reefs and topographic features, the following are currently designated GOM HAPCs (unnamed features are referred to by the OCS lease block in which they occur): the Alabama Alps; Alderdice Bank; AT 047 and 357; Bouma Bank; East Flower Garden Banks; Fathom 29; Florida Middle Grounds; Garden Banks 299 and 535; Geyer Bank; Green Canyon 140, 272, 234, 354, and 852; Harte Bank; Jakkula Bank; L&W Pinnacles; McGrail Bank; MacNeil Bank; Madison-Swanson Marine Reserve; Mississippi Canyon 118, 751, and 885; Pulley Ridge; Rankin Bright Bank; Rezak Sidner Bank; Roughtongue Reef; Scamp Reef; Sonnier Bank; South Reed; Southern Bank; Stetson Bank; Tortugas Ecological Reserve; Viosca Knoll 826, 862, and 906; West Florida Wall; and West Flower Garden Banks. Many of the banks are ecologically important habitat for protected corals and federally managed fish species (e.g., red grouper). The HAPCs for the spawning, eggs, and larval life stage of Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus) in the GOM encompass the water column from the 100 m (328 ft) isobath to the seaward limit of the EEZ (Texas to the Florida Straights). See Figure 1 for a map of the aforementioned HAPCs in the GOM. New HAPCs or revisions to existing HAPC boundaries can be made by the Gulf of Mexico Fisheries Management Council (GOMFMC) and NOAA Fisheries as new information becomes available.

Although the HAPC designation does not provide added protection for or restriction to an area, it can be used to prioritize conservation efforts or as a focus for additional fishery management efforts. Several benthic HAPCs (e.g., McGrail Bank, MacNeil Bank, Jakkula Bank, and Alabama Alps) are currently protected through the Topographic Features and Live Bottom (e.g., Pinnacle Trend) biological lease stipulations that have been routinely applied for decades. Recent lease stipulation examples may be found on the BOEM website (https://www.boem.gov/oil-gasenergy/lease-sales) under recent individual lease sale Final Notices of Sale. The Topographic Features Stipulation Map Package includes drawings of each bank with associated protection zones (see Section 2-Lease Stipulations and Guidance). Additionally, other benthic HAPCs are protected as a result of the Condition of Approvals (COAs) applied to proposed activities to ensure minimum distance guidance determined in past EFH consultations is followed. For the purposes of this EFH Assessment, impacts (including routine, accidental and cumulative) to benthic HAPCs within the proposed project area (i.e., Central and Western Planning Areas) are discussed in the relevant Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trends and Low Relief), PSBFs, and Topographic Features sections as these habitat types encompass designated benthic HAPCs in the region that would be most vulnerable to BOEM-regulated activities (see Chapters 5-Impacts of Routine Activities, Chapter 6—Impacts of Accidental Events.



Figure 1. Gulf of Mexico Habitats of Particular Concern.

The publicly available HAPC data used in this image were either downloaded (1/15/2022) from the NOAA website (Reef & Banks Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) Habitat Area of Particular Concern (HAPC) Map & GIS Data | NOAA Fisheries) or provided to BOEM by NOAA HMS Division staff (i.e., bluefin tuna HAPC).

# 3.1.11 Humanmade Structures and Artificial Reefs (non-EFH designated habitat)

Though not identified or described by NOAA Fisheries as EFH, humanmade structures (e.g., standing and/or active energy production platforms) and artificial reefs (e.g., reefed platforms, reef balls, and ships) in the GOM serve as important habitat for many species. However, their creation has likely facilitated the expansion of non-native species (e.g., orange cup coral and lionfish), which can threaten native populations of fish and invertebrates. When humanmade structures and artificial reefs are constructed, they provide new hard substrate similar in function to newly exposed hard bottom, with the additional benefit of substrate extending from the seabed towards the surface. In the northern GOM, humanmade structures of high profile, such as standing energy production platforms and large artificial reefs (e.g., energy production platforms converted into artificial reefs via toppling or partial removal), have been found to support higher densities of both unmanaged and managed pelagic and demersal species compared to more widespread, lower profile natural hard bottom or reef (Streich et al. 2017a; Streich et al. 2017b;

Wilson et al. 2003). However, fish communities at natural reefs, such as those found in the northern GOM's Flower Garden Banks National Marine Sanctuary (FGBNMS), may be more diverse. For example, comparisons of community composition between standing platforms and natural reefs in the FGBNMS has indicated that species richness (total number of species) is higher on natural reefs (Rooker et al. 1997).

To date, more than 500 oil and gas platforms have been converted and accepted into state artificial reef programs after being decommissioned from offshore GOM waters. State artificial reef programs ranked from most to least conversions are Louisiana, Texas, Mississippi, Alabama, and Florida. Other active and decommissioned OCS oil- and gas-related infrastructure (e.g., pipelines and subsea systems) also provide artificial habitat for offshore species such as reef fish (e.g., red snapper). In addition to energy related infrastructure, Gulf state artificial reef programs from Texas to Florida emplace artificial reefs in coastal and offshore waters using materials such as concrete and limestone rubble, concrete pyramids and reef balls, ships, and surplus military equipment (e.g., armored personnel carriers). Jetties and breakwaters also provide hard substrate for intertidal species.

# 4.0 Managed Species

The GOM is identified as EFH for species managed by the GOMFMC and is covered in the Shrimp FMP, Red Drum FMP, Reef Fish FMP, Spiny Lobster FMP, Coral and Coral Reef FMP, and Coastal Migratory Pelagic FMP. The highly migratory species managed by the NMFS (these species continue to have EFH designations extending in some cases to the EEZ) also have EFH identified in the GOM. Many of these species are of commercial and recreational importance, and all of them spend a portion of their life cycle within the waters of the GOM (e.g., bluefin and yellowfin tuna). The NMFS lists the species, EFH categories and designations, and HAPCs in their Essential Fish Habitat: A Marine Fish Habitat Conservation Mandate for Federal Agencies; Gulf of Mexico Region (NMFS 2010). The following is summarized from the GOMFMC's Final Environmental Impact Statement; Generic Essential Fish Habitat Amendment to the Following Fishery Management Plans of the Gulf of Mexico: Shrimp Fishery of the Gulf of Mexico, Red Drum Fishery of the Gulf of Mexico, Reef Fish Fishery of the Gulf of Mexico, Stone Crab Fishery of the Gulf of Mexico, Coral and Coral Reefs of the Gulf of Mexico, Spinv Lobster in the Gulf of Mexico and South Atlantic, Coastal Migratory Pelagic Resources of the Gulf of Mexico and South Atlantic (GOMFMC 2004), the Final Amendment 1 to the 2006 Consolidated Atlantic Highly Migratory Species Fishery Management Plan, Essential Fish Habitat (NMFS 2009), and the primary literature. For the full list of species and their scientific names, refer to Table 2.

#### 4.1 Red Drum

Red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) are an estuarine-dependent species of fish that occur throughout the GOM from the estuaries to 131 ft (40 m) offshore, using a variety of demersal habitats throughout their lives (e.g., artificial reefs, seagrass beds, mud flats, coastal beaches, and nearshore shelf waters) (Chen 2017). Males and females, which can tolerate wide salinity ranges, typically form large spawning aggregations in estuarine passes where they release eggs and sperm into the water column. Female red drum can release up to 2 million eggs in a season (generally between August and October). The eggs hatch within 24 to 36 hours and are eventually carried by wind and tides into estuarine nursery grounds. Juveniles spend their early lives in estuaries feeding on a variety of small prey such as copepods, mysid shrimp, polychaetes, bivalves, and amphipods (Bass and Avault Jr. 1975; Peters and McMichael 1987). Adult red drum are generalists and forage on a variety of both fish and invertebrate prey (e.g., mollusks, crabs, shrimp, menhaden, anchovies, pinfish, spot, and Atlantic croaker) (Boothby and Avault Jr. 1971; Scharf and Schlight 2000).

# 4.2 Reef Fish

Federally managed reef fish in the GOM include members of the snapper, grouper, jack, tilefish, and triggerfish families. All managed species, excluding tilefish, can typically be found in association with hard-bottom or "reef-like" habitat (including humanmade structures and artificial reefs), particularly as adults. Young-of-the-year and age 1–2 juvenile snappers (i.e., red, gray, and lane), greater amberjack (*Seriola dumerili*), and gag grouper (*Mycteroperca microlepis*) have been found occupying humanmade structures (i.e., standing platforms) in the nearshore federal waters ( $\leq$  59 ft [18 m] depth) of Louisiana (Munnelly et al. 2021). In contrast,

tilefish species (i.e., blueline and golden tilefish) dwell within soft sediments in deep, offshore waters where they maintain burrows (Able et al. 1982). The larvae of many reef fish can be found in offshore surface waters and eventually recruit to estuarine nursery habitats (i.e., sheltered bays, wetlands, and seagrass beds) as post-larvae and juveniles. However, juvenile jack and triggerfish species are often found occupying floating *Sargassum* (Dooley 1972). Age-0 and age-1 red snapper (*Lutjanus campechanus*) juveniles can typically be found over low-relief sand, shell rubble, and mud bottom substrates in shallow offshore waters in the northern GOM (Patterson et al. 2005; Rooker et al. 2004; Wells et al. 2008). Late juveniles and adult reef fish opportunistically occupy pelagic and benthic habitats of the GOM, frequently exhibiting preference for shelf habitat with moderate to high relief, such as topographic features, as well as humanmade structures and artificial reefs. Reef fish species demonstrate a general tendency for older, larger individuals to move into deeper waters toward the shelf edge. However, generalizations may not accurately reflect habitat usage by individual species and different life history stages. For a list of reef fish species and their associated EFH in the GOM, refer to **Table 3**.

# 4.3 Coastal Migratory Pelagic Species

Coastal migratory pelagic species such as mackerels (i.e., king and Spanish), bluefish (*Pomatomus saltatrix*), and cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*) generally inhabit sunlit waters in coastal or estuarine habitats extending to the continental shelf. Their eggs and larvae rely on pelagic waters, and juveniles are commonly reliant on estuaries and shallow, offshore waters. Spawning occurs over the mid- or inner-continental shelf. The habitat locations for these species can be found in **Table 4**.

#### 4.4 Shrimp

Shallow water penaeid shrimps in the GOM (e.g., brown, white, pink) complete their life-cycle within a year, typically reaching sexual maturity after 2–3 months (Tunnell 2017) and producing hundreds of thousands of eggs that can be released several times throughout a spawning season (i.e., spring, summer, fall). They generally spawn offshore and have demersal eggs and pelagic larvae, which feed on algae and zooplankton (**Table 5**). Larvae and post-larvae can be found in nearshore shelf waters and eventually enter estuaries where they settle into benthic habitats. As juveniles, they live in estuaries, are omnivores, and will emigrate offshore where they reach sexual maturity and spawn. Royal red shrimp (*Pleoticus robustus*) are a species of penaeid shrimps, royal red shrimp can live for several years and are found in deepwater over a variety of sediments (e.g., sand, silt, mud). They can also be found amongst deep sea corals in association with complex reef habitats.

#### 4.5 Caribbean Spiny Lobster

Caribbean spiny lobsters (*Panulirus argus*) in the GOM are largely found in south Florida (i.e., the Florida Straits). Larvae can be found offshore in surface waters, eventually settling as postlarvae into the shallow coastal waters of bays, lagoons, and reef flats, and are supported by the production of seagrasses, benthic algae, phytoplankton, and detritus from mangroves (GOMFMC 2021). Within these sheltered habitats, postlarvae and juveniles can often be found

occupying rocks, artificial reefs, natural holes and crevices, sponges, octocorals, and among mangrove roots covered in fouling organisms (e.g., oysters, sponges, and algae) (Acosta and Butler IV 1997; Bertelsen et al. 2009; GOMFMC 2021). Adults can be found offshore in association with hard bottom (e.g., natural reefs and artificial reefs), and they spawn offshore in reef fringes. Adults can also be found in seagrass beds within bays, typically feeding on a variety of invertebrates, carrion, and vegetation (i.e., seagrasses and algae).

# 4.6 Corals

Corals reproduce both asexually (through localized cloning of existing colonies) or sexually (through broadcast spawning of larvae or male gametes in the case of brooding), enabling longdistance dispersion that creates genetic links among regions (NOAA 2016; Veron 2013). The primary locations of the roughly 100 species of shallow-water zooxanthellate corals in the GOM are the East and West Flower Garden Banks, Florida Middle Grounds, and the Dry Tortugas. Seven of these species (i.e., elkhorn coral, staghorn coral, Caribbean boulder star coral, lobed star coral, mountainous star coral, pillar coral, and rough cactus coral) are currently listed as threatened under the ESA (NOAA 2014). Deepwater heterotrophic (non-photosynthetic) corals occur on isolated hard substrates throughout the GOM in over 164 ft (50 m) water depth and include over 250 species that generally grow very slowly. Deep-sea species include stony branching corals, octocorals, cup corals and black corals, and they provide shelter and foraging opportunities for a variety of species (e.g., shrimps, crabs, fish, brittle stars, and demersal fish).

# 4.7 Highly Migratory Species

Highly Migratory Species (HMS) include tunas, oceanic sharks, swordfish (*Xiphias gladius*), and billfish. These represent a diverse group of species with a wide range of EFH that extend from the GOM into the Caribbean and up the U.S. Atlantic Coast. Adult distribution varies seasonally in the GOM and HMS are commonly associated with hydrographic features. Boundaries between water masses (e.g., the Mississippi River plume and frontal boundaries of the Loop Current and its associated eddies) are habitats that may host higher densities (Rooker et al. 2012; Teo et al. 2007). Some species are also associated with waters overlying topographic features, such as the Pinnacles offshore Mississippi and Alabama and the abundance of fisheries in De Soto Canyon. **Tables 6 and 7** provide descriptions of where these species could be found in the GOM. In many of the descriptions, the Gulf Coast States are used to provide a reference point for approximately where in the GOM the species could occur.

The following information can be found in detail in *Final Amendment 1 to the 2006 Consolidated Atlantic Highly Migratory Species Fishery Management Plan, Essential Fish Habitat* (NMFS 2009). NMFS has designated a vast area of the western and eastern GOM for the spawning, eggs, and larval life stages of Atlantic bluefin tuna as a HAPC; this species is found in both the GOM and the Atlantic Ocean (NOAA 2017; NMFS 2009). Oceanic sharks occupy a range of habitats and have been known to use estuaries, coastal, neritic, and offshore pelagic environments. Although information is still scarce for the smalltail shark (*Carcharhinus porosus*), bigeye sixgill shark (*Hexanchus nakamurai*), broadnose sevengill shark (*Notorynchus cepedianus*), bluntnose sixgill shark (*Hexanchus griseus*), and whale shark (*Rhincodon typus*), studies have provided sufficient information to update life history descriptions for most of these species and EFH boundaries based on distribution data collected since 2009 (NMFS 2015).

## 4.8 Other Species of Importance

## 4.8.1 Fish

Mullets are an estuarine-dependent species of fish that can be found in coastal waters, estuaries, and rivers throughout the GOM. They have wide salinity and depth (3–393 ft [1–120 m]) ranges. Their eggs are planktonic and found offshore. Larvae are pelagic and migrate inshore through estuaries, and feed on zooplankton. Juveniles use estuaries, are found in the mud and sand, and feed on detritus and algae. Adults are found in estuaries and rivers occupying SAV, sand, and mud bottoms, and spawn offshore in large schools during the fall and winter.

Gulf menhaden (*Brevoortia patronus*) are estuarine-dependent, pelagic, and schooling planktivores that occur at depths from 3 to 459 ft (1 to 140 m). They are highly prevalent in the northern GOM, particularly off the coasts of Louisiana and Mississippi (Lassuy 1983; SEDAR 2011). Eggs are pelagic and found both inshore and offshore. Larvae are passively transported into estuaries and are associated with lower salinities. Juveniles are found in non-vegetated areas and move to more saline bays as they grow. Adults are found in nearshore waters and bays (<59 ft [ 18 m]), and they spawn over the shelf between September and April (VanderKooy and Smith 2002).

Two protected fish species (smalltooth sawfish [*Pristis pectinata*] and Gulf sturgeon [*Acipenser oxyrhynchus desotoi*]) are found in the GOM. Smalltooth sawfish are rare in the northern GOM and their designated critical habitat is outside of the proposed action area. Juvenile smalltooth sawfish are generally restricted to estuarine waters of peninsular Florida, whereas adults have a broader distribution and could be found in the southeastern GOM. Gulf sturgeon inhabit and have critical habitat in onshore waters but can also be found in nearshore waters (up to 100 ft [30 meters]) within the proposed action area. Currently, the present range of Gulf sturgeon extends from Lake Ponchartrain and the Pearl River system in Louisiana and Mississippi, respectively, east to the Suwannee River in Florida.

# 4.8.2 Invertebrates

Blue crabs (*Callinectes sapidus*) are found all over the GOM depending on the life history stage. Females, which brood their eggs, occur in high-salinity waters by barrier islands or bay mouths. Larvae (i.e., zoeae) are pelagic and are carried offshore to develop over the shelf. Post-larvae (i.e., megalope) migrate to estuaries and settle in SAV and shoreline habitat. Juveniles use vegetated habitats with mud and sand bottoms in estuaries, and they tolerate a wide salinity range. Adults are found using the same areas as juveniles, but females are generally found in higher salinity habitats (e.g., lower bays) Blue crabs are omnivores. Spawning season occurs between December and October, with peaks in the spring and summer.

Oysters are found in inshore waters. Eggs are demersal, but oyster larvae are free swimming until their foot forms. During spatfall, oyster larvae sink to the bottom and settle on hard substrate. The oyster life cycle is dependent on salinity cues (e.g., spawning). Adults grow attached to the substrate and are filter feeders. Oysters are planktivorous and broadcast spawners. They release eggs and sperm during the spring to the fall in warm, high-salinity waters.

# 5.0 Impacts of Routine Activities

Routine operations continue during the life of a lease, and different activities can have different effects on EFH. Generally, the activities begin with seismic surveys. The impact-producing factors associated with routine G&G activities include noise from various seismic surveys and bottom disturbances related to coring or node placement. Exploration and delineation wells are drilled to find and help define the amount of resource or the extent of the reservoir. Development wells are then drilled from movable structures, fixed bottom-supported structures, floating vertically moored structures, floating production facilities, and drillships. Any drilling will cause some sort of bottom area disturbance and sediment displacement. Some exploration drilling, platform, and pipeline emplacement and decommissioning operations on the OCS require anchors to hold the rig, topside structures, derrick barge or support vessels in place. Anchors disturb the seafloor and sediments in the area where dropped or emplaced. Drilling muds and cuttings and produced waters occurring with production and development are discharged, but they are subject to regulation by USEPA.

Once a lease has expired, bottom-founded structures (i.e., platforms) and their related components must be severed at least 15 ft (5 m) below the mudline and brought to shore (30 CFR §§ 250.1725 and 250.1728). This is to ensure that no obstructions remain that could interfere with future lessees and other activities in the area. In certain cases, BSEE can grant a departure from complete removal of an oil and gas platform for conversion into an artificial reef provided the reefed structure is incorporated into a state artificial reef program (30 CFR § 250.1730). Converted structures are either reefed in place or moved to an established artificial reef site. In some cases, operators are granted a waiver by BSEE to decommission oil and gas infrastructure (e.g., pipelines, drilling templates, pipeline end terminations or manifolds) in place. Decommissioning involves the use of nonexplosive and/or explosive severance techniques. Nonexplosive severance methods include abrasive cutters, mechanical cutters, and diamond wire cutters. Explosive methods may be used to sever piles, but these methods may result in possible impacts to fisheries species and EFH.

Not all BOEM-regulated activities occur offshore-there are also routine operations that can affect EFH in coastal waters. Coastal land disturbance can impact EFH through the construction and operation of coastal infrastructure (i.e., construction facilities, support facilities, oil and gas transportation via onshore pipelines, and processing facilities), vessel traffic, and navigation canals.

#### 5.1 Water Column

The primary impact-producing factors to water quality in coastal waters from BOEM authorized oil- and gas-related activities are point-source and storm-water discharges from support facilities and vessel discharges; although, these activities are highly regulated, localized, and temporary in nature. Vessel traffic and the creation and maintenance of navigation channels can also increase turbidity in the water column and lead to saltwater intrusion in coastal, freshwater habitats, which can be problematic for some aquatic organisms and SAV communities. However, the impacts to the water column and associated organisms are expected to be highly localized because much of the service-vessel traffic associated with BOEM-regulated activities in the

GOM uses the established channels and canals along the Louisiana coast (i.e., Port Fourchon and Bayou Lafourche).

During exploration activities, the primary impact-producing factors to offshore water quality are discharges of drilling fluids and cuttings. During subsea infrastructure installation and removal activities, the primary impact-producing factors to water quality are sediment disturbance and temporarily increased turbidity. Operational discharges and wastes created during oil- and gas-related production and development activities, such as produced water and service-vessel discharges, can also impact water quality. This may include water with an oil concentration of approximately 15 parts per million as established by regulatory standards. However, USEPA's and USCG's regulations are in place to limit the toxicity of the components and the levels of incidental contaminants in these discharges, and in some cases the discharge rates and discharge locations. Any disturbance of the seafloor would increase turbidity in the surrounding water, but the increased turbidity levels are expected to be temporary and restricted to the area near the disturbance. There would be no additional direct biological impacts from potential discharges in decommissioning activities. Although, jetting activity conducted during decommissioning operations could cause temporary and localized sediment disturbance and turbidity in the water column.

## 5.2 Wetlands

Overall, the impacts to wetlands from routine activities associated with the proposed action are not expected to adversely alter the protective barrier beach configurations much beyond existing, ongoing impacts in localized areas. This is due to the strict regulations for discharges and wastes, the small amount of dredging, low probability of new pipeline landfalls, and no new onshore facilities expected as part of the proposed action. If any such activities should occur, multiple Federal and State regulations would ensure decreased impacts to coastal habitats including wetlands.

Most operational discharges, such as oil-based or synthetic-based drilling muds and cuttings, along with fluids from well treatment, workover, and completion activities, occur offshore. These waste streams are either transported to shore or diluted and discharged during operations offshore in accordance with applicable NPDES permit requirements. In most cases, produced-water discharges from OCS wells are too distant to pose a threat to wetland habitats. Because of wetland-protection regulations, no new waste disposal sites are expected to be developed in wetlands. Some seepage or discharges from existing waste sites into adjacent wetland areas may occur and toxic wastes could kill vegetation and pollute soils. This would lead to habitat degradation and destruction. However, all vessels in U.S. and international waters are required to adhere to the International Maritime Organization's regulations under the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) limiting discharges, avoiding release of oily water, and prohibiting disposal of solid wastes. Therefore, discharges from vessels are not expected to have measurable effects on wetland habitats.

Maintenance dredging of navigation channels and canals is routinely conducted to support, in part, BOEM authorized oil- and gas-related activities on the OCS. Occasionally a channel could be dredged ahead of its normal maintenance schedule to accommodate the transport of large OCS platforms or other structures or vessels. Dredging can be detrimental to coastal and

estuarine habitats (e.g., wetlands) and the aquatic fish and invertebrates that use them as nursery grounds and for protection. Impacts to wetlands may include increased erosion rates, removal of sediments, increased turbidity, land loss, and changes in salinity (Boesch et al. 1994; Onuf 1996; Wilber and Clarke 2001). However, many of these effects are reduced using modern dredging and disposal practices. In addition, dredged material can be beneficially used to enhance and create coastal wetlands after material has been tested for the presence of contaminants. Because of the USACE's policy of beneficial use of dredged material, an increased emphasis has been placed on the use of dredged material for marsh creation (USACE 2013).

Typically, the installation of new pipeline landfalls is rare. When pipelines do make landfall, there are mitigating measures from the present regulatory programs of Federal or State agencies that may be applied, including compensatory mitigation. Modern pipeline installation techniques are less destructive for wetlands than previous methods. Because of the regulations and new construction methods, and the limited projection for new pipeline landfalls, the damages of pipeline landfalls to wetlands are minimized. The addition of new pipelines to distribution points could further stress wetlands along the GOM, leading to erosion and loss, which could indirectly impact the aquatic organisms that use them for foraging, shelter, and as nursery grounds. Installation of pipelines in or near wetland habitats could lead to the hydrologic alteration, disturbance, fragmentation, and loss of wetlands (Ko and Day 2004).

Various kinds of onshore facilities service OCS development. The addition of new infrastructure (e.g., roads and onshore support bases) to support offshore oil- and gas-related activities could cause additional stress (e.g., sedimentation) to wetland habitats. Onshore support activity may also result in increased vehicular traffic, especially in the vicinity of the facilities. This would occur as a result of new roads and vehicles associated with construction and operation of the facility. Installation of roads in or near coastal and estuarine habitats could lead to the hydrologic alteration, disturbance, fragmentation, and loss of wetlands (Ko and Day 2004).

Vessel activity (e.g., tankers, barges, support vessels, and seismic survey vessels) associated with OCS oil- and gas-related activities such as pipeline installation could increase wave erosion and habitat loss or degradation in coastal and estuarine habitats (Robb 2014). Coastal organisms and vegetation may be impacted by increased turbidity from the wake from vessels such as tankers, barges, survey vessels, and support vessels. In addition, increased OCS vessel traffic could increase shoreline erosion of coastal and estuarine habitats from wave activity, which could lead to loss or degradation of habitat in these areas. Vessel traffic is especially harmful to unprotected shorelines and may accelerate erosion in areas already affected by natural erosion processes. Saltwater intrusion into coastal, freshwater habitats may also result from vessel traffic and/or the creation or maintenance of navigation channels.

Much of the service-vessel traffic associated with OCS oil- and gas-related activities uses the channels and canals along the Louisiana coast. BOEM conservatively estimates that there are approximately 3,013 mi (4,850 km) of Federal navigation channels, bayous, and rivers potentially exposed to OCS oil- and gas-related traffic in the GOM. Of that total, approximately 1,988 mi (3,200 km) of existing OCS oil- and gas-related navigation canals, bayous, and rivers pass through wetlands, as opposed to passing through large bays, sounds, and lagoons. The vulnerability of coastal and estuarine habitats to vessel traffic depends, in part, upon the type of canal used. Recent studies have found that armored canals have reduced loss rates compared with unarmored canals (Johnston et al. 2009; Thatcher et al. 2011) and that widening rates due to

erosion have slowed based on maintenance techniques. Port Fourchon, which currently services approximately 90 percent of all deepwater rigs and platforms in the GOM (Loren C. Scott and Associates 2014), is heavily armored and is less erodible. However, some of this traffic may also use Bayou Lafourche from Leeville to Port Fourchon, which is not armored. Ports that have navigation channels deep enough to accommodate deeper-draft vessels may expand their infrastructure for better accommodation of BOEM-regulated activities. For example, Port Fourchon has been substantially expanded over the years by deepening the existing channel and dredging additional new channels. Refer to the Bottom Disturbance section above for a discussion on dredging consequences.

#### 5.3 Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)

Routine OCS oil- and gas-related activities in the GOM that may impact SAV communities include maintenance dredging, vessel traffic, and pipeline landfalls. Maintenance dredging of navigation channels and canals could cause increased turbidity, physical removal, and burial, which can disturb and/or destroy SAV (Erftemeijer and Lewis III 2006; Kenworthy and Fonseca 1996). The creation of new navigation channels may lead to saltwater intrusion, which can negatively impact SAV communities in coastal, freshwater habitats. Increased vessel traffic and subsequent wave action can stress SAV communities by causing an increase in turbidity and sedimentation. The construction of additional pipeline landfalls may also cause stress to SAV communities by indirectly causing nutrient loading in the water column due to wetland loss (Johnston et al. 2009; Verhoeven et al. 2006). However, these activities are not expected to significantly increase in occurrence and range in the foreseeable future. If they do occur, these activities should have minor effects on SAV due to Federal and State requirements and implemented programs, as well as the beneficial effects of natural flushing (e.g., from winds and currents). Any potential effects on SAV from routine activities are expected to be localized.

#### 5.4 Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief)

BOEM-regulated activities have the potential to impact live bottom habitats (Pinnacle Trend and low relief) through drilling discharges, the explosive removal of platform-related infrastructure, and during the emplacement of structures (e.g., platforms) or pipelines, equipment (e.g., acoustic and/or electromagnetic equipment and anchors), or subsea infrastructure (e.g., subsurface tie-ins). However, adherence to the requirements of the live bottoms lease stipulation, COAs, as well as minimum distancing guidance developed during past EFH consultations, (See Section 2– Lease Stipulations and Guidance), greatly reduces the risk of impacts. BOEM routinely applies COAs to ensure approved bottom-disturbing activities are appropriately distanced from live bottom habitats (e.g., 2,000 ft [610 m] drilling buffer for drilling activity). In accordance with past conservation recommendations, if BOEM proposed approval of bottom-disturbing activities that would not meet recommended minimum distance requirements (e.g., refer to BOEM NTL 2009-G39 (MMS 2009a)), a site-specific EFH consultation will be triggered. Pipeline displacement is also a phenomenon known to occur (Nodine et al. 2006; Stress Engineering Services Inc. 2005) that could potentially cause physical damage to sensitive live bottom habitats in the GOM.

Drilling muds and cuttings discharged during routine oil- and gas-related activities generate turbidity and can result in relatively high sedimentation loading on the seabed when shunted to the seafloor, but only in close proximity to the drill site (Neff 2005). This could result in adverse impacts to Pinnacle Trend features via smothering of benthic organisms, particularly sessile benthic invertebrates (e.g., corals and sponges) near the drill site. However, turbidity generated by the deposition of drilling muds and cuttings in the Pinnacle Trend area would not greatly impact the biota of the live bottoms because the biota surrounding the pinnacle features are adapted to the turbid (i.e., nepheloid) conditions and high sedimentation rates associated with the outflow of the Mississippi River (Gittings et al. 1993). The pinnacles themselves are often coated with a veneer of sediment. However, the chemical content of drilling muds and cuttings, and, to a lesser extent, produced waters, may contain hydrocarbons, trace metals (including heavy metals), elemental sulfur, and radionuclides (Kendall and Rainey 1991; Trefry et al. 1995). Undiluted heavy metals and toxic compounds have the potential to be moderately toxic to benthic organisms (CSA 2004b). Sediment infauna have shown effects from toxins at less than 330 ft (100 m) from discharge locations, including reduced reproductive fitness, altered populations, and acute toxicity (Carr et al. 1996; Chapman et al. 1991; CSA 2004b; Hart et al. 1989; Kennicutt II et al. 1996; Montagna and Harper Jr. 1996). The toxicity of both drilling muds and cuttings and produced waters has the potential to adversely impact the live-bottom organisms of the Pinnacle Trend, but only in very close proximity to the source (Gittings et al. 1993; Neff 2005). Based on the localized impacts of routine OCS oil- and gas-related activities, the expected dilution of operational discharges, the provisions of the live bottoms lease stipulation (see link to recent lease stipulation example in Chapter 2-Lease Stipulations and Guidance), and applied COAs, significant adverse impacts from routine events are not anticipated to occur to the Pinnacle Trend as a result of the proposed activity.

The potential impacts from drilling discharges to low-relief live bottom features would be like the potential impacts to Pinnacle Trend features. The toxicity of drilling muds and cuttings and produced waters, as well as increased turbidity and sedimentation resulting from such bottom disturbances has the potential to adversely impact live-bottom low relief features. However, the greatest impacts of routine OCS oil- and gas-related activity are reported close to the well and the discharge of drilling muds, cuttings, and produced waters is strictly regulated by the USEPA's National Pollutant Discharge and Elimination System (NPDES) permits. In addition, many of the lease blocks to which the Live Bottom Stipulation would otherwise apply (e.g., those with live-bottom low relief features) are located in the Eastern Planning Area, are not available for lease (due to Presidential withdrawal of the area from leasing), and are typically well distanced from proposed lease sale areas. Low-relief live bottom features occurring within Live Bottom Stipulation lease blocks available for lease (i.e., in the Central Planning Area) would be protected because lease stipulations require lessees to undertake measures to avoid adverse impacts (see link to example live bottom lease stipulations in Chapter 2-Lease Stipulations and Guidance). Collectively, the distance of many live-bottom low relief features (e.g., those located in the Eastern Planning Area), and the requirements of the live bottom lease stipulations and applied COAs meant to protect features within blocks available for lease, greatly reduces or eliminates the effects of routine impacts associated with drilling and other bottomdisturbing activities (e.g., anchoring, infrastructure emplacement, and infrastructure removal). However, unlike Pinnacle Trend features, low-relief live bottom features do not have minimum distancing guidance from past EFH consultations. For Pinnacle Trend features, if the minimum distance guidance developed during past EFH consultations are exceeded (e.g., anchoring is

proposed < 100 ft [30 m] of a Pinnacle Trend feature), BOEM would have to initiate a project-specific EFH consultation with NOAA Fisheries.

With regard to decommissioning, the shock waves produced by explosive severance activities could harm the biota of pinnacle trend and low-relief live bottoms if they occurred within close distance. The resulting rapid oscillation in the pressure waveform associated with underwater detonations can cause fish and invertebrate mortality, particularly when the rapid contraction and overextension of the swim bladder occurs in some fish species (e.g., snappers and groupers). Corals and other sessile invertebrates typically have a high resistance to explosion-related shock waves (Keevin and Hempen 1997; Schroeder and Love 2004). BSEE typically conducts a sitespecific assessment of each well or platform decommissioning application and applies mitigations based on those analyses to comply with existing laws, regulatory requirements, and conservation recommendations based on consultations with other Federal Agencies. When explosive severance techniques are proposed, BSEE can enforce the use of methods designed to reduce shock impacts and minimize negative effects to biota. If a decommissioning application were submitted proposing the use of explosives near the Pinnacle Trend area or low-relief live bottom features, it is likely BSEE would require the use of nonexplosive and/or mechanical removal techniques based upon the SEA. There has also been an increasing trend in the use of mechanical removal techniques of oil and gas infrastructure in the GOM overtime. As such, impacts to biota on pinnacles and low-relief live bottoms from explosive removals are not expected to occur.

Live bottom features (both Pinnacle Trend and low relief) have the potential to be impacted by activities associated with the installation, removal, or decommission in-place of pipelines. All three operations would be performed using either an anchored or dynamically positioned vessel and would involve some level of jetting or trenching of the seabed. During installation, a reel-lay technique is used whereby the pipeline is lain along the seabed. A reverse reel-lay technique is used during removal: the pipeline segment is lifted from the seabed and reeled back onto a lay barge. These operations could cause direct physical harm to live bottom habitats, as well as seafloor disturbances resulting in localized turbidity in the water column. However, such activities would trigger an environmental review of the proposed activity by BOEM environmental personnel, who would evaluate the application to ensure that the proposed bottom-disturbing activities are conducted in accordance with lease stipulations and distance guidance (see **Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance**) meant to mitigate such impacts.

Though lease stipulations and COAs mitigate impacts to live bottom habitats associated with pipeline installation, removal, and decommission in-place, they do not directly address the potential for pipeline displacement. Pipeline displacements are known to occur in the GOM, particularly in association with hurricanes (Det Norske Veritas 2006; 2007; Gagliano 2007; Gearhart et al. 2011; Hooper and Suhayda 2005; Nodine et al. 2006; Stress Engineering Services Inc. 2005). Buried pipelines can become unburied or "floated" by storm pressure (i.e., via induced bottom currents and sediment transport) on the seafloor. Such impacts to pipelines have been documented at depths greater than 200 ft (60 m) (Gearhart et al. 2011), and Hooper and Suhayda (2005) have demonstrated that intense hurricanes can generate such seafloor effects at a depth of 400 ft (121 m). Lateral movements greater than 5,000 ft (152 m) have also been reported for pipeline segments several miles in length (Gagliano 2007; Tian et al. 2015). In addition, maps of pipeline damage and storm paths for past hurricanes suggest some areas,
including the Pinnacle Trend blocks, may be subject to repeated incidents (Det Norske Veritas 2007; Tian et al. 2015). Not only do large storms trigger mudslides (which pose risks to pipeline stability), but annual winter storms can too (Bentley Sr. et al. 2022), and wave period is a determining factor (Nodine et al. 2006). In addition to these studies, BOEM currently has an environmental study underway in the northern GOM investigating pipeline displacement for both active and abandoned pipeline segments. Considering this information and a trend of increasingly intense hurricanes entering the GOM, it is reasonable to assume that physical damage to live bottom habitats could potentially occur due to storm-induced displacements of nearby pipelines. Distancing infrastructure from nearby live bottom habitats, as described in BOEM and BSEE guidance, offers some protection in the event of displacement.

#### 5.5 Potentially Sensitive Biological Features

The potential impacts to PSBFs from BOEM's oil- and gas-related activities would be similar to those previously described for live bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and low-relief features). Adherence to the requirements of the Live Bottom lease stipulation and the application of COAs based on site-specific environmental reviews greatly reduces the risk of impacts. BOEM routinely applies COAs to ensure approved bottom-disturbing activities are appropriately distanced from PSBF's (e.g., 2,000 ft [610 m] buffer for drilling activity). However, there is currently no minimum distancing guidance developed during past EFH consultations for bottom-disturbing activities (e.g., those caused by anchors, chains, or cables) that could impact PSBFs, such as the 100 ft [30m] minimum distance developed for Pinnacle Trend features. Mitigations-such as requiring the collection of remote sensing survey data and/or the submission of post-activity reports that demonstrate PSBFs were not physically impacted-are applied if the proposed bottom-disturbing activities occur within 100 ft [30 m]. This mitigation measure reduces the risk of direct physical impacts (i.e., crushing), but simple avoidance allows for variation in distancing, and it may be possible for PSBFs to experience some level of sedimentation or burial resulting from bottomdisturbing activities occurring nearby (i.e., < 100 ft [30 m]). Sedimentation and burial could potentially result in adverse impacts to sessile biota, particularly slow growing, deep water corals. As with live bottom habitats (Pinnacle Trend and low relief), PSBF's could also be vulnerable to physical impacts from pipeline displacements.

#### 5.6 Topographic Features

Like live bottom habitats, BOEM-regulated activities have the potential to impact topographic features. Impacts to sensitive biota inhabiting topographic features can occur via interactions with drilling discharges, the explosive removal of platform-related infrastructure, and the emplacement of structures (e.g., platforms) or pipelines, equipment (e.g., acoustic and/or electromagnetic equipment), or subsea infrastructure (e.g., subsurface tie-ins). Displacement of active or abandoned pipelines may also result in the physical disturbance of topographic features.

As with the Pinnacle Trend features, the discharge of drilling muds and cuttings may result in adverse impacts to biota inhabiting topographic features due to increased turbidity, subsequent sedimentation, and exposure to toxicants in the vicinity of the well site. However, adherence to BOEM's Topographic Features Stipulation (see Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance) and COAs, as well as mitigations developed during past EFH consultations, avoid impacts to topographic features associated with authorized drilling activities. Discharge of drilling muds,

cuttings, and produced waters is strictly regulated by the NPDES permits, and a mitigation developed during past EFH consultations requires shunting of drilling muds and cuttings to within 33 ft [10 m] of the seafloor when activities are proposed within the 3-mile buffer zone of an identified topographic feature. Shunting helps to avoid exposing biota inhabiting these features to drilling mud and cuttings discharges and reduces the potential for operational discharges and wastes to reach topographic features.

Potential impacts to topographic features resulting from decommissioning activities are similar to those described previously for live bottom habitats. Refer to **Section 5–Impacts of Routine Activities–Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low-Relief)** for information about the impacts of underwater detonations to marine biota (i.e., fish and invertebrates) and the mitigations BSEE uses to minimize those effects near sensitive benthic habitats such as topographic features. Such mitigations can include the use of methods designed to reduce shock impacts and minimize negative effects to biota. In the case of a proposed decommissioning operation near a topographic feature, it is likely the BSEE would require a mechanical rather than explosive removal.

The larger minimum distance guidance (i.e., 500-ft buffer) developed during past EFH consultations (see **Chapter 2—Lease Stipulations and Guidance**) protects topographic features from routine BOEM-authorized bottom-disturbing activities and offers increased protection from potential pipeline displacements. However, researchers investigating pipeline displacements in the GOM have shown movements in excess of 500 ft in water depths less than 400 ft after the passing of hurricanes (Gagliano 2007; Hooper and Suhayda 2005; Tian et al. 2015), which suggests that topographic features with newly emplaced pipelines or abandoned pipeline in close proximity could be vulnerable to this potential impact.

## 5.7 Sargassum Habitats

Operational discharges and wastes associated with BOEM authorized oil- and gas-related activities in the OCS, including drilling muds and cuttings, produced water, and operational discharges (e.g., deck runoff, bilge water, and sanitary effluent) could contact floating *Sargassum* in surface waters of the GOM. In such an instance, the quantity of *Sargassum* contacted and the duration of exposure would vary depending on a variety of factors, including season (highest abundances of *Sargassum* present in spring and summer) (Gower and King 2011), winds, prevailing surface currents, wave action, discharge type and concentration, and dispersion rates. However, the toxicity, quantity, and volume of discharges would be minor and expected to dilute to background levels quickly and within a short distance of the discharge point as such discharges are expected to comply with USEPA regulations. Therefore, although discharges could contact *Sargassum*, interaction would be limited to a very small portion of the *Sargassum* population and the organisms that inhabit it.

Drilling operations create an area of high turbidity in the cuttings discharge vicinity, which may negatively impact *Sargassum*. However, cuttings discharged at the sea surface, where contact with floating *Sargassum* could occur, tend to disperse in the water column and be distributed at low concentrations (CSA 2004a). If exposed, potential impacts from turbidity and subsequent sedimentation to fish and invertebrates (eggs, larvae, juveniles, and adult life stages) occupying *Sargassum* habitat may include changes in respiration rate, abrasion and puncturing of structures

(e.g., gills and/or epidermis), reduced feeding, reduced water filtration rates, smothering, delayed or reduced hatching of eggs, reduced larval growth or development, abnormal larval development, or reduced response to physical stimulus (Anchor Environmental CA L.P. 2003).

Runoff water from the decks of ships and platforms may contain small quantities of oil, metals, and other contaminants. Larger vessels and offshore platforms discharge effluents from sanitary facilities (gray water). They also circulate seawater to cool ship's engines, electric generators, and other machines. The cooling water discharge may be up to 20 °F (11 °C) warmer than the surrounding seawater (USCG and MARAD 2003). This temperature difference can accumulate in the vicinity of the discharge. For oil and gas platforms and drillships, localized warming of the water could occur (Emery et al. 1997; USCG and MARAD 2003). However, the effects from gray water, deck runoff, and cooling water are notable only for stationary locations. Produced waters from stationary locations are rapidly diluted and impacts are only observed within 328 ft (100 m) of the discharge point (Gittings et al. 1993; Neff and Sauer Jr. 1990; Trefry et al. 1995). Those effects are localized, with only brief contact to passing *Sargassum* before dilution to background levels.

Overall, the impacts to *Sargassum* associated with the proposed action are expected to have only minor effects on a small portion of the *Sargassum* population as a whole. The presence of *Sargassum* in the GOM is part of a large cycle that circulates from the Sargasso Sea, south to the Caribbean, and back through the GOM. *Sargassum* experiences significant growth (up to 25 grams per square meter of seawater) while in the northwestern GOM (Gower et al. 2006), which is likely influenced by nutrient input from the Mississippi and Atchafalaya rivers. Recurrent blooms have also been observed in the Caribbean and equatorial regions of the North Atlantic since 2011, often stretching from West Africa to the coast of Belize and into the GOM. Consequently, it is expected that *Sargassum* and their associated biota would be resilient to any localized impacts due to operational discharges from oil- and gas-related activities, because it is constantly replaced in any given area (Frazier et al. 2015) and vast, recurrent blooms appear to be the new normal (Wang et al. 2019).

#### 5.8 Deepwater Benthic Communities

As with live bottom habitats and topographic features, chemosynthetic and deepwater coral communities are susceptible to physical impacts through interactions with drilling discharges, the explosive removal of platform-related infrastructure, and the emplacement of structures (e.g., platforms) or pipelines, equipment (e.g., acoustic and/or electromagnetic equipment), or subsea infrastructure (e.g., subsurface tie-ins). However, adherence to distance guidance described in NTL 2009-G40 (MMS 2009b) (link to NTL in **Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance**) reduces the risk of physical impacts and exposure to drilling discharges by requiring that bottom-disturbing activities are distanced from deepwater benthic communities ( $\geq$  2,000 ft [610 m]). As such, routine operations of a proposed action in deep water are not expected to significantly impact the ecological function or biological productivity of widely scattered, high-density deepwater benthic communities. For decommissioning using explosive severance techniques, the impacts to deepwater benthic communities would be similar to those described previously for live bottoms habitats. Refer to **Section 5–Impacts of Routine Activities–Live Bottoms** (**Pinnacle Trend and Low-Relief** for more detailed information regarding the impacts of underwater detonations to marine biota (i.e., fish and invertebrates) and the regulations and

mitigations BSEE uses to minimize those effects to sensitive habitat, such as deepwater benthic communities. Last, current research suggests that pipelines in waters less than 400 ft are susceptible to displacement (Gearhart et al. 2011; Hooper and Suhayda 2005). Consequently, deepwater benthic communities are not currently considered to be vulnerable to impacts from pipeline displacements.

### 5.9 Managed Species

Routine BOEM-regulated activities such as the release of operational discharges and wastes (e.g., produced waters and drilling muds and cuttings), the emplacement of subsea structures (e.g., platforms, pipelines, anchors, and subsea tie-ins) on the OCS, maintenance dredging of inshore canals, and the creation of new pipeline landfalls may affect managed species. USEPA and USCG administer regulations and permits that are designed to keep contaminants in operational discharges and wastes below harmful levels. Once the contaminants are discharged into the water column, they are not expected to persist for long, particularly when considering the depths at which BOEM's oil- and gas-related activities occur along the OCS and beyond, where they are exposed to strong currents, wind, and wave action. However, the discharge of drilling fluids and cuttings offshore may contribute to localized, temporary marine environmental degradation, particularly when shunted to the seafloor but in close proximity to the drill site (Neff 2005). For example, drilling muds and cuttings shunted to the seafloor can cause temporary turbidity in the water column and high sedimentation loads on the seabed compared to surface discharges (Neff 2005), which could be problematic for fisheries species with limited to no mobility. For mobile fish and invertebrates, time restrictions in place for drilling operations may allow for avoidance of large discharge plumes, although territorial reef fish and lowmobility invertebrates may be temporarily displaced from impacted habitats. Adherence to distance guidance in NTLs (see Section 2-Stipulations and Guidance) that apply to bottomdisturbing activities occurring near productive live bottom habitats and topographic features would largely avoid these impacts.

Offshore habitat modifications, such as the emplacement of subsea infrastructure throughout the OCS creates additional hard substrate in a region dominated by soft sediments. These structures can act as de facto artificial reefs and provide additional habitat for managed species throughout the northern GOM (see Section 3–Humanmade Structures and Artificial Reefs for more information). Inshore habitat modifications, such as maintenance dredging of canals and the creation of new pipeline landfalls have the potential to adversely impact managed species, many of which use these habitats for foraging, shelter, and as nursery grounds. See Section 5–Impacts of Routine Activities–Wetlands. for more detailed information regarding how these activities impact wetland habitats relied upon by many managed species in the northern GOM. However, many of the potential effects to wetlands are minimized due to the use of modern dredging/disposal practices and pipeline installation techniques.

## 5.9.1 Noise

The potential impacts of anthropogenic sounds to fisheries resources continues to be of increasing concern to stakeholders. Consequently, much research has been conducted on this subject. The potential impacts of noise to fisheries resources are described here as they relate to sound generated by BOEM authorized oil- and gas-related activities. Routine impact-producing factors that would have possible impacts to fisheries species include ensonification of the water

column. All routine BOEM authorized oil- and gas-related activities (e.g., seismic surveys, highresolution geophysical surveys, vessel traffic, and rotating machinery) have an element of sound generation, which can result in effects ranging from behavioral changes, masking of biologically important signals, temporary hearing loss (Popper et al. 2005), or, more rarely, physiological injury or mortality (de Soto 2016; Popper and Hastings 2009; Popper et al. 2014). The actual effects observed will depend upon a number of factors, including the source type (e.g., impulsive or non-impulsive), signal characteristics (e.g., frequency, source level, duration), the distance between the animal and the source, the cumulative sound exposure of the entire noise event, and the species' hearing sensitivity (Popper et al. 2014; Popper et al. 2019).

A growing body of research demonstrates that fish and invertebrates are sensitive to acoustic cues and are able to efficiently extract biologically-important sounds from background noise (Hastings and Popper 2005; Popper et al. 2003; Popper and Fay 1993; Wysocki and Ladich 2005). It is generally assumed that fish and invertebrates are capable of sensing the particle motion component of the sound wave, which is the tiny back-and-forth motion of water particles that accompanies a passing pressure wave (Popper and Hawkins 2018). Particle motion associated with sound waves that move through the sediment is generally referred to as "substrate vibration", and animals that live on or in the seafloor may also detect acoustic energy in this way (Hawkins et al. 2021). Some fish with special adaptions of the swimbladder are also capable of detecting acoustic pressure, which enables them to detect a broader range of acoustic frequencies over larger distances (Popper and Fay 2011; Popper et al. 2021; Wiernicki et al. 2020). Generally speaking, particle motion is most relevant within several wavelengths of a sound source, while acoustic pressure can propagate a great distance and is influenced by environmental factors like water depth, temperature, and salinity (Kalmijn 1988). Close to the seafloor and sea surface, complex patterns of particle motion can occur, as sound waves area reflected and refracted by these boundaries. Despite this complexity, one can generally assume that within a few wavelengths of a sound source, fish and invertebrates would be able to detect sound, but a greater distances, only pressure-sensitive fishes could hear it. The research thus far shows that the primary hearing range of most particle-motion sensitive organisms in below 1 kHz (Popper and Hawkins 2018).

Impulsive sounds generated by OCS oil- and gas-related activities (e.g., impact pile-driving and airguns) can potentially cause a behavioral response, reduce hearing sensitivity, or result in physiological injury to fish and invertebrates. Hair cells in fish ears regenerate (Corwin 1981), thus making Permanent Threshold Shift (PTS) highly unlikely, but very close to impulsive sound sources they could experience barotrauma, which is a physiological effect that results from a rapid change in pressure. Generally, the greater the difference between the static pressure at the site of the fish and the positive and/or negative pressures associated with the sound source, the greater the risk of barotrauma. This is because the air-filled cavity inside the body of the fish (the swimbladder) will rapidly expand and contract with the passing sound wave, which can lead to a suite of injuries ranging from recoverable hematomas to organ damage (which could lead to death) (Popper et al. 2014; Stephenson et al. 2010). The range at which physiological injury may occur is short (<33 ft; <10 m) and, given fish avoidance behavior, the potential for widespread impacts to populations is not likely. For eggs and larvae, the literature generally states that mortality or changes in pathology could occur when they are located within 0–16 ft (0–5 m) of an airgun blast, with detrimental effects occurring closer to the source (Booman et al. 1996; Cox et al. 2012; Kostyuchenko 1973; Payne et al. 2009). At distances of more than 33 ft (10 m),

detrimental effects to fish eggs were detected only at very low levels (Booman et al. 1996; Cox et al. 2012; Kostyuchenko 1973; Payne et al. 2009; Turnpenny and Nedwell 1994); however, effects may be species-specific. For example, Dungeness crab larvae exposed to airgun blasts did not show differences in survival rates compared to control groups (Pearson et al. 1994).

Temporary threshold shift (TTS) can occur when damage to hearing structures causes decreased hearing sensitivity, which means that in order for a signal to be detectable, a higher sound level is necessary. Several experiments have examined TTS in fishes after exposure to seismic airguns. McCauley et al. (2003) found damage to hearing structures for fish held in cages 16-2,625 ft (5–800 m) from an airgun, but they did not measure hearing thresholds. In Popper et al. (2005), two species with hearing specializations experienced TTS when held 43–59 ft (13–18 m) from an airgun, but they recovered within 18 hours. Several additional studies in subsequent years (e.g., Hastings et al. 2008; McCauley and Kent 2012; McCauley et al. 2008) found mixed results depending on species, proximity to the airgun, and received levels. Taken together, however, this body of work has shown that TTS and damage to hearing structures is possible from high-intensity sources, but species without hearing specializations are less likely to sustain effects, and even those with some specializations are likely to recover within several days of exposure. Similar to injurious effects, TTS is expected to occur very close to the source, and effects will be short-term. However, there is the potential for secondary effects; for example, a fish with decreased fitness (due to decreased hearing sensitivity) for a few days may be more vulnerable to predation, less likely to find a mate, or unable to find food while their hearing is recovering. This type of secondary effect has not been measured experimentally.

The research on behavioral responses of fishes to seismic airguns has covered a range of species, each with different hearing capabilities, and has employed a variety of methods. For example, some studies have used echosounders to observe potential changes in schooling behaviors in the vicinity of impulsive sound sources (e.g., Chapman and Hawkins 1969; Hawkins et al. 2014; Jorgenson and Gyselman 2009; Peña et al. 2013). In some cases, fish swim lower in the water column and schooling behaviors are disrupted, but only temporarily. Other work has used video cameras to observe potential startle responses (Boeger et al. 2006; Hassel et al. 2004; McCauley et al. 2003; Thomsen 2008; Wardle et al. 2001), which also tend to be short-lived. Tagging studies have occurred more recently (e.g., Davidsen et al. 2019; Hubert et al. 2020; Meekan et al. 2021; van der Knaap et al. 2021) and also tend to show subtle, short-term behavioral changes with no evidence that fish are fleeing an area, ceasing feeding, or permanently abandoning habitat. Despite the range species and methods covered in this research, a common trend that emerges is that fish often show an initial response (either a startle response or a change in schooling behavior), but this response is reduced with repeated exposure or ramp-up of the sound source. Though short-term changes in schooling behavior could temporarily increase vulnerability to predation, there is little chance this would have population-level effects.

#### 5.9.1.1 Noise–Other Routine Activities

Routine vessel traffic associated with OCS oil- and gas-related activities to and from offshore facilities introduces sound into the aquatic environment. The cavitation of boat propellors produces low-frequency, nearly continuous sound that is audible by most fishes and invertebrates and could cause acoustic masking. Masking of important biologically relevant sounds has the potential to increase predation, reduce foraging success, and may preclude individuals from finding a mate, thus affecting reproductive success. However, because OCS oil- and gas-related

vessel traffic generally occurs in deep, offshore waters and is widely dispersed, it is unlikely that fish and invertebrates will be significantly affected by this type of noise. Negative impacts associated with noise from vessel traffic have been primarily observed in shallow, coastal habitats with fish and invertebrate species that have limited to no mobility and are continuously subjected to the sound. Any negative effects of sound from OCS oil- and gas-related vessel activity in shallow waters would be localized and limited to a small number of channels leading to onshore facilities (e.g., Port Fourchon, Louisiana). Overall, potential negative impacts of OCS oil- and gas-related vessel noise to fish and invertebrates (e.g., masking) are expected to be shortterm and not have population-level effects.

Explosive severance (e.g., platform decommissioning) creates both a shock wave and a rapid oscillation in the pressure waveform associated with detonation. As described above, barotrauma can occur when there is a rapid contraction and overextension of the swim bladder, which can be problematic (i.e., result in injury or mortality) for most managed species in the GOM that occupy oil and gas platforms (e.g., snappers, groupers, tilefish, jacks, triggerfish, wrasses, cobia). Fish mortalities that occur as a result of platform decommissioning can impact the number and age structure of fish in localized communities. However, studies of the associated mortality for several recreationally and commercially important fish (e.g., red snapper, greater amberjack, vermillion snapper, grey triggerfish, and cobia) have indicated that the current level of explosive severance activity in the GOM does not significantly alter stock levels (Gallaway et al. 2020; Gitschlag et al. 2001). Although these studies were limited and cannot be directly applied to all species or habitats, it is reasonable to assume that other represented fish stocks would respond similarly. Fish that have a less developed swim bladder or that lack one altogether are generally more resistant to underwater blasts (Goertner et al. 1994) and include protected species, such as the Gulf sturgeon, which have a swim bladder but no hearing specializations. Impacts to sessile benthic organisms (e.g., barnacles and bivalves) and mobile invertebrates (e.g., shrimp and crabs) that do not possess swim bladders are expected to be minimal (Keevin and Hempen 1997; Schroeder and Love 2004), because it is typically the rapid expansion and contraction of gasfilled spaces in response to pressure changes that results in the greatest physiological injury. There has been relatively little research on the effect of the shock wave on fishes, but Govoni et al. (2008) examined the effect of shock waves on larval spot and pinfish, and found that mortality increased at peak pressures higher than that associated with pile-driving (Bolle et al. 2012).

# 6.0 Impacts of Accidental Events

This is a summary of the effects of small (i.e., <1,000 bbl), reasonably foreseeable offshore and coastal spills on EFH and fish resources. Although a catastrophic event is a low-probability event and not reasonably foreseeable nor reasonably certain to occur, there is a summary of the potential effects of a catastrophic spill on EFH and fisheries resources in BOEM's 2021 Gulf of Mexico Catastrophic Spill Event Technical Paper (BOEM 2021b). The potential impacts of spill cleanup and/or response activities, and other accidental events, such as ship strikes and collisions from oil- and gas-related vessel activity, are discussed when applicable.

#### 6.1 Water Column

#### 6.1.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

Accidental events associated with a proposed action that could impact coastal and offshore water quality include spills of oil and refined hydrocarbons, releases of natural gas and condensate, and spills of chemicals or drilling fluids. The loss of well control, pipeline failures, collisions, or other malfunctions could also result in such spills. Spills from collisions are not expected to be significant because collisions occur infrequently. Overall, loss of well control events are rare events and of short duration, so potential impacts to offshore water quality are not expected to be significant except in the rare case of a catastrophic event.

Natural degradation processes (e.g., oil-degrading bacteria) would also decrease the amount of spilled oil over time. For coastal spills, two additional factors that must be considered are the shallowness of the area and the proximity of the spill to shore. Over time, natural processes can physically, chemically, and biologically degrade oil. Chemicals used in the oil and gas industry are not a significant risk in the event of a spill because they are nontoxic, used in minor quantities, or are only used on a noncontinuous basis. Although there is the potential for accidental events, a proposed action would not significantly change the water quality of the GOM over a large spatial or temporal scale outside of a catastrophic event.

#### 6.1.2 Response Activities

Though unlikely to be used on smaller spills (i.e., <1,000 bbl), dispersants could also affect pelagic habitats and associated communities in the water column. Chemicals used during an oil-spill response are toxic, though less toxic than spilled oil (Hemmer et al. 2011; NRC 2005), and their toxicity varies by dispersant type as well as varying levels of toxicity among species (CDC 2010; Fingas 2017). There is controversy about whether the combination of oil and dispersants is more toxic than oil alone (Fingas 2017; Holland-Bartels and Kolak 2011; NRC 2005). Post-*Deepwater Horizon*, many lab-based studies sought to determine the toxicity of oil, dispersed oil, and dispersants. However, due to a lack of consistency in the media preparation, exposure procedures, and chemical analyses (NRC 2005), researchers have been unable to determine a comprehensive conclusion on the toxicity of oil and dispersants. The National Academy of Sciences published guidance on how to address these inconsistencies in future research to address the controversy over the toxicity of chemically dispersed oils (National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine 2020). Dispersants blend with oil, thus mimicking impacts of an oiled area and increasing the areal extent of oil dispersion and subsequent exposure of

pelagic communities within the water column (BOEM 2011; National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine 2020).

## 6.2 Wetlands

### 6.2.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

Coastal and offshore oil spills can be caused by large tropical storm events, faulty equipment, and human error. The distance from shore of OCS oil- and gas-related activity reduces the probability of unweathered oil reaching coastal wetlands. The OCS production facilities are located at least 3 nautical miles (nmi) (3.5 mi; 5.6 km) from coastal wetlands, and much of the OCS oil- and gas-related activity is much farther out to sea. This allows the toxicity of spilled oil from offshore to be greatly reduced or eliminated by weathering and biodegradation before it reaches the coast (OSAT-2 2011). Nonetheless, accidental spills are reasonably foreseeable, and coastal and estuarine habitats may be vulnerable to these incidents. The degree of coastal impact is a function of many factors, including the source oil type, volume, and condition of the oil as it reaches shore, along with the season of the spill and the composition of the wetland plant community affected. The greatest threat to estuarine habitat with regard to an oil spill is from a coastal spill resulting from a vessel accident or pipeline rupture. These spills are a concern since they would be much closer to the estuarine resources, and pipeline accidents could result in high concentrations of oil directly contacting localized areas of wetland habitats (Fischel et al. 1989). Refer to BOEM's 2021 Gulf of Mexico Catastrophic Spill Event Technical Paper for an analysis of impacts from a low-probability, catastrophic spill event (BOEM 2021b).

Coastal communities and habitats, such as wetlands, can be indirectly and directly impacted by accidental releases into the environment (e.g., oil spills). These impacts are complex and can vary in intensity based on several interrelated factors, including oil type, time of year, and specific habitat characteristics, such as porosity. NOAA created the Environmental Sensitivity Index (ESI) to assess the risk posed to coastal habitats in the event of a nearby oil spill. The ESI ranks shorelines according to their sensitivity to oil, the natural persistence of oil, and the expected ease of clean up after an oil spill. These factors affect the impacts of oil spills in coastal and estuarine areas. Based on the ESI, marshes, mangroves, and swamps are the most sensitive shoreline habitats to oiling as oil tends to persist in these areas and are difficult to clean (NOAA 2020). The GOM shoreline is dominated by marshes and wetlands, making it highly sensitive to oil spills. Intertidal habitat vulnerability is generally highest for vegetated wetlands (Hayes et al. 1992; NOAA 2010) as well as semipermeable substrates that have low wave energy and high tidal currents. Barrier island loss due to hurricanes and anthropogenic factors has reduced protection of wetlands from offshore oil spills, which has increased the potential for the oiling of coastal wetlands during an accidental event.

Oil that impacts wetlands or SAV would result in substantive injury to vegetation, plant mortality, and some permanent wetland loss. Releases into the environment (e.g., spilled oil) could result in loss of ecosystem function, physical ecosystem structure, and functional and structural value loss. The short-term effects of oil on wetland plants range from reduction in transpiration and carbon fixation to plant mortality. Due to the difference in oil tolerances of various wetland plants, changes in species composition may be evident as a secondary impact of the spill (Pezeshki and DeLaune 2015). Oil can indirectly affect animals that rely on SAV and wetlands during their lifecycles, especially benthic organisms that reside in the sediments and

comprise an important component of the food web. Habitat degradation could persist and have long-term residual impacts on species' populations, community structure, and habitat function, resulting in loss of ecosystem function, value, and physical ecosystem structure.

Mangroves, which occur on the coasts of Florida, Louisiana, and parts of Texas, are also highly vulnerable to oil spills (Duke and Burns 2003; Duke et al. 1997; Hensel et al. 2014; Hinwood et al. 1994). Oil can coat the breathing surfaces of the mangroves; this kills shorter plants within days. Symptoms of chronic impacts from oil spills include death of trees with seedling regeneration, defoliation and canopy thinning, leaf yellowing, reduced height growth for surviving trees, and poor seedling establishment (Duke et al. 1997; Hensel et al. 2014; Lewis et al. 2011). Toxic response deformities and morphological changes may also occur after oil exposure, including pneumatophore branching (Duke et al. 2005), reduced lenticel numbers (Böer 1993), and genetic mutations like variegated leaves and chlorophyll-deficient propagules (Duke and Watkinson 2002). These effects could result in loss of ecosystem function and structure.

Though oil can completely foul wetland plants, it is the amount and type of oil, and the particular plant type that determines recovery. Data indicate that vegetation that is lightly oiled would experience plant die-back, followed by recovery without replanting; therefore, most impacts from light oiling to vegetation are considered to be short term and reversible (DeLaune et al. 1979; Lytle 1975; Webb et al. 1985). In a study of a coastal pipeline break by Mendelssohn et al. (1993), a 300-barrel (bbl) spill of Louisiana crude oil impacted 49 ac (20 ha) of wetlands, resulting in considerable short-term effects on the brackish marsh community. Though considerable die off of the marsh was noted, recovery of the marsh was complete within 5 years despite the residual hydrocarbons that were found in the marsh sediment. Different species of plants respond differently to oiling (DeLaune and Wright 2011). Pezeshki and DeLaune (2015) found that Louisiana crude oil was less damaging and fatal to Spartina alterniflora marsh grass than the heavier crudes. Heavy oiling can stop photosynthetic activity, but the S. alterniflora produced additional leaves and was able to recover without shoreline cleanup. Lin and Mendelssohn (1996) found that Louisiana crude oil applied to three species of marsh plants resulted in no regrowth after 1 year in applications for Spartina alterniflora and S. patens, but resulted in increased regrowth with increased oil application for Sagittaria lancifolia. Kokaly et al. (2011) found that, where the predominant marsh grass is tall (Phragmites australis) and less susceptible to being completely oiled, damage is minimized. Judy et al. (2014) also found high tolerance of *P. australis* to weathered and emulsified oil.

Oil has been found or estimated to persist for at least 17–20 years in low-energy environments like salt marshes (Baker et al. 1993; Burns et al. 1993; Irvine 2000; Teal et al. 1992). If thick oil is deposited on a marsh in low-energy environments, effects on marsh vegetation can be severe and recovery can take decades (Baca et al. 1987; Baker et al. 1993). The sediment type, the anoxic condition of the soils, and whether the area is in a low- or high-energy environment all play a part in the persistence of oil in marsh sediment (Teal and Howarth 1984); thus, different shorelines exhibit varying levels of oil persistence (Hayes et al. 1980; Irvine 2000). Oil is more persistent in anoxic sediments and, as a result of this longer residence time, has the potential to do damage to both marsh vegetation and associated benthic species. Batubara et al. (2014) found that hydrocarbon degradation is higher in intertidal than in subtidal wetland soils. The same is true for SAV: oil can cause decreased water clarity from coating, and shading could cause

reduced chlorophyll production and could lead to a decrease in vegetation (Erftemeijer and Lewis III 2006).

## 6.2.2 Response Activities

Response activities in coastal habitats, such as wetlands, include boom placement adjacent to shorelines to prevent oil from reaching shorelines, barrier berms, flushing salt marshes with water, cutting and raking vegetation, raking heavy oil deposits from soil surfaces, and placing loose sorbent materials. The use of nearshore booming protection for beaches and wetlands could also help to reduce oiling of these resources, if done correctly. However, booms deployed adjacent to marsh shorelines can be lifted by wave action onto marsh vegetation, resulting in plant mortality under the displaced booms. After the *Deepwater Horizon* explosion and oil spill, the use of barriers such as booms and sand berms did not work as well as planned (Jones and Davis 2011; Martínez et al. 2012; Zengel and Michel 2013). Physical prevention methods such as booms, barrier berms, and diversions can alter hydrology, specifically changing salinity and water clarity. These changes could cause mortality or reduced productivity in certain species of SAV because they are only tolerant of certain salinities and light levels (Frazer et al. 2006; Kenworthy and Fonseca 1996; Zieman et al. 1984). Close monitoring and restrictions on the use of bottom-disturbing equipment would be needed to avoid or minimize those impacts.

Oil-spill cleanup in coastal marshes remains an issue because wetlands and SAV can be extremely sensitive to the disturbances associated with cleanup activities. Though a resulting slick may cause impacts to estuarine habitat, the cleanup effort (i.e., equipment, chemicals, and personnel) can generate additional impacts to the area. Oiled marshes may incur secondary impacts associated with the cleanup process, such as trampled vegetation, accelerated erosion, and the burying or mixing of oil into marsh soils (Long and Vandermeulen 1983; Mendelssohn et al. 1993; Zengel et al. 2015). Associated foot and vehicular traffic may work oil farther and deeper into the sediment than would otherwise occur. Cleanup activities in marshes that may last years to decades following a spill may accelerate erosion rates and retard recovery rates. Some dominant freshwater marsh species (Sagittaria lancifolia) are tolerant to oil fouling and may recover without being cleaned (Lin and Mendelssohn 1996). For smaller oil spills, it may be prudent to allow wetland areas to recover naturally (Zengel et al. 2014). This is especially effective in marshes with adequate tides where tidal flushing can naturally reduce oil concentrations (Kiesling et al. 1988). In areas of thick oil deposits, however, a cleanup effort would result in greater recovery (Baker et al. 1993). Heavily oiled, untreated marsh areas showed negative effects on the vegetation, intertidal communities, and erosion tendency compared to the control (Beyer et al. 2016).

# 6.3 Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)

# 6.3.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

An inland spill resulting from a vessel accident or pipeline rupture poses the greatest threat to inland SAV communities. However, the size of these types of spills is generally small and short in duration. Direct impacts to SAV could include toxicity and shading, which may cause injury to vegetation and plant mortality (Erftemeijer and Lewis III 2006; Martin and Swenson 2018). SAV may be indirectly impacted by oil that has settled into benthic sediments. For example, lab experiments using Ruppia maritima, one of the northern GOM's most common species of SAV,

revealed that plants exposed to contaminated sediments experienced significant changes in reproductive output, root morphology, and uprooting force; although no significant changes to growth were observed (Martin et al. 2015). The floating nature of nondispersed crude oil, the regional microtidal range, dynamic climate with mild temperatures, and the amounts of microorganisms that consume oil could alleviate prolonged effects to SAV communities. SAV are also less susceptible to oil spills because they largely avoid direct contact with the oil pollutant (U.S. Department of the Navy 2018), and safety and spill-prevention technologies continue to improve, decreasing the potential for direct impacts to SAV from a proposed action.

## 6.3.2 Response Activities

The impacts of response activities to SAV communities are incorporated into the discussion of impacts to wetlands and their associated vegetation (see Section 6–Impacts of Accidental Events–Estuarine–Wetlands–Response Activities).

#### 6.3.2.1 Ship Strikes and Collisions

Although SAV communities occur at depths that make them vulnerable to interactions with ship hulls and propulsion systems, damages to these habitats from BOEM-regulated vessel activities are not anticipated to occur. Much of the service-vessel traffic associated with OCS oil- and gas-related activities uses well established channels and canals along the Louisiana and Texas coasts and would avoid the shallow waters behind barrier islands in bays, lagoons, and coastal waters where SAV in the northern GOM generally occurs.

### 6.4 Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief)

#### 6.4.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

Disturbances resulting from the proposed action, including oil spills and loss of well control, have the potential to disrupt and alter the ecological value of live bottom habitats. However, live bottom (e.g., the Pinnacle Trend) features represent only a small fraction of the continental shelf area. As such, the small portion of the seafloor covered by these features, combined with the random nature of oil-spill locations, serves to limit the extent of damage from any given oil spill to the Pinnacle Trend features. The depth below the sea surface to which the Pinnacle Trend features rise (130 ft [40 m] or more below the sea surface) also helps to protect them from surface oil spills. Disturbance of the sea surface by storms can mix surface oil (including dispersed oil) into the water column, but the effects are generally limited to the upper 33 ft (10 m) of the water column, with 60 percent of the oil found in the top 7 ft (2 m) of water (Lewis and Aurand 1997; McAuliffe et al. 1981). Only large spills have the potential to the reach live bottom (low relief) features because of the estimated distance of the proposed action from those features, which are primarily located in the eastern GOM along the continental shelf of west Florida. Although oil from a large spill could potentially reach live bottom (low relief) features present in the Central Planning Area.

A subsurface spill or plume may impact sessile biota of live bottom (Pinnacle Trend and lowrelief) features, and oil or dispersed oil may cause lethal or sublethal impacts to benthic organisms if a plume reaches these features. It is also expected that a certain quantity of oil may eventually settle on the seafloor through a binding process with suspended sediment particles (i.e., adsorption) or after being consumed and excreted by phytoplankton (Passow et al. 2012; Valentine et al. 2014). The product of these processes is sometimes referred to as "marine oil snow." It is expected that the greatest amount of adsorbed oil particles would occur close to the spill, with the concentrations reducing over distance. If a spill does occur close to a live bottom habitat, some of the organisms may become smothered by marine snow particles and/or other sediments, and experience long-term exposure to hydrocarbons and/or oil-dispersant mixtures that could persist within the sediments (Fisher et al. 2014a; Hsing et al. 2013; Valentine et al. 2014). Localized impacts may include reduced recruitment success, reduced growth, and reduced biological cover as a result of impaired recruitment (Kushmaro et al. 1997; Rogers 1990). However, sedimented oil should be well dispersed because of the distance from live bottoms. This would result in a light layer of deposition that would be easily removed by sessile, benthic organisms and have low toxicity.

## 6.4.2 Response Activities

Benthic organisms in live bottom habitats (e.g., corals) are also vulnerable to spill cleanup and/or response activities. During a response operation, the risk of accidental impacts of bottom-disturbing equipment is increased. There could be unplanned emergency anchoring or accidental losses of equipment from responding vessels. Response-related equipment, such as seafloor-anchored booms, may be used and could inadvertently contact live bottom habitats and associated organisms.

## 6.5 Potentially Sensitive Biological Features

## 6.5.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

The vulnerability of PSBFs and their associated biota (i.e., sessile invertebrates) to oil and dispersed oil from an accidental event (i.e., oil spills and loss of well control) are like those described previously for live Bottom habitats (Pinnacle Trend and low-relief features). The level of impact from an accidental release of oil or other contaminants from a surface vessel, well, pipeline, etc. would depend on the combination of several components: oil location (surface or subsurface); use of dispersants; if the oil is adsorbed to sediment particles; and certain spill-response activities.

## 6.5.2 Response Activities

Similar to live bottom habitats, response activities such as anchoring and accidental loss of equipment could occur, causing unanticipated harm to PSBFs. Response-related equipment such as seafloor-anchored booms may be used and could inadvertently contact PSBFs and impact associated organisms.

# 6.6 Topographic Features

## 6.6.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

The Topographic Features Stipulation (see Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance) is implemented by BOEM on lease blocks with topographic features to assist in preventing most of the potential impacts to associated communities from loss of well control, surface and subsurface oil spills, and the related effects by increasing the distance of such events. Only large spills have the potential to reach the topographic features because of the features' water depths, the currents

surrounding features, and the probable distance from a proposed action. The effects would be primarily sublethal and impacts would be at the community level in the unlikely event that oil from a subsurface spill would reach the biota of a topographic feature. In the unlikely event dispersants are used, dispersed oil adsorbed to sediments (as marine oil snow), turbidity, and sedimentation from a spill reaching sessile benthic organisms (e.g., corals) in topographic features would likely result in sublethal impacts comparable to those described previously for live bottom habitats.

#### 6.6.2 Response Activities

Organisms inhabiting topographic features may be at risk from spill clean-up and response activities. Potential impacts to topographic features would be similar to those described previously for live bottom habitats (pinnacles and low relief) and PSBFs.

#### 6.7 Sargassum Habitats

### 6.7.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

Pelagic Sargassum occur seasonally as a patchy resource in almost every part of the northern GOM, resulting in a wide distribution over a very large area. Considering the ubiquitous distribution and occurrence of pelagic Sargassum in the upper water column near the sea surface, potential accidental spills from oil and gas operations would be expected to contact and degrade localized portions of the Sargassum community. All spill types (including surface oil and fuel spills), underwater loss of well control, and chemical spills would contact Sargassum algae. The quantity and volume of most of these spills would be relatively small compared with the pelagic waters of the GOM and the total biomass of Sargassum impacted would vary by season (highest concentrations present during spring and summer). Therefore, most spills would only contact a very small portion of the Sargassum population. The impacts to Sargassum that are associated with a proposed action are expected to have only minor effects to a small portion of the overall Sargassum habitat in the GOM. In the case of a very large spill, Sargassum and its associated communities of fish and invertebrates could suffer severe impacts to a sizable portion of the population in the northern GOM. However, Sargassum have a yearly growth cycle that promotes quick recovery from impacts and it would be expected to restore to typical population levels in one to two growing seasons. Accidental impacts associated with a proposed action are expected to have only minor effects to a small portion of the overall Sargassum habitat available in the GOM due to the patchy and ephemeral nature of Sargassum.

Surface oil from an accidental spill can also interact with the biota that occupy *Sargassum* habitat. Although detrimental effects to fish and invertebrates could occur, the severity of impacts would largely depend on the level of contamination, the use of dispersants, duration of exposure, and life stage of the organism. Interactions with surface oil would be problematic for the early life stages of fish (particularly larvae) as they are generally more sensitive to acute oil exposure than adults. Eggs and larvae in *Sargassum* would be unable to avoid spills, and affected individuals may be at risk of death, delayed development, abnormalities, endocrine disruption, or other effects, resulting in decreased fitness and reduced survival rates (Fucik et al. 1995; Incardona et al. 2014; Mager et al. 2014). However, any potential impacts from a reasonably foreseeable spill would likely be minor as the probability of surface oil causing mortality to a proportion of a species' larval cohort large enough to impact stock levels would be low.

### 6.7.2 Response Activities

Burning, skimming, and chemical dispersants or coagulants can negatively impact floating *Sargassum* and *Sargassum* communities. Burning surface oil would cause direct mortality of *Sargassum*, and associated biota could be killed or suffer from habitat loss and subsequent predation from a lack of shelter. Skimming activities could result in the removal of *Sargassum* associated animals within and surrounding the mats, and trap them in oiled surface waters (BOEM 2011). Cleanup processes could also trap and destroy patches of *Sargassum*; however, these patches would likely already by destroyed by oil contamination even if the response activities were absent. If dispersants are used, dispersants and dispersed oil can accumulate in *Sargassum*, creating pathways for oil-related injuries such as the exposure of *Sargassum* communities to high concentrations of contaminants, the vertical transport (i.e., sinking) of oiled *Sargassum* and subsequent loss of habitat, and the creation of low-oxygenated waters surrounding mats, which can stress associated biota and minimize the ecosystem services provided by this important pelagic habitat (Powers et al. 2013).

### 6.7.3 Ship Strikes and Collisions

Vessel strikes and collisions with Sargassum mats and associated communities could occur during routine oil- and gas-related transits of personnel and equipment. *Sargassum* can come into contact with vessel hulls and/or propulsion systems resulting in the separation of large mats, death of the *Sargassum* algae, and/or the dislodgement or death of associated organisms. If individual plants are broken into moderately sized pieces, it is expected that the plants would continue to grow as multiple separate entities. Organisms that survived dislodgement from the mat are expected to return to the mat once the vessel passes.

## 6.8 Deepwater Benthic Communities

#### 6.8.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

Deepwater benthic communities may be vulnerable to the accidental release of oil or other contaminants from a surface vessel, well, or pipeline. The possibility of oil from a surface spill reaching a depth of 984 ft (300 m) or greater in any meaningful concentration is very small. However, subsea oil plumes resulting from high-pressure subsea oil releases and/or the application of chemical dispersants (typically during a catastrophic spill) may result in the entrainment of oil droplets in the water column (Boehm and Fiest 1982). This could create a subsurface plume (Adcroft et al. 2010) that may reach deepwater benthic communities. If such an oil plume were to contact deepwater benthic habitats and organisms, the impacts could range from minor to severe. Minor, sublethal effects that may occur to benthic organisms exposed to oil or dispersants include reduced feeding, reduced reproduction and growth, physical tissue damage, and altered behavior. Severe impacts may include mortality, loss of habitat, reduced biodiversity, reduced live bottom coverage, changes in community structure, and reduced reproductive success (Guzmán and Holst 1993; Negri and Heyward 2000; Reimer 1975; Silva et al. 2016). The extent and severity of impacts would depend on the location and weathering of the oil and the hydrographic characteristics of the area (Bright and Rezak 1978; Le Hénaff et al. 2012; McGrail 1982; Rezak et al. 1983). Overall, it is expected that oil from small, reasonably foreseeable accidental events associated with a proposed action would likely result in either negligible or minimal and localized impacts to deepwater benthic communities. This is due to

adherence to COAs and the minimum distancing guidelines developed during past EFH consultations (see in **Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance**).

## 6.8.2 Response Activities

Deepwater benthic communities may also be vulnerable to spill cleanup and/or response activities. During a response operation, the risk of accidental impacts of bottom-disturbing equipment is increased. There could be unplanned emergency anchoring or accidental losses of equipment from responding vessels. Response-related equipment such as seafloor-anchored booms may be used and could inadvertently contact deepwater habitats and organisms. In addition, drilling muds may be pumped into a well to stop a loss of well control. It is possible that, during this process, some of this mud may be forced out of the well and deposited on the seafloor near the well site. If this occurs, the severity of impacts would vary depending on the level of sedimentation experienced by benthic organisms and any impacts beyond the immediate area would be limited. However, these effects should be similar to routine well-spudding activities, because the well sites are buffered by a distance of  $\geq 2000$  ft [610 m] (per NTL 2009-G40 (MMS 2009b)) from sensitive benthic communities.

# 6.9 Managed Species

## 6.9.1 Unintended Releases into the Environment

Accidental events that could impact fisheries species include loss of well control and oil or chemical spills. Although a highly unlikely occurrence, loss of well control could suspend large amounts of sediment and has the potential to affect fisheries species in the immediate area. Fish and invertebrates exposed to turbidity increases and sedimentation may exhibit species-specific behaviors, including reduced or enhanced feeding efficiency, decreased or increased predator avoidance, and behavioral responses (Benfield and Minello 1996; Chesney et al. 2000; De Robertis et al. 2003; Jönsson et al. 2013; Lunt and Smee 2014; Minello et al. 1987). If oil spills due to a proposed action were to occur in open waters of the OCS proximate to mobile adult fish, the effects would likely be sublethal. The extent of damage would be reduced because adult fish have the ability to move away from unfavorable conditions, metabolize hydrocarbons, and excrete metabolites and parent compounds (Lee et al. 1972; Snyder et al. 2019).

Long-term exposure to concentrated volumes of contaminants could result in a higher incidence of chronic sublethal effects (Baguley et al. 2015; Millemann et al. 2015; Murawski et al. 2014; Snyder et al. 2015). This can occur through the interaction of fish and invertebrates with PAH-contaminated water and sediments through a variety of routes, including respiration, ingestion of food (particularly benthic prey), and absorption through the skin (Logan 2007). Oil concentrated in surface waters could also directly contact and coat fish and invertebrate eggs and larvae found at or near the surface. Eggs and larvae floating in surface waters would be unable to avoid spills, and affected individuals may be at risk of death, delayed development, abnormalities, endocrine disruption, or other effects, resulting in decreased fitness and reduced survival rates (Fucik et al. 1995; Incardona et al. 2014; Mager et al. 2014). However, the intensity of these effects would largely depend on the concentrations and duration of exposure. In general, early life stages of fish are more sensitive to acute oil exposure than adults, but some research indicates embryos, depending on their developmental stage, would be less sensitive to acute exposure than larval stages (Fucik et al. 1995).

Spills reaching nursery habitat or overlapping spatiotemporally with a spawning event have the greatest potential for affecting the early life stages of fish and invertebrates, particularly in shallow habitats. Fish and invertebrates inhabiting shallow-water habitats (e.g., estuaries, wetlands, oysters, and SAV) are at increased risk because they can receive higher oil loading per unit volume of seawater than those in deeper offshore water (Pfetzing and Cuddeback 1993). However, much of the OCS oil- and gas-related activity occurs far offshore and interactions of released oil with currents, waves, and other physiological processes would allow for the toxicity of spilled oil to be greatly reduced or eliminated by weathering and biodegradation before it reaches coastal habitats (OSAT-2 2011). Fish and invertebrate populations of the GOM have repeatedly proven to be resilient to large, annually occurring areas of hypoxia, major hurricanes, and oil spills. As such, the proposed action is not expected to significantly affect populations or stocks of managed species in the GOM.

#### 6.9.2 Response Activities

Though they are unlikely to be used in the event of a small, reasonably foreseeable oil spill, dispersants may be applied to break down surface oil into smaller oil droplets, making them easier to ingest by oil-eating microbes. Unfortunately, this process may also increase the water solubility of petroleum hydrocarbons, which makes them more bioavailable for uptake by fish and invertebrates (Wolfe et al. 2001). For example, Laramore et al. (2016) found that larval pink shrimp exposed to oil alone and oil treated with dispersants experienced greater negative impacts to the dispersant, and the impacts differed between larval stages, with zoea being the most sensitive. Similarly, Eastern oysters exposed to dispersants experienced some negative effects to immunological and physiological functions, which could result in serious health implications (e.g., increased parasitism and decreased growth) (Jasperse et al. 2018). In contrast, the effects of chemical dispersants on the larvae of blue crabs were laboratory tested, and only the larvae exposed to the highest treatment levels experienced significant increases in mortality (Anderson Lively and McKenzie 2014). Fish exposed to dispersed oil were found to have higher concentrations of PAHs compared to fish exposed to crude oil not treated with dispersants (Ramachandran et al. 2004). Overall, research has suggested that dispersed oil may be more toxic to fish and invertebrates than exposure to crude oil alone; however, life-stage, exposure levels, duration, and geographic extent determine the impacts to individuals, and the long-term effects are not well understood.

# 7.0 Cumulative Impacts

This section summarizes of the cumulative contributions of other natural and anthropogenic stressors to EFH in the GOM such as natural disturbances (e.g., hurricanes) and fishing (both commercial and recreational), as well as BOEM's routine activities and accidental events associated with the proposed action.

#### 7.1 Water Column

Water quality in the coastal and offshore waters of the GOM are impacted by a variety of stressors not related to BOEM-regulated activities, including sediment disturbance and suspension (i.e., turbidity) from both natural and anthropogenic sources (e.g., tropical storms and dredging and/or channelization); commercial and recreational vessel activity (e.g., bottom trawling) and discharges (e.g., sanitary wastes, bilge water, deck drainage); erosion; surface runoff from both point- and nonpoint-sources of pollution; air emissions and pollution; and accidental events (e.g., oil and chemical spills, sewage spills) from State oil- and gas-related activities and crude oil imports by tanker. Natural hydrocarbon and brine seeps are potential impacting factors to offshore waters that introduce contaminants such as hydrocarbons (i.e., PAHs) into the water column. These sources collectively impair the water quality of coastal and offshore waters in the GOM over time, particularly in the northcentral region, where the majority of oil- and gas-related activity, commercial bottom trawling, natural seeps, and large river inflows (e.g., Mississippi and Atchafalaya rivers) occur. Consequently, the condition of coastal waters within the U.S. Gulf Coast are rated as fair by the USEPA (USEPA 2012), largely due to excessive inputs of nutrients and other contaminants from inland sources.

Due to the multitude of factors that significantly contribute to the degradation of water quality (coastal waters in particular) in the GOM, the effects resulting from the proposed action represent a small addition to other cumulative impacts (i.e., other Federal and State agency actions, private vessels, point and nonpoint sources of pollution, and natural events or processes) Increased turbidity and operational discharges resulting from the proposed action (i.e., canal and channel maintenance dredging and operational discharges and wastes) would be localized and temporary in nature and minimized with adherence to Federal and State permit regulations, BOEM-implemented mitigation measures (i.e., distance guidance in NTLs for bottom-disturbing activities), and by dilution and dispersion of discharges and wastes through mixing with currents. Because a catastrophic accident is considered rare and not expected to occur in coastal waters, the impact of small, accidental spills that are reasonably foreseeable to overall water quality in the GOM is expected to be negligible. In offshore waters, degradation processes in both surface and subsurface waters would decrease the amount of spilled oil over time through natural processes that can physically, chemically, and biologically degrade oil (NRC 2003). The effect on coastal water quality from smaller, accidental spills is expected to be minimal relative to the cumulative inputs of hydrocarbons and other contaminants (e.g., heavy metals) from other sources (e.g., atmospheric deposition, river outflow, surface runoff in urban waterways, industrial discharges). Thus, the incremental contributions of the routine activities and reasonably foreseeable accidental events associated with the proposed action are not expected to contribute appreciably to overall impacts on water quality in the GOM.

#### 7.2 Wetlands

Natural and anthropogenic stressors have cumulatively contributed to a long-term trend of wetland loss in the coastal GOM, and wetlands are converting to open water at staggering rates in this region. The GOM coastal region represents 99 percent of all intertidal, coastal wetland losses across the three coastal regions of the conterminous United States. These losses are attributed to the effects of severe coastal storms, natural and induced land subsidence, sea-level rise, the creation of canals and channels for oil and gas and other industries, and the construction of levees and other water management measures along the Mississippi River. In concert, these factors result in the rapid wetland loss. In some areas of the GOM, artificial hydrologic modifications and coastal development impede the ability of wetlands to migrate inland. This "coastal squeeze" (Doody 2004) contributes to an overall loss of intertidal coastal habitat in the region. Wetland loss across the Gulf Coast States is expected to continue. Coastal and estuarine habitat acreage would likely continue to decline, particularly in Louisiana, due to global sealevel rise and subsidence. Also, offshore hypoxia has persisted for years (varying in intensity and size) and is expected to remain for decades to come, with varying effects on the coastal ecosystem. The shoreline surrounding the Mississippi River Delta is also expected to continue to erode as agricultural, residential, and commercial development persists (Boesch et al. 1994; Day Jr et al. 2001; Day et al. 2000), including State oil and gas activities. Erosion of shorelines, storm intensification, and coastal flooding due to climate change may also continue to incrementally impact coastal wetlands in the GOM.

Past and current BOEM-regulated activities resulting from the proposed action can cumulatively affect wetlands and their associated vegetation. These activities include maintenance dredging of navigation canals, the creation of new canals, vessel traffic, existing and new pipeline landfalls, and operational discharges and wastes (see Section 5–Impacts of Routine Activities–Wetlands. Small, reasonably foreseeable spills of contaminants could also occur as a result of the proposed action, which can adversely impact wetlands (see Section 6–Impacts of Accidental Events–Wetlands). Considering that the majority of these activities occur in a few localized areas (e.g., Port Fourchon, Louisiana) that have existing, well armored canals, the rarity of new pipeline landfalls, the existence of mitigating measures from present regulatory programs of Federal or State agencies, adherence to MARPOL regulations for operational discharges and wastes, as well as the low probability of a catastrophic spill, the incremental contributions of the proposed action to the degradation of wetlands in the GOM are expected to be minor. Reasonably foreseeable spills of contaminants and associated response activities as a result of the proposed activities could result in minor to moderate cumulative impacts to localized areas of estuarine habitats. The level of impact would depend on a variety of factors, including oil type, volume, and season.

#### 7.3 Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)

Activities not regulated by BOEM-including nutrient loading in coastal waters, dredging activities, shoreline development, and increased commercial and recreational boating and fishing practices-pose the greatest overall risk to SAV in the northern GOM (Handley et al. 2007) and cumulatively degrade these habitats overtime. Naturally occurring weather events, such as hurricanes, can also cumulatively impact SAV habitats both directly and indirectly, resulting in density decreases that may be due to storm-induced erosion, as well as prolonged lower than normal salinity and dissolved oxygen levels following stormwater drainage (Wilson et al. 2019).

Collectively, these activities and natural events have resulted in and will likely continue to cause measurable impacts to SAV throughout the GOM.

Past and current BOEM-regulated activities associated with the proposed action can cumulatively impact SAV communities in coastal waters. These activities include vessel traffic, coastal habitat modification (e.g., construction of new pipeline landfalls and or facilities), channel creation and/or dredging, and accidental releases of oil or chemicals into the environment (see Section 5-Impacts of Routine Activities-Submerged Aquatic Vegetation and Section 6-Impacts of Accidental Events-Submerged Aquatic Vegetation). Overall, the incremental contributions of the activities resulting from the proposed action are expected to be minor, considering many of the impacting activities are not expected to significantly increase in occurrence and range in the foreseeable future, and they are minimized due to Federal and State requirements and implemented programs, natural flushing of coastal waters (e.g., from winds and currents), and the primary use of well-established channels and canals by vessels. Further, accidental releases from inland sources (e.g., vessel accident or pipeline rupture) are generally small and short in duration and the floating nature of nondispersed crude oil, the regional microtidal range, dynamic climate with mild temperatures, and the amounts of microorganisms that consume oil could alleviate prolonged effects to SAV. SAV are also less susceptible to oil spills because they largely avoid direct contact with the oil pollutants (U.S. Department of the Navy 2018), and safety and spill-prevention technologies continue to improve, decreasing the potential for direct impacts to SAV from the proposed action.

## 7.4 Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief)

Activities not regulated by BOEM that may occur in the vicinity of the Pinnacle Trend and lowrelief live bottom features include discharges and wastes (i.e., land-based sources leading to hypoxic conditions), accidental spills from State oil- and gas-related activities, recreational boating and fishing, import tankering, and commercial fishing activities (e.g., bottom trawling and longlines), and the introduction of invasive species. Natural events, such as tropical storms and hurricanes, can also lead to physical damages of live bottom habitats. These factors can cumulatively contribute to the degradation of live bottom features in the GOM over time.

The GOM annually develops an extensive seasonal hypoxic zone on the OCS west of the Mississippi Delta during the late spring and summer. Hypoxic zones are caused by terrestrial runoff, nutrient-fed algal growth, and subsequent bacterial decomposition, resulting in near seafloor oxygen levels too low to sustain most marine life and causing habitat loss, sublethal stress, and/or death. The persistence of hypoxic zones leads to a metazoan community with anaerobic conditions that significantly change the benthic ecosystem. The extent of hypoxic zones varies over the course of their duration due to water column mixing by wind and storm events. In the GOM, the persistence of the hypoxic zone into the early fall depends on the breakdown of vertical stratification of the water column by winds from either tropical storms or cold fronts; they rarely persist into late fall or winter (Rabalais et al. 2002).

Recreational boating and fishing activity may incrementally impact live bottom (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief) habitats in the proposed action area. Recreational fishing activity can result in adverse impacts to sensitive sessile invertebrates, such as corals associated with Pinnacle Trend features, from physical damage caused by lead weights and anchors, as well as entangled and abandoned fishing gear. Low relief live bottom habitats, such as SAV communities, can be impacted by recreational boating activity via interactions with boat propellers and anchors.

Oil and gas activities within State waters occur offshore Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, and Alabama. The potential effects to benthic communities and habitats from oil spills resulting from State-permitted oil and gas activities include death as well as sublethal effects such as reduced feeding, reduced reproduction and growth, physical tissue damage, and altered behavior. These effects from State oil and gas activities are the same as those that could occur for BOEM-regulated OCS oil- and gas-related oil spills.

Large ships occasionally anchor in the general area of live bottoms; anchoring recreational and commercial fishing vessels may actively target live bottom areas because of their association with desirable fishing opportunities. These bottom-disturbing activities could potentially lead to severe physical damage to individual benthic features if gear comes into direct contact with live bottoms. Commercial fishing activities can be particularly damaging, especially when bottom-tending fishing gear of any type (e.g., trawls and bottom-set longlines) are used. Bottom-tending fishing gear can damage benthic communities by dislodging or crushing organisms attached to the bottom, with trawls representing the most serious threat in deep water (Hourigan 2014).

The introduction of the Indo-Pacific lionfish in the region could potentially alter fish and invertebrate populations on topographic features. The predatory nature of this fish, combined with the lack of natural predators, suggests that increases in lionfish could result in top-down impacts to reef-associated organisms, ultimately leading to a decrease in biodiversity and abundance of small, reef fish and benthic invertebrates (Lesser and Slattery 2011). However, significant declines of lionfish populations on natural reefs (>75%) in the northern GOM have been reported recently due to the emergence of an ulcerative skin disease (Harris et al. 2020).

During severe storm events, bottom sediments can be suspended into the water column (Brooks and Giammona 1991; CSA 1992), potentially affecting organisms inhabiting live bottom habitats (e.g., corals and seagrasses) due to resulting sedimentation and turbidity. Because of the depth of the Pinnacle Trend area, these forces are not expected to be strong enough to cause direct physical damage to most organisms living on those reefs. However, storm-induced movements of humanmade objects present on the seafloor (e.g., lost fishing gear and/or marine trash and debris) may cause direct damage if they come into contact with live bottoms. Low-relief live bottom features, such as seagrass beds, would have the same or similar impacts to those described previously for SAV habitats.

Possible impacts from BOEM-regulated activities include anchoring, structure emplacement and removal, pipeline emplacement, drilling discharges, and discharges of produced waters (see **Section 5—Impacts of Routine Activities—Live Bottoms**). In addition, accidental subsea oil spills or loss of well control associated with ongoing OCS oil- and gas-related activities could cause damage to live bottom communities (see **Section 6—Impacts of Accidental Events— Live Bottoms**), but these impact-producing factors would be restrained by implementation of lease stipulations and site-specific mitigations. Potential, localized impacts to live bottom features are expected to be negligible when such resources are considered on a regionwide scale. Potential impacts from discharges would be further reduced by adherence to the USEPA's discharge regulations and permit restrictions. Therefore, the incremental contributions associated with the proposed action to the cumulative impacts affecting live bottom habitats in the GOM are expected to be negligible.

#### 7.5 Potentially Sensitive Biological Features

PSBFs would be subject to some of the same cumulative stressors and associated impacts as live bottom (Pinnacle Trend and low relief) habitats (see Section 7.2.3) and topographic features (see Section 7.2.5). Cumulative stressors that may impact PSBF's that are not regulated by BOEM include discharges and wastes (i.e., land-based sources leading to hypoxic conditions), accidental spills from State oil- and gas-related activities, import tankering, commercial and recreational fishing activities, and the introduction of invasive species. Natural events, such as tropical storms and hurricanes, as well as climate change-related effects may also impact PSBFs. In addition, BOEM-regulated activities such as pipelaying, anchoring, structure emplacement, drilling, and accidental releases into the environment (i.e., loss of well control) all have the potential to cumulatively impact PSBFs. However, SEAs of proposed activities and COAs largely avoid or minimize impacts to PSBFs. Past emplacements of subsea infrastructure, anchoring, and drilling effluents associated with drilling for oil and gas may have caused harm to PSBFs before distance requirements were implemented (see Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance). Refer to the aforementioned Sections in Chapter 7—Cumulative Impacts for information on how these cumulative stressors could impact PSBFs.

## 7.6 Topographic Features

Activities not regulated by BOEM that may occur in the vicinity and cumulatively impact topographic features include land-based discharges and wastes, recreational and commercial boating and fishing, crude oil imports by tanker, and the introduction of invasive species. Natural events, such as tropical storms and hurricanes, can also cause physical damages to topographic features, as well as climate change-related effects (e.g., ocean acidification). In addition, BOEMregulated bottom disturbing activities and accidental releases in the environment have the potential to contribute appreciably to the overall impacts to topographic features. Collectively, these factors can incrementally contribute to the degradation of topographic features in the GOM over time.

Riverine inputs and terrestrial floodwater containing freshwater, toxic chemicals, nutrients, and other anthropogenic debris from large storms may impact midshelf and shelf edge topographic banks and features on the OCS. For example, poor water quality resulting from storm-driven freshwater runoff at the East and West Flower Garden Banks led corals to experience sublethal stress (Wright et al. 2019), potentially making these species less resilient and more susceptible to other stressors.

Recreational and commercial boating and fishing activities may cause incremental harm to topographic features in the GOM. However, several large banks have been included as part of the FGBNMS and are protected from ship anchoring, the destructive impacts of bottom-tending fishing gear (e.g., commercial bottom trawls and longlines), oil and gas exploration, and salvage activities. A Final Rule issued by NOAA in January 2021 recently increased the area of the East and West Flower Garden Banks and Stetson Bank, as well as extended protections to 14 additional bank features (e.g., Geyer Bank, Bouma Bank, and Bright Bank) in the region (NOAA

2021). Though these topographic features are protected from vessel anchoring, any unenforced anchoring could result in bottom disturbance, including crushing of hard substrates and structure-forming organisms such as corals and sponges, burial of organisms, and scarring of the seafloor. The degree of damage depends on the size of the anchor and chain (Lissner et al. 1991). Anchor damages incurred by benthic organisms may take more than 10 years to recover, depending on the extent of the damage (Fucik et al. 1984; Rogers and Garrison 2001). In addition to anchoring, scuba diving activity may affect topographic features through crushing or fracturing by divers or removal of organisms; however, most shallow-water topographic features on the OCS are deep enough that recreational scuba diving activities are limited. Where scuba diving over topographic features does occur, activity is managed by other Federal agencies (e.g., the Flower Garden Banks National Marine Sanctuary), with regulations and management practices developed to protect benthic resources.

Fishing pressure at topographic features may alter fish community structure and have a top-down regulatory impact on fish populations (Boaden and Kingsford 2015), which could ultimately impact benthic communities. This could occur through unsustainable harvest practices; however, most managed fish populations in the GOM are stable or recovering. Harvest activities are managed and monitored by other Federal agencies (i.e., GOMFMC and NMFS), and populations are not expected to be depleted to a point where benthic populations are impacted.

The introduction of the Indo-Pacific lionfish in the region could potentially alter fish and invertebrate populations on topographic features. See Section 7.2.3—Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trends and Low Relief) for more information on how the Indo-Pacific lionfish can impact productive, hard bottom habitats like Pinnacle Trend features and topographic features and associated biological communities.

Climate change-related effects have the potential to alter environmental conditions throughout the GOM. Benthic communities are potentially vulnerable to the dual mechanisms of ocean acidification and increasing ocean temperatures. Ocean acidification can reduce bioavailability of calcium carbonate and thereby inhibit normal rates of calcification by exoskeleton-building corals and other calcifying marine organisms. Decreased calcification rates have been observed in numerous shallow-water zooxanthellate corals (Hofmann et al. 2010) and can inhibit growth and reproductive fitness in deep-sea organisms because of the additional energy expended in pH buffering. Sustained, unusually high-water temperatures are documented to cause coral bleaching, in which symbiotic zooxanthellae are expelled from coral polyps. Over time, a permanent temperature baseline shift could allow the northward expansion of species adapted to warmer waters, potentially altering the current community structure at topographic features, leading to habitat modification. Changing climatic conditions that alter the frequency and/or severity of weather events could affect benthic communities through sedimentation and direct impact of deep wave action breaking and/or overturning benthos. Severe weather may cause bottom disturbance by the movement of abandoned fishing gear and other anthropogenic debris along the seafloor, which could scour, smother, crush, break, or kill benthic communities if they are struck.

BOEM-regulated activities that may contribute appreciably to the overall impacts to topographic features are bottom-disturbing activities and accidental releases into the environment (Section 5–Impacts of Routine Activities–Topographic Features and Section 6–Impacts of Accidental Events–Topographic Features). Because the proposed Topographic Features Stipulation has

been in effect for decades, and is expected to remain in effect, it is assumed to be in effect for this analysis. The proposed Topographic Features Stipulation prohibits bottom-disturbing oil and gas activities within the No Activity Zone and restricts them in defined buffer zones, thus preventing adverse impacts to the benthic communities inhabiting topographic features (see Section 2 – Lease Stipulations and Guidance) Impacts to topographic features could occur as a result of oil- and gas-related spills or other types of releases from past and future OCS leasing. To date, past reasonably foreseeable spills have not had any identifiable impact on any topographic features. Any dispersed surface oil that may reach the benthic communities of topographic features in the GOM would be expected to be at a concentration low enough to have no discernable long-term impacts (<1 parts per million) (Cook and Knap 1983; Dodge et al. 1984; Elgershuizen and De Kruijf 1976; Lewis and Aurand 1997; Lewis 1971; McAuliffe et al. 1980; McAuliffe et al. 1981; Wyers et al. 1986). Because all BOEM-regulated anchoring activities have been and remain prohibited or regulated on and around topographic features and that siting restrictions minimize the potential for oil to contact these habitats in the case of an accidental spill, the incremental contributions of the proposed action to the cumulative impacts affecting topographic features are expected to be negligible.

#### 7.7 Sargassum Habitats

Activities not regulated by BOEM that have cumulatively impacted and continue to impact *Sargassum* habitats in the GOM include recreational and commercial vessel activity and landbased runoff, which introduces excess nutrients into coastal waters and leads to eutrophication. Though vessel activity may be detrimental to *Sargassum* habitat, nutrient loading in coastal waters may lead to an increase in biomass.

Vessel activity (e.g., recreation, commercial or recreational fishing, military use, shipping, or in support of State oil- and gas-related infrastructure) operating in offshore waters may pose a risk to Sargassum habitats and their associated communities. For example, Sargassum mats are popular fishing locations amongst recreational and commercial fishers in offshore waters where they target adult, pelagic fish such as mahi-mahi, wahoo, and tripletail. This activity can cause direct damage to Sargassum from boat propellers if motorists propel through the mats, and cause large mats to dislodge and break apart. Similarly, large shipping vessels can cause analogous damage when motoring through vast Sargassum mats, rather than moving around them. Because Sargassum is seasonally ubiquitous throughout the pelagic waters of the GOM and a lack of research exists investigating the effects of vessel traffic to these habitats and associated communities, the long-term impacts of these activities to Sargassum are unclear. Short-term impacts could include direct damage via laceration from propellers, as well as disturbance and displacement of organisms (Doyle and Franks 2015). Displacements are likely to be short term because the associated animals can actively swim back to the mats even if broken apart; however, the breaking up of Sargassum mats could potentially increase juvenile fish susceptibility to predation by adult predators.

Eutrophication, often caused by non-point discharge and waste sources, has led to declining coastal water conditions in the GOM, but may positively impact *Sargassum* and its associated communities. It is possible that *Sargassum* encountering nutrient rich waters from riverine inputs will undergo an increase in growth due to the presence of excess nutrients in the water column (Oviatt et al. 2019). For example, *Sargassum* have been found to experience significant growth

while in the northern GOM (Gower et al. 2006), which may be largely influenced by nutrient inputs from the Mississippi and Atchafalaya River outflows. Any increase in *Sargassum* growth would increase available habitat for *Sargassum* associated communities; the exact impact of excess nutrient inputs in coastal waters is currently unknown because *Sargassum* passively floats in and out of these waters, depending on oceanographic drivers.

BOEM-regulated activities that may cumulatively impact *Sargassum* and its associated communities include vessel activity, operational discharges and wastes, and accidental releases into the environment (see Section 5–Impacts of Routine Activities–Sargassum Habitats and Section 6–Impacts of Accidental Events–Sargassum Habitat). Overall, the incremental impacts resulting from past BOEM-regulated activities and future activities resulting from the proposed action to *Sargassum* in the GOM are expected to be short-term, localized, and primarily sublethal, affecting only small portions of the overall Sargassum habitat present in the GOM.

## 7.8 Deepwater Benthic Communities

Cumulative stressors not regulated by BOEM–such as recreational and commercial fishing activities and climate change–may impact deepwater benthic communities (i.e., chemosynthetic and deep-sea coral communities) in the GOM. The gear used during recreational and commercial fishing activities (e.g., lead weights, bottom trawls, and bottom longlines) can cause physical damage to slow-growing, deepwater organisms. For example, it is possible that the deep water trawls used to target commercially valuable penaeid shrimps in the GOM have caused damage to deepwater coral communities in the past and may continue to do so. Deepwater coral communities exhibit a patchy distribution throughout the Gulf and not all have been surveyed and mapped. As such, interactions between these habitats and bottom tending gear are possible. Protections enacted by the NMFS and GOMFMC (i.e., coral HAPC's with restrictions for bottom-tending gear) serve to protect some identified locations of deepwater benthic communities.

Regional and global environmental changes attributed to greenhouse gas-driven climate change, such as changes in ocean acidity levels and water temperature, have the potential to alter deepwater benthic communities in the GOM, corals in particular. For example, Kurman et al. (2017) found that *Lophelia pertusa*, a deep-sea coral commonly found in the GOM, experienced negative net calcification rates in the long-term when exposed to waters with low pH levels. However, the same study also found evidence suggesting that populations of *L. pertusa* in the GOM may have the genetic variation necessary to produce an adaptive response to future changes in pH levels. Other research has shown negative effects to *L. pertusa* survivorship when exposed to increasing water temperatures, although the potential for adaptation due to genetic variability in GOM populations should be taken into consideration (Lunden et al. 2014).

BOEM-regulated activities such as pipelaying, anchoring, structure emplacement, drilling, and accidental releases into the environment (i.e., loss of well control) all have the potential to cumulatively impact deepwater benthic communities. Past emplacements of subsea infrastructure, anchoring, and drilling effluents associated with drilling for oil and gas may have caused harm to deepwater benthic communities before distance guidance in the form of BOEM's NTLs were implemented (see Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance). The

aforementioned activities are also expected as part of the proposed action and may impact deepwater benthic communities, although adherence to distance guidance in BOEM's NTLs should largely avoid any potential effects. Past oil spills, such as the *Deepwater Horizon* spill, have impacted deepwater coral communities in the vicinity of the wellhead (6–22 km), which likely came into contact with oil plumes entrained in layers of deepwater (Fisher et al. 2014a; Fisher et al. 2014b; White et al. 2012). If a catastrophic oil spill occurred in the future it would have the potential to adversely impact deepwater benthic communities in localized areas. However, these events are statistically rare, not reasonably foreseeable, and may affect only a small portion of such communities present throughout the GOM.

#### 7.9 Managed Species

Managed species in the GOM are cumulatively impacted by a multitude of stressors not related to BOEM-regulated activities including recreational and commercial fishing activities, coastal eutrophication, and harmful algal blooms. Recreational and commercial fishing of fisheries species can result in adverse population-level impacts. For example, past fishing activity in the GOM resulted in significant declines in red snapper populations, although the fisheries current status has since been reclassified from "overfished" to "rebuilding" due to federal fishery management efforts (NMFS 2021a). Other targeted species, such as greater amberjack, are currently overfished and others are experiencing overfishing (e.g., cobia and lane snapper) (NMFS 2021b). The introduction of excess nutrients from both natural and anthropogenic sources into coastal waters can result in eutrophication and likely contributes to the formation of harmful algal blooms (Gilbert et al. 2005) throughout the Gulf coast. Both occurrences are capable of causing mass mortalities of coastal aquatic organisms, including managed fisheries species.

Additional stressors that have caused and continue to incrementally harm managed species in the GOM include invasive species, oil and/or chemical spills from State oil- and gas-related activities, and coastal habitat modifications. The introduction of invasive species such as tiger shrimp (*Panaeus monodon*), orange cup coral (*Tubastraea tagusensis*), and Indo-Pacific lionfish (Pterois spp.) to the Gulf may have long-term consequences for native fish and invertebrate communities. As with all invasive species, they have the potential to transmit disease, compete with and displace native species, and alter community structure and food webs (Molnar et al. 2008). Managed species in the GOM can also be impacted by accidental oil and/or chemical spills from State oil- and gas-related activities in coastal waters, the effects of which would range from sub-lethal to lethal depending on a variety of factors (e.g., contaminant volume, water depth, wave action, and life stage). Past and ongoing coastal habitat modifications-such levee construction, channelization (i.e., dredging), and shoreline development-can lead to wetland vegetation loss and increased turbidity in the water column, which can adversely impact SAV communities (See Section 7-Cumulative Impacts-Wetlands and Section 7-Cumulative Impacts-Submerged Aquatic Vegetation). These essential habitats are important to many managed fisheries species throughout the GOM (e.g., penaeid shrimps and red drum), offering shelter from predators, foraging opportunities, and nursery habitat.

BOEM-regulated activities associated with the proposed action–such as coastal habitat modification, offshore habitat modification (i.e., infrastructure emplacement), operational discharges and wastes, underwater sound produced from an array of activities (e.g., seismic

surveys, pile-driving, and explosive removals), and accidental releases into the environmentmay cumulatively impact managed species in the GOM. Details describing the potential impacts of each activity can be found in **Section 5–Impacts of Routine Activities** and **Section 6– Impacts of Accidental Events**. The incremental contributions are expected to add minimally to the overall cumulative effects from other activities or stressors present in the GOM. The majority of managed species in the region are widely distributed throughout the GOM and into the Caribbean and/or western Atlantic waters and most are broadcast spawners exhibiting high fecundity (i.e., individuals release massive quantities of eggs into the water column). As such, the cumulative effects associated with the proposed activity are not expected to result in population-level impacts because these activities are spatially and temporally limited and would affect only a small portion of any population, resulting at times in minimal decreases in fish resources and/or standing stocks. In addition, site-specific environmental analyses and mitigation measures (e.g., distance guidance) offer further protections for managed species inhabiting sensitive benthic habitats (e.g., topographic features and live bottoms), reducing the potential of adverse cumulative impacts.

# 8. Overall Conclusions

#### 8.1 Water Column

Operational discharges and wastes resulting from BOEM-regulated activities associated with the proposed action, and reasonably foreseeable accidental releases of contaminants into the environment, can result in water quality degradation. However, any changes to water quality resulting from these impact-producing factors are expected to be temporary and localized. Operational discharges and wastes associated with BOEM-regulated activities are subject to multiple federal regulations and permit requirements administered by the USEPA and USCG designed to keep contaminants in operational discharges and wastes below harmful levels. Though accidental releases into the environment (i.e., oil or chemical spills) could occur in offshore or coastal waters, these events occur infrequently, are typically short in duration, and, in the case of oil, can be broken down by natural degradation processes. Chemicals used in the oil and gas industry are not a significant risk in the event of a spill because they are nontoxic, used in minor quantities, or are used on a noncontinuous basis. As such, reasonably foreseeable spills are not expected to significantly impact water quality except in the rare case of a catastrophic event. Finally, effects to water quality resulting from the proposed action would represent relatively minor additions to other anthropogenic and natural cumulative impacts in the region and are not expected to result in the inability of this EFH to support managed fisheries species.

#### 8.2 Wetlands

BOEM-regulated activities in association with the proposed action such as maintenance dredging of navigation canals, routine vessel traffic, and the creation of new canals, pipeline landfalls, and new onshore facilities can result adverse impacts to wetland habitats. However, any impacts to wetlands as a result of the proposed action are expected to be minor and highly localized due to the small amount of anticipated dredging, low probability of new pipeline landfalls and onshore facilities, and the use of existing navigation channels in a few limited areas, many of which are heavily armored and use maintenance techniques that work to decrease erosion. The existence of mitigating measures from present regulatory programs of Federal and State agencies also help to lessen any potential impacts to wetlands from new onshore construction activities. If new canals or pipeline landfalls were created, intermediate to long-term effects to wetlands could occur and adversely impact EFH quality in those areas.

If oil from a small spill in coastal or inland waters reached estuarine habitats and associated vegetation and sediments, more wide-spread and long-term impacts may occur. The expected level and duration of impact would depend on many factors, including the source oil type, volume, and condition of the oil as it reaches shore, along with the season of the spill, the composition of the wetland plant community affected, and the response activities used. If oil contaminants become trapped in estuarine sediments, long-term exposure and impacts to wetland vegetation and associated biota could be expected. In terms of cumulative impacts, considering the multitude of anthropogenic and natural stressors that significantly contribute to the long-term decline of wetland habitats throughout the GOM, the activities associated with the proposed action represent relatively small, incremental additions to wetland degradation in localized areas.

### 8.3 Submerged Aquatic Vegetation (Seagrasses and Macro-Algae)

BOEM-regulated activities associated with the proposed action–such as maintenance dredging, vessel traffic, and the creation of new pipeline landfalls–all have the potential to adversely impact SAV communities. However, these activities are not expected to significantly increase in occurrence and range in the foreseeable future. If they do occur, these activities should have minor effects on SAV due to Federal and State requirements and implemented programs, as well as the beneficial effects of natural flushing (e.g., from winds and currents). Any potential effects on SAV from routine activities are expected to be localized.

An inland spill resulting from a vessel accident or pipeline rupture poses the greatest threat to inland SAV communities. However, the size of these types of spills is generally small and short in duration. Further, the floating nature of nondispersed crude oil, the regional microtidal range, dynamic climate with mild temperatures, and the amounts of microorganisms that consume oil could alleviate prolonged effects to SAV communities. SAV are also less susceptible to oil spills as they largely avoid direct contact with the oil pollutant (U.S. Department of the Navy 2018), and safety and spill-prevention technologies continue to improve, decreasing the potential for direct impacts to SAV from a proposed action.

Last, the cumulative impacts to SAV communities associated with the proposed action represent minor, adverse incremental contributions to the quality of these habitats and their ability to serve as EFH for managed species. Overall, the incremental contributions of the activities resulting from the proposed action are expected to be minor considering many of the impacting activities are not expected to significantly increase in occurrence and range in the foreseeable future, they are minimized due to Federal and State requirements and implemented programs, natural flushing of coastal waters (e.g., from winds and currents), and the primary use of wellestablished channels and canals by vessels.

## 8.4 Live Bottoms (Pinnacle Trend and Low Relief)

BOEM-regulated activities associated with the proposed action such as anchoring, structure emplacement, pipeline installation, discharge of drilling muds and cuttings, and structure removal and/or decommissioning all have the potential to adversely impact live bottom habitats. However, significant adverse impacts to both the Pinnacle Trend and low relief live bottom features are not expected to occur. Adherence to the live bottom lease stipulation, COAs, and minimum distance guidelines developed during past EFH consultations (see **Section 2–Lease Stipulations and Guidance**), greatly reduces the risk of physical impacts (i.e., crushing), sedimentation or burial resulting from drilling-induced turbidity, and toxicity-related impacts from drill cuttings and fluids. Any future decommissioning activities using explosives are not expected to result in adverse impacts due BSEE's development of SEAs for each structure removal application and the expectation that nonexplosive/mechanical removal techniques would be required at locations in close proximity to live bottom habitats.

If a reasonably foreseeable, accidental release of contaminants, such as a small oil spill and loss of well control, were to occur, any impacts to live bottom habitats and their ability to support managed fisheries species are expected to be minor, short-term, and localized. The depths of Pinnacle Trend features (130 ft [40 m] or more below the sea surface) work to minimize any contact with surface oil and the sparseness of these habitats on the OCS, combined with the

random nature of oil spill locations and distance guidance described in NTLs, serves to limit the extent and intensity of damage from any given oil spill to these features. Impacts to low relief live bottom habitats, which are primarily located in the eastern GOM along the continental shelf and well distanced from BOEM-regulated activities on the OCS, are not expected to come into contact with oil from a small, reasonably foreseeable spill. If emergency response activities took place over live bottom habitats, physical damage from direct contact with vessel anchors and booms could occur and would result in adverse impacts to sessile benthic organisms. Last, the cumulative impacts to live bottom habitats associated with the proposed action represent minor, adverse incremental contributions to the quality of these habitats and their ability to serve as EFH for managed species largely due adherence to live bottom lease stipulation, COAs, and the minimum distance guidance developed during past EFH consultations (i.e., for Pinnacle Trend features, specifically).

#### 8.5 Potentially Sensitive Biological Features

As with other live bottom habitats, BOEM-regulated activities associated with the proposed action-such as bottom-disturbing activities (e.g., pipeline emplacement, drilling, and anchoring), the release of operational discharges, and structure removal and/or decommissioning-have the ability to adversely impact PSBFs. Adherence to the requirements of the live bottom lease stipulation and applied COAs greatly reduces the risks of these impacts. BOEM routinely applies COAs to ensure approved bottom-disturbing activities are appropriately distanced from sensitive benthic habitats (e.g., 2,000 ft [610 m] buffer for drilling activity). However, there is currently no minimum distancing guidance developed for PSBFs and bottom-disturbing activities (e.g., those caused by anchors, chains, or cables) that could impact PSBFs, such as the 100 ft [30m] minimum distance recommended for Pinnacle Trend features. For activities proposed within 100 ft (30 m) of identified PSBFs, operators are required to supply post-activity reports to BSEE documenting that no physical contact with any identified features occurred. This mitigation measure greatly reduces the risk of physical impacts (e.g., crushing). However, it may be possible for PSBFs to experience some level of sedimentation or burial resulting from nearby bottom-disturbing activities, which may result in short-term, localized, and minor impacts to PSBFs. Any future decommissioning activities using explosives are not expected to result in adverse impacts due BSEE's development of SEAs and application of COAs for each structure removal application and the expectation that mechanical removal techniques would be required at locations in close proximity to PSBFs.

Accidental releases of contaminants into OCS waters can also result in negative impacts to PSBFs. Impacts resulting from a small oil spill in offshore waters would be comparable to those described previously for live bottoms (e.g., Pinnacle Trend features) and are not expected to result in significant adverse impacts to PSBFs. Response activities (e.g., emergency anchoring) could result in direct, adverse impacts to PSBFs by crushing sessile benthic organisms such as corals. Due to a lack of protective lease stipulations for PSBFs, the proposed action may contribute minor, adverse incremental impacts to the overall cumulative impacts affecting these habitats and their ability to serve as EFH.

#### 8.6 Topographic Features

BOEM-regulated activities associated with the proposed action–such as pipeline emplacement, drilling, and anchoring, the release of operational discharges, and structure removal and/or decommissioning–have the ability to adversely impact topographic features. However, significant adverse impacts to topographic features and their associated biota are not expected. Adherence to topographic lease stipulations and the COAs applied during site-specific reviews (e.g., shunting of drill cuttings and fluids) would largely prevent physical impacts from the emplacement of subsea infrastructure, sedimentation or burial resulting from bottom disturbances, and any potential toxicity-related impacts from exposure to drill cuttings and fluids. As with live bottom habitats, any future decommissioning activities using explosives are not expected to result in adverse impacts to the biota inhabiting topographic features due BSEE's development of SEAs and the application of COAs for each structure removal application and the expectation that mechanical removal techniques would be required at locations in close proximity to these sensitive habitats.

Contaminants from a small oil spill and loss of well control are not expected to reach topographic features due to BOEM's implementation of the Topographic Features Stipulation, which works to distance such events from these features. This stipulation would prevent most of the potential impacts to associated communities from a loss of well control, surface and subsurface oil spills, and related effects. Only large spills, particularly those which require the use of chemical dispersants, would be expected to potentially reach topographic features. Because of the increased distance requirements for these features, any impacts to biota surrounding topographic features are expected to be short-term, sub-lethal, and at the community level. Organisms inhabiting topographic features may be at risk from spill clean-up and response activities. Potential impacts to topographic features would be similar to those described previously for live Bottom habitats (pinnacles and low relief) and PSBFs, resulting from bottom-disturbing activities (i.e., emergency anchoring). Last, the cumulative impacts to features associated with the proposed action represent minor, adverse incremental contributions to the quality of these habitats and their ability to serve as EFH for managed species largely due to the more stringent protective measures currently in place (e.g., topographic lease stipulations).

## 8.7 Sargassum Communities

Pelagic *Sargassum* and their associated communities may be adversely impacted by activities associated with the proposed action that could result in contact with drilling muds and cuttings, operational discharges, and unanticipated releases into the environment. Larval fish and eggs found in association with *Sargassum* habitat would be the most sensitive to discharge-induced turbidity, toxicity, and/or sedimentation. However, the expected level of impact would be highly variable and dependent on a variety of factors including season, winds, prevailing surface currents, wave action, discharge type and concentrations, and dispersion rates. In general, it is expected that any discharges and associated changes in water temperature would be rapidly diluted to background levels and potential impacts to *Sargassum* and its associated biota would be highly localized, primarily sub-lethal, and not result in population-level impacts.

Reasonably foreseeable accidental events (e.g., small surface oil or fuel spills) that may occur as a result of the proposed action, could negatively impact *Sargassum* and their associated communities, particularly eggs and larvae, if they are exposed to toxicants. However,

considering its ubiquitous distribution throughout the GOM, quick growth cycle, and *Sargassum's* patchy and ephemeral nature, negligible impacts to very localized portions of *Sargassum* habitat and communities in the GOM would be expected.

Overall, it is expected that the incremental contributions from the proposed action would result in negligible, adverse cumulative impacts to *Sargassum* and not result in a wide-spread inability of this habitat to serve as EFH. Past and present BOEM-regulated activities, as well as other anthropogenic stressors (i.e., commercial and recreational vessel traffic) do not appear to cause significant degradation and declines in available *Sargassum* habitat and associated communities in the GOM. Some stressors, such nutrient enrichment from land-based outflows, may actually increase the total availability of *Sargassum* habitat in the GOM.

### 8.8 Deepwater Benthic Habitats

BOEM-regulated activities such as physical impacts from anchoring, structure emplacement, and pipeline installation, the discharge of drilling muds and cuttings, and structure removals/decommissioning could adversely impact deepwater benthic habitats (i.e., chemosynthetic and deepwater coral communities) in the GOM. However, the overall level of impact to these habitats in the GOM is expected to be negligible due to adherence to applied COAs reflecting minimum distance requirements developed during past EFH consultations (see Section 2-Lease Stipulations and Guidance). Adherence to COAs and minimum distancing requirements greatly reduces the risk of physical impacts (e.g., crushing) due to structure or pipeline emplacement and impacts related to the exposure of organisms to drilling discharges (i.e., turbidity, sedimentation, and contaminants) by requiring bottom-disturbing activities are distanced from deepwater benthic habitats (i.e.,  $\geq 2,000$  ft [610 m]). Any potential impacts to these habitats from decommissioning is expected to be negligible due to the regulations and mitigations BSEE uses to minimize negative effects to sensitive benthic habitats (i.e., the use of mechanical versus explosive severance techniques near productive benthic habitats). Reasonably foreseeable accidental events, such as small oil or chemical spills in surface waters are expected to have negligible impacts to deepwater benthic communities as contaminants have a very small chance of reaching these deepwater habitats in significant concentrations. The cumulative impacts to deepwater benthic communities associated with the proposed action represent negligible, adverse incremental contributions to the quality of these habitats and their ability to serve as EFH for managed species. This is largely due to the distance guidance described in NTL-2009-G40 (MMS 2009b) and applied through COAs intended to mitigate potential impacts to deepwater benthic habitats as a result of drilling discharges.

## 8.9 Managed Species

BOEM-regulated activities that could occur in association with the proposed action–such as the release of operational discharges and wastes, the emplacement of subsea infrastructure, coastal habitat modifications (i.e., maintenance dredging of inshore canals and the creation of new pipeline landfalls), and noise produced from a variety of sources (e.g., vessel traffic, seismic airguns, and explosive structure removals)–have the potential to impact managed species in the northern GOM. However, it is expected that any coastal and marine habitat modifications resulting from these activities would cause a nondetectable decrease in managed species, most of

which are widely distributed throughout the GOM and into the Caribbean and/or western Atlantic waters.

Potential impacts from routine discharges and wastes are expected to be negligible, short-term, and localized due to adherence to distance and contaminant level requirements in BOEM's NTLs and NPDES permits, respectively. The emplacement of subsea infrastructure on the OCS is expected to have more long-term and wide-spread impacts to managed species in the region because these structures provide additional habitat that has been shown to support relatively high densities of managed fisheries species. Conversely, they may also assist in the proliferation of invasive species. Due to the use of modern dredging and disposal practices and techniques used during canal maintenance and pipeline installation, and the low probability of new pipeline landfall construction, the expected impacts from coastal habitat modifications are expected to be minor, localized, and not result in population-level impacts to managed species (i.e., via indirect impacts to estuarine EFH). Noise-related impacts to managed species are expected to vary (i.e., physically, temporally, and spatially) widely depending on the sound source, the distance between the sound and the receiving organism, the type of species (e.g., with or without a swim bladder), life-stage, and prior experience (i.e., potential for habituation), and they are not expected to result in population-level impacts. Though it is expected that some level of mortality to managed fisheries species (e.g., red snapper) will occur during the use of explosive structure removal techniques, studies have indicated that the documented mortalities do not result in stocklevel impacts to fisheries species in the region under the current rate of explosive structure removals in the GOM (Gallaway et al. 2020; Gitschlag et al. 2001).

Small, reasonably foreseeable oil spills or loss of well control would likely result in short-term effects on the environment that could temporarily affect habitat suitability for managed species. Much of the OCS oil- and gas-related activity occurs far offshore where released oil interacts with currents, waves, and other physiological processes, which would allow for the toxicity of spilled oil to be greatly reduced or eliminated by weathering and biodegradation before reaching managed species in any meaningful concentration. If managed species were to interact with spillrelated contaminants, the nature of effects would vary depending on life stage, level of exposure, duration, and associated response activities. Response activities, such as the burning of surface oil or the use of dispersants, could potentially exacerbate impacts to the eggs and larvae of managed species. However, it is expected that controlled surface burning would impact only a very small portion of a managed species larval cohort and the use of dispersants for a small oil spill in considered unlikely. The depths of benthic habitats, the application of COAs, and minimum distance requirements developed during past EFH consultations (see Chapter 2-Lease Stipulations and Guidance) are expected to largely avoid interactions between sessile managed species (e.g., corals), demersal fish species, and spill-related contaminants. Overall, the impacts to managed species in the GOM from reasonably foreseeable accidental events are expected to be minor, short-term, and not result in population or stock-level impacts. In terms of cumulative impacts, the incremental contributions resulting from a small spill are considered to be negligible to minor when considering other natural and/or anthropogenic impacts such as coastal eutrophication and fishing-related impacts.

## References

- Able K, Grimes C, Cooper R, Uzmann J. 1982. Burrow construction and behavior of tilefish, *Lopholatilus chamaeleonticeps*, in Hudson Submarine Canyon. Environ Biol Fishes. 7(3):199–205.
- Acosta C, Butler IV M. 1997. Role of mangrove habitat as a nursery for juvenile spiny lobster, *Panulirus argus*, in Belize. Mar Freshwater Res. 48(8):721—727. doi:10.1071/mf96105.
- Adcroft A, Hallberg R, Dunne JP, Samuels BL, Galt JA, Barker CH, Payton D. 2010. Simulations of underwater plumes of dissolved oil in the Gulf of Mexico. Geophys Res Lett. 37(L18605):1–5. doi:10.1029/2010GL044689.
- Anchor Environmental CA L.P. 2003. Literature review of effects of resuspended sediments due to dredging operations. Irvine (CA): Anchor Environmental C.A. L.P. 140 p.
- Anderson Lively JA, McKenzie J. 2014. Toxicity of the dispersant Corexit 9500 to early life stages of blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus*. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol. 93:649–653. doi:10.1007/s00128-014-1370-y.
- Baca BJ, Lankford TE, Gundlach ER. 1987. Recovery of Brittany coastal marshes in the eight years following the *Amoco Cadiz* incident. International Oil Spill Conference Proceedings. [accessed 2022 Apr 27]; 1987(1): 459–464; doi:10.7901/2169-3358-1987-1-459.
- Baguley JG, Montagna PA, Cooksey C, Hyland JL, Bang HW, Morrison C, Kamikawa A, Bennetts P, Saiyo G, Parsons E, et al. 2015. Community response of deep-sea softsediment metazoan meiofauna to the *Deepwater Horizon* blowout and oil spill. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 528:127–140. doi:10.3354/meps11290.
- Baker JM, Leonardo GM, Bartlett PD, Little DI, Wilson CM. 1993. Long-term fate and effects of untreated thick oil deposits on salt marshes. IOSC [International Oil Spill Conference] Proceedings. Washington (DC) and Lawrence (KS): American Petroleum Institute and Allen Press. p. 395–399. doi:10.7901/2169-3358-1993-1-395.
- Bass R, Avault Jr. JW. 1975. Food habits, length-weight relationship, condition factor and growth of juvenile red drum, *Sciaenops ocellata*, in Louisiana. Trans Am Fish Soc. 104(1):35–45. doi:10.1577/1548-8659(1975)104<35:FHLRCF>2.0.CO;2.
- Batubara DS, Adrian DD, Miles MS, Malone RF. 2014. A laboratory mesocosm as a tool to study PAH degradation in a coastal marsh wetland. In: International Oil Spill Conference Proceedings, May 5–8, 2014, Savannah, Georgia. Washington (DC) and Lawrence (KS): American Petroleum Institute and Allen Press. p. 400–407. [accessed 2020 Nov 8]; <a href="https://meridian.allenpress.com/iosc/article-pdf/2014/1/400/1753173/2169-3358-2014\_1\_400.pdf">https://meridian.allenpress.com/iosc/article-pdf/2014/1/400/1753173/2169-3358-2014\_1\_400.pdf</a>.
- Benfield MC, Minello TJ. 1996. Relative effects of turbidity and light intensity on reactive distance and feeding of an estuarine fish. Environ Biol Fishes. 46:211–216. doi:10.1007/BF00005223.
- Bentley Sr. SJ, Xu K, Georgiou IY, Maloney JM (Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA). 2022. Mass wasting processes and products of the Mississippi Delta front: data synthesis and observation. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean

Energy Management. 160 p. Cooperative Agreement No.: M13AC00013. Report No.: OCS Study BOEM 2022-007. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/BOEM\_2022-007.pdf

- Berryhill Jr. HL. 1987. Late quaternary facies and structure, northern Gulf of Mexico: interpretations from seismic data. Tulsa (OK): American Association of Petroleum Geologists.
- Bertelsen RD, Butler MJ, Herrnkind WF, Hunt JH. 2009. Regional characterisation of hardbottom nursery habitat for juvenile Caribbean spiny lobster(*Panulirus argus*)using rapid assessment techniques. NZ J Mar Freshwater Res. 43(1):299–312. doi:10.1080/00288330909510002.
- Beyer J, Trannum HC, Bakke T, Hodson PV, Collier TK. 2016. Environmental effects of the Deepwater Horizon oil spill: a review. Mar Pollut Bull. 110(1):28–51. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.06.027.
- Boaden AE, Kingsford MJ. 2015. Predators drive community structure in coral reef fish assemblages. Ecosphere. 6(4):1–33. doi:10.1890/es14-00292.1.
- Boeger WA, Pie MR, Ostrensky A, Cardoso MF. 2006. The effect of exposure to seismic prospecting on coral reef fishes. Braz J Oceanogr 54(4):235–239.
- Boehm PD, Fiest DL. 1982. Subsurface distributions of petroleum from an offshore well blowout. The Ixtoc I blowout, Bay of Campeche. Environ Sci Technol. 16(2):67–74. doi:10.1021/es00096a003.
- BOEM [Bureau of Ocean Energy Management] (Eastern Research Group, Inc., Lexington, MA).
  2011. Outer continental shelf oil and gas leasing program: 2012–2017. Draft
  programmatic environmental impact statement. Volume 2. Washington (DC): US
  Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. 415 p. Report No.:
  OCS EIS/EA BOEM 2011-001. [accessed 2022 2 May]; Combined\_20122017 OCS Oil and Gas Leasing Draft Programmati.pdf (boem.gov)
- BOEM [Bureau of Ocean Energy Management]. 2016. Essential fish habitat assessment for the Gulf of Mexico. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. 62 p. Report No.: OCS Report BOEM 2016-016. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; <u>https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/environmental-stewardship/Environmental-Assessment/NEPA/Report-Essential-Fish-Habitat-Assessment-2016.pdf</u>
- BOEM [Bureau of Ocean Energy Management]. 2021a. Biological environmental background report for the Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy and Management. 298 p. Report No.: OCS Report BOEM 2021-015. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; <u>https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/documents/environment/Biological%20Environ</u> mental%20Background%20Report%20for%20the%20GOM.pdf
- BOEM [Bureau of Ocean Energy Management]. 2021b. Gulf of Mexico catastrophic spill event analysis: high-volume, extended-duration oil spill resulting from loss of well control on the Gulf of Mexico outer continental shelf. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. 364 p. Report No.: OCS Report BOEM 2021-007. [accessed 2022 Apr 26];

https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/documents/environment/GOM%20Catastrophic %20Spill%20Event%20Analysis%202021.pdf.

- Böer B. 1993. Anomalous pneumatophores and adventitious roots of *Avicennia marina* (Forssk.) Vierh. Mangroves two years after the 1991 Gulf War oil spill in Saudi Arabia. Mar Pollut Bull. 27:207–211. doi:10.1016/0025-326X(93)90026-G.
- Boesch DF, Josselyn MN, Mehta AJ, Morris JT, Nuttle WK, Simenstad CA, Swift DJP. 1994. Scientific assessment of coastal wetland loss, restoration and management in Louisiana. J Coastal Res. [accessed 2021 Dec 3]; (Special Issue no. 20.):1–109; <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/25735693</u>.
- Boland GS, Etnoyer PJ, Fisher CR, Hickerson EL. 2017. State of deep-sea coral and sponge ecosystems of the Gulf of Mexico region. In: Hourigan TF, Etnoyer PJ, Cairns SD, editors. The state of deep-sea coral and sponge ecosystems of the United States. Silver Spring (MD): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-OHC-4. p. 320—378. [accessed 2020 Oct 23]; <u>https://deepseacoraldata.noaa.gov/library/2015-state-of-dsc-report-folder/Ch11\_Boland%20et%20al.%202016\_DSC%20Ecosystems%20-%20Gulf%20of%20Mexico%20Region%20Final.pdf.</u>
- Bolle LJ, de Jong CA, Bierman SM, van Beek PJ, van Keeken OA, Wessels PW, van Damme CJ, Winter HV, de Haan D, Dekeling RP. 2012. Common sole larvae survive high levels of pile-driving sound in controlled exposure experiments. PLoS ONE. 7(3):e33052. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0033052.
- Booman C, Dalen J, Leivestad H, Levsen A, van der Meeren T, Toklum K. 1996. Effects of airguns on eggs, larvae, and fry. Fish and sea: popular reports and messages from the Directorate of Fisheries. 3:83.
- Boothby RN, Avault Jr. JW. 1971. Food habits, length-weight relationship, and condition factor of the red drum (*Sciaenops ocellata*) in southeastern Louisiana. Trans Am Fish Soc. 100(2):290–295. doi:10.1577/1548-8659(1971)100<290:FHLRAC>2.0.CO;2.
- Bright TJ, Rezak R (Texas A&M Research Foundation and Texas A&M Department of Oceanography, College Station, TX). 1976. A biological and geological reconnaissance of selected topographical features of the Texas continental shelf: a final report. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management. 377 p. Report No.: Publication No. 1976-2.
- Bright TJ, Rezak R (Texas A&M University, College Station, TX). 1978. Northwestern Gulf of Mexico topographic features study: final report. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management. 692 p. Contract No.: AA550-CT7-15. Report No.: OCS Study 1978-4. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/4069.pdf.
- Brooks JM, Fisher C, Roberts H, Cordes E, Baums I, Bernard B, Church R, Etnoyer P, German C, Goehring E, et al. (TDI-Brookes International, Inc., College Station, TX). 2016.
  Exploration and research of northern Gulf of Mexico deepwater natural and artificial hard bottom habitats with emphasis on coral communities: reefs, rigs, and wrecks–"Lophelia II". Final report: volume I: technical report. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. 684 p. Contract No.: M08PC20028.
Report No.: OCS Study BOEM 2016-021. [accessed 2020 Oct 23]; https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/5522.pdf.

- Brooks JM, Giammona CP (Texas A&M University, College Station, TX). 1991. Mississippi-Alabama continental shelf ecosystem study: data summary and synthesis. Volume II: technical narrative. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 862 p. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 91-0063. <u>https://espis.boem.gov/final reports/3646.pdf</u>
- Burns KA, Garrity SD, Levings SC. 1993. How many years until mangrove ecosystems recover from catastrophic oil spills? Mar Pollut Bull. 26(5):239–248. doi:10.1016/0025-326X(93)90062-O.
- Carlson Jr. PR, Madley K. 2007. Statewide summary for Florida. In: Handley DA, Altsman D, DeMay R, editors. Seagrass status and trends in the northern Gulf of Mexico: 1940-2002. Reston (VA): US Dept. of the Interior, Geological Survey, Scientific Investigations
   Report 2006-5287 and US Environmental Protection Agency, 855-R-04-003. p. 99–114. [accessed 2022 Apr 29];
   http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2006/5287/pdf/StatewideSummaryforFlorida.pdf.

Carr RS, Chapman DC, Presley BJ, Biedenbach JM, Robertson L, Boothe P, Kilada R, Wade T, Montagna P. 1996. Sediment porewater toxicity assessment studies in the vicinity of offshore oil and gas production platforms in the Gulf of Mexico. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 53:2618–2682. doi:10.1139/f96-218.

- Carter GA, Lucas KL, Biber PD, Criss GA, Blossom GA. 2011. Historical changes in seagrass coverage on the Mississippi barrier islands, northern Gulf of Mexico, determined from vertical aerial imagery (1940–2007). Geocarto Int. 26(8):663–673. doi:10.1080/10106049.2011.620634.
- Castellanos DL, Rozas LP. 2001. Nekton use of submerged aquatic vegetation, marsh, and shallow unvegetated bottom in the Atchafalaya River Delta, a Louisiana tidal freshwater ecosystem. Estuaries. 24(2):184–197. doi:10.2307/1352943.
- CDC [Centers for Disease Control]. 2010. Oil spill dispersant (COREXIT EC9500A and EC9527A) information health professionals. Atlanta (GA): US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. [accessed 2020 Nov 20]; <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/oil\_spill/docs/Oil%20Spill%20Dispersant.pdf">https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/oil\_spill/docs/Oil%20Spill%20Dispersant.pdf</a>.
- Chapman CJ, Hawkins AD. 1969. The importance of sound in fish behaviour in relation to capture by trawls. Aberdeen (GB). 717–732 p.
- Chapman PM, Power EA, Dexter RN, Andersen HB. 1991. Evaluation of effects associated with an oil platform, using the sediment quality triad. Environ Toxicol Chem. 10:407–424. doi:10.1002/etc.5620100313.
- Chen Y. 2017. Chapter 9: fish resources of the Gulf of Mexico. In: Ward CH, editor. Habitats and biota of the Gulf of Mexico: before the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill: Volume 2: fish resources, fisheries, sea turtles, avian resources, marine mammals, diseases and mortalities. New York (NY): Springer. p. 868–1038. [accessed 2020 Nov 16]; <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2F978-1-4939-3456-0\_1.pdf</u>.

- Chesney EJ, Baltz DM, Thomas GR. 2000. Louisiana estuarine and coastal fisheries and habitats: perspectives fom a fish's eye view. Ecol Appl. 10(2):350–366. doi:10.1890/1051-0761(2000)010[0350:LEACFA]2.0.CO;2.
- Cook CB, Knap AH. 1983. Effects of crude oil and chemical dispersant on photosynthesis in the brain coral *Diploria strigosa*. Mar Biol. 78:21–27. doi:10.1007/BF00288254.
- Corwin JT. 1981. Postembryonic production and aging of inner ear hair cells in sharks. J Comp Neurol. 201(4):541—553.
- Cox B, Dux A, Quist M, Guy C. 2012. Use of a seismic air gun to reduce survival of nonnative lake trout embryos: a tool for conservation? N Am J Fish Manage. 32(2):292—298. doi:10.1080/02755947.2012.675960.
- CSA [Continental Shelf Associates, Inc., Jupiter, FL]. 1992. Mississippi-Alabama shelf pinnacle trend habitat mapping study. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. 98 p. Contract No.: 14-35-0001-30494. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 92-0026.
- CSA [Continental Shelf Associates, Inc., Jupiter, FL]. 2004a. Final report. Gulf of Mexico comprehensive synthetic based muds monitoring program. Volume II: technical report. Houston (TX); Jupiter (FL): SBM Research Group, Shell Global Solutions U.S., Continental Shelf Associates, Inc. 358 p. [accessed 2020 Oct 27]; <a href="https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/3051.pdf">https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/3051.pdf</a>.
- CSA [Continental Shelf Associates, Inc., Jupiter, FL]. 2004b. Geological and geophysical exploration for mineral resources on the Gulf of Mexico outer continental shelf: final programmatic environmental assessment. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 466 p. Report No.: OCS EA/EIS MMS 2004-054. [accessed 2020 Oct 28]; <u>https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/oil-and-gas-energy-program/GOMR/2004-054.pdf</u>.
- Dahl TE, Stedman SM. 2013. Status and trends of wetlands in the coastal watersheds of the conterminous United States 2004 to 2009. Washington (DC): US Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service. [accessed 2020 Nov 04]; <u>https://www.fws.gov/wetlands/documents/status-and-trends-of-wetlands-in-the-coastalwatersheds-of-the-conterminous-us-2004-to-2009.pdf</u>.
- Davidsen JG, Dong H, Linné M, Andersson M, Piper A, Prystay TS, Hvam EB, Thorstad EB, Whoriskey F, Cooke SJ, et al. 2019. Effects of sound exposure from a seismic airgun on heart rate, acceleration and depth use in free-swimming Atlantic cod and saithe. Conserv Physiol. 7:1–19. doi:10.1093/conphys/coz020.
- Day Jr JW, Shaffer GP, Reed DJ, Cahoon DR, Britsch LD, Hawes SR. 2001. Patterns and processes of wetland loss in coastal Louisiana are complex: a reply to Turner 2001. Estimating the indirect effects of hydrologic change on wetland loss: if the earth is curved, then how would we know it? Estuaries. 24(4):647–651.
- Day JW, Britsch LD, Hawes SR, Shaffer GP, Reed DJ, Cahoon D. 2000. Pattern and process of land loss in the Mississippi Delta: a spatial and temporal analysis of wetland habitat change. Estuaries. 23(4):425–438. doi:10.2307/1353136.

- De Robertis A, Ryer CH, Veloza A, Brodeur RD. 2003. Differential effects of turbidity on prey consumption of piscivorous and planktivorous fish. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 60:1517–1526. doi:10.1139/f03-123.
- de Soto NA. 2016. Peer-reviewed studies on the effects of anthropogenic noise on marine invertebrates: from scallop larvae to giant squid. In: Popper A, Hawkins A, editors. The rffects of noise on aquatic life II advances in experimental medicine and biology, vol 875. New York (NY): Springer. p. 17–26. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26610940</u>.
- DeLaune RD, Patrick Jr. WH, Buresh RJ. 1979. Effect of crude oil on a Louisiana *Spartina alterniflora* salt marsh. Environ Pollut. 20(1):21–31. doi:10.1016/0013-9327(79)90050-8.
- DeLaune RD, Wright AL. 2011. Projected impact of *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill on U.S. Gulf Coast wetlands. Soil Sci Soc Am J. 75(5):1602–1612. doi:10.2136/sssaj2011.0168.
- Det Norske Veritas. 2006. Technical report. Pipeline damage assessment from Hurricane Ivan in the Gulf of Mexico. Revision No. 2. Herndon (VA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 70 p. Report No.: 440 38570.
- Det Norske Veritas. 2007. Technical report. Pipeline damage assessment from Hurricanes Katrina and Rita in the Gulf of Mexico. Revision No. 1. Herndon (VA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 106 p. Report No.: 448 14183.
- Dodge RE, Wyers SC, Frith HR, Knap AH, Smith SR, Sleeter TD. 1984. The effects of oil and oil dispersants on the skeletal growth of the hermatypic coral *Diploria strigosa*. Coral Reefs. 3:191–198. doi:10.1007/BF00288254.
- Doody JP. 2004. 'Coastal squeeze'—an historical perspective. J Coastal Conserv. 10:129–138. doi:10.1652/1400-0350(2004)010[0129:CSAHP]2.0.CO;2.
- Dooley JK. 1972. Fishes associated with the pelagic *Sargassum* complex, with a discussion of the *Sargassum* community. ContribMar Sci.16:1–32. [accessed 2020 Nov 17]; <u>https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/18022/txu-oclc-1565005-16.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y</u>.
- Doyle E, Franks J. 2015. Fact sheet: pelagic *Sargassum* influx in the wider Caribbean. Marathon (FL): Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute, Inc. [accessed 2020 Nov 20]; <u>http://www.sargassoseacommission.org/storage/documents/GCFI\_Sargassum\_Fact\_Sheet\_Doyle\_and\_Franks\_Sept\_2015.pdf</u>.
- Duke NC, Bell AM, Pederson DK, Roelfsema CM, Bengtson Nash S. 2005. Herbicides implicated as the cause of severe mangrove dieback in the Mackay region, NE Australia: consequences for marine plant habitats of the GBR World Heritage Area. Mar Pollut Bull. 51(1–4):308–324. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2004.10.040.
- Duke NC, Burns KA. 2003. Fate and effects of oil and dispersed oil on mangrove ecosystems in Australia. Environmental implications of offshore oil and gas development in Australia: further research, a compilation of three scientific marine studies. Canberra (AU): Australian Petroleum Production and Exploration Association (APPEA). p. 232–363.
- Duke NC, Pinzón M ZS, Prada T MC. 1997. Large-scale damage to mangrove forests following two large oil spills in Panama. Biotropica. 29(1):2–14. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7429.1997.tb00001.x.

- Duke NC, Watkinson AJ. 2002. Chlorophyll-deficient propagules of *Avicennia marina* and apparent longer term deterioration of mangrove fitness in oil-polluted sediments. Mar Pollut Bull. 44:1269–1276. doi:10.1016/S0025-326X(02)00221-7.
- Elgershuizen JHBW, De Kruijf HAM. 1976. Toxicity of crude oils and a dispersant to the stony coral *Madracis mirabilis*. Mar Pollut Bull. 7(2):22–25.
- Emery WJ, Cherkauer K, Shannon B. 1997. Hull-mounted sea surface temperatures from ships of opportunity. J Atmos Oceanic Technol. 14(5):1237–1251.
- Erftemeijer PLA, Lewis III RRR. 2006. Environmental impacts of dredging on seagrasses: a review. Mar Pollut Bull. 52(12):1553–1572. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.09.006.
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration]. 2014. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants: final listing determinations on proposal to list 66 reef-building coral species and to reclassify elkhorn and staghorn corals. Fed Regist. 79(175) (September 10): 53852–54123. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2014-09-10/pdf/2014-20814.pdf</u>
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration]. 2017. Atlantic highly migratory species: essential fish habitat; final rule. August 30, 2017. Fed Regist. 82(172) (August 30): 42329–42337. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2017-09-07/pdf/2017-18961.pdf</u>.
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration]. 2021. Expansion of Flower Garden Banks National Marine Sanctuary. Fed Regist. 86(11) (January 19): 4937–4961 [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2021-01-19/pdf/2021-</u>00887.pdf.
- Fingas M. 2017. A review of literature related to oil spill dispersants. Edmonton (CA): Prince William Sound Regional Citizens' Advisory Council. [accessed 2020 Nov 20]; <u>https://www.pwsrcac.org/wp-content/uploads/filebase/board\_meetings/2018-05-03\_board\_meeting/4-07--Attachment%20B--\_\_\_\_\_A%20Review%20of%20Literature%20Related%20to%20Oil%20Spill%20Dispersants,%20September%202017.pdf.</u>
- Fischel M, Grip W, Mendelssohn IA. 1989. Study to determine the recovery of a Louisiana marsh from an oil spill. In: Ludwigson JO, editor. Proceedings of the 1989 International Oil Spill Conference, 13–16 February 1989, San Antonio, Texas. Washington (DC): American Petroleum Institute. [accessed 2020 Nov 08]. p. 383–387. https://meridian.allenpress.com/iosc/article-pdf/1989/1/383/1741407/2169-3358-1989-1-383.pdf.
- Fisher CR, Demopoulos AWJ, Cordes EE, Baums IB, White HK, Bourque JR. 2014a. Coral communities as indicators of ecosystem-level impacts of the *Deepwater Horizon* spill. BioScience. 64(9):796–807. doi:10.1093/biosci/biu129.
- Fisher CR, Hsing PY, Kaiser CL, Yoerger DR, Roberts HH, Shedd WW, Cordes EE, Shank TM, Berlet SP, Saunders MG, et al. 2014b. Footprint of *Deepwater Horizon* blowout impact to deep-water coral communities. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 111(32):11744–11749. doi:10.1073/pnas.1403492111.

- Frazer TK, Notestein SK, Jacoby CA, Littles CJ, Keller SR, Swett RA. 2006. Effects of storminduced salinity changes on submersed aquatic vegetation in Kings Bay, Florida. Estuaries Coasts. 29(6A):943–953. doi:10.1007/BF02798655.
- Frazier JT, Linton TL, Webster RK. 2015. Advanced prediction of the intra-Americas *Sargassum* season through analysis of the *Sargassum* loop system using remote sensing technology. Shore and Beach. 83(4):15–21.
- Fucik KW, Bright TJ, Goodman KS. 1984. Measurements of damage, recovery, and rehabilitation of coral reefs exposed to oil. In: Cairns J, Buikema Jr. AL, editors. Restoration of habitats impacted by oil spills. Boston (MA): Butterworth Publishers. p. 115–133.
- Fucik KW, Carr KA, Balcom BJ. 1995. Toxicity of oil and dispersed oil to the eggs and larvae of seven marine fish and invertebrates from the Gulf of Mexico. In: Lane P, editor. The use of chemicals in oil spill response. Philadelphia (PA): American Society of Testing and Materials. p. 135–171.
- Gagliano M (Minerals Management Service, New Orleans, LA). 2007. Offshore pipeline stability during major storm events. Presented at: Government/Industry Pipeline Research and Development Forum February 7–8, 2007; New Orleans (LA). [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://primis.phmsa.dot.gov/rd/mtgs/020707/MannyGagliano.pdf</u>
- Gallaway B, Raborn S, McCain K, Beyea T, Dufault S, Heyman W, Kim K, Conrad A (LGL Ecological Research Associates, Inc., Bryan, TX). 2020. Explosive removal of structures: fisheries impact assessment. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management. 151 p. Contract No.: M16PC0005. Report No.: OCS Study BOEM 2020-038. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; https://marinecadastre.gov/espis/#/search/study/100150
- Gearhart R, Jones D, Borgens A, Laurence S, DeMunda T, Shipp J (PBS&J, Austin, TX). 2011. Impact of recent hurricane activity on historic shipwrecks in the Gulf of Mexico outer continental shelf. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement. 205 p. Contract No.: M07PC13010. Report No.: OCS Study BOEMRE 2011-003. [accessed 2020 Dec 21]; https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/5111.pdf.
- Gilbert P, Seitzinger S, Heil C, Burkholder J, Parrow M, Codispoti L, Kelly V. 2005. Eutrophication in the global proliferation of harmful algal blooms–new perspectives and new approaches. Oceanography. 18(2):198–209.
- Gitschlag GR, Schirripa MJ, Powers JE (National Marine Fisheries Service, Miami, FL). 2001. Estimation of fisheries impacts due to underwater explosives used to sever and salvage oil and gas platforms in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico: final report. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 96 p. Interagency Agreement No.: 17912. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 2000-087. [accessed 2020 Nov 16]; <u>https://www.bsee.gov/sites/bsee.gov/files/reports/safety/fisheries-impacts-due-tounderwater-explosions-finalreport.pdf</u>.
- Gittings SR, Boland GS, Deslarzes KJP, Hagman DK, S HB (Texas A&M University, College Station, TX). 1993. Long-term monitoring at the East and West Flower Garden Banks. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 198 p.

Contract No.: 14-12-0001-30452. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 92-0006. [accessed 2020 Oct 28]; <u>https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/3624.pdf</u>.

- GOMFMC [Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council]. 2004. Final environmental impact statement for the Generic Essential Fish Habitat Amendment to the following fishery management plans of the Gulf of Mexico (GOM): shrimp fishery of the Gulf of Mexico; red drum fishery of the Gulf of Mexico; reef fish fishery of the Gulf of Mexico; stone crab fishery of the Gulf of Mexico; coral and coral reef fishery of the Gulf of Mexico; spiny lobster fishery of the Gulf of Mexico and South Atlantic; coastal migratory pelagic resources of the Gulf of Mexico and South Atlantic. Volume 1: text. Tampa (FL): Gulf of Mexico Fishery Mangement Council. 682 p. [accessed 2020 Oct 21]; https://gulfcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/March-2004-Final-EFH-EIS.pdf.
- GOMFMC [Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council]. 2021. Coral Fishery Management Plan amendments. Tampa (FL): Gulf of Mexico Fishery Management Council; [accessed 2021 Mar 11]; <u>https://gulfcouncil.org/fishery-management/implemented-plans/coral/</u>.
- Goertner JF, Wiley ML, Young GA, McDonald WW. 1994. Effects of underwater explosions on fish without swimbladders. Silver Spring (MD): Naval Surface Warfare Center, Dahlgren Division, White Oak Detachment. Report No.: NSWC TR 88-114. [accessed 2020 Dec 15]; <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a276407.pdf</u>.
- Govoni JJ, West MA, Settle LR, Lynch RT, Greene MD. 2008. Effects of underwater explosions on larval fish: implications for a coastal engineering project. J Coastal Res. 24(2B):228– 233. doi:10.2112/05-0518.1.
- Gower J, Hu C, Borstad G, King S. 2006. Ocean color satellites show extensive lines of floating *Sargassum* in the Gulf of Mexico. IEEE Trans Geosci Remote Sens. 44(12):3619–3625. doi:10.1109/tgrs.2006.882258.
- Gower JFR, King SA. 2011. Distribution of floating *Sargassum* in the Gulf of Mexico and the Atlantic Ocean mapped using MERIS. Int J Remote Sens. 32(7):1917–1929. doi:10.1080/01431161003639660.
- Green HS, Fuller SA, Meyer AW, Joyce PS, Aeppli C, Nelson RK, Swarthout RF, Valentine DL, White HK, Reddy CM. 2018. Pelagic tar balls collected in the North Atlantic Ocean and Caribbean Sea from 1988 to 2016 have natural and anthropogenic origins. Mar Pollut Bull. 137:352–359. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.10.030.
- Guzmán HM, Holst I. 1993. Effects of chronic oil-sediment pollution on the reproduction of the Caribbean reef coral *Siderastrea siderea*. Mar Pollut Bull. 26:276–282. doi:10.1016/0025-326X(93)90068-U.
- Handley L, Altsman D, DeMay R, editors. 2007. Seagrass status and trends in the northern Gulf of Mexico: 1940-2002. Reston (VA): U.S. Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey. 267 p. Report No.: Scientific Investigations Report 2006–5287 and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 855-R-04-003. [accessed 2020 Aug 13]. <u>http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS106016</u>.
- Harris HE, Fogg AQ, Allen MS, Ahrens RNM, Patterson III WF. 2020. Precipitous declines in northern Gulf of Mexico invasive lionfish populations following the emergence of an ulcerative skin disease. Sci Rep. 10(1934):1–17. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-58886-8.

- Hart AD, Spring KD, Brooks JM, Presley BJ, Vittor BA. 1989. Fate and effects of drilling fluid and cutting discharges in shallow, nearshore waters. Washington (DC): American Petroleum Institute. 160 p. Report No.: API Publication, 4480.
- Hassel A, Knutsen T, Dalen J, Skaar K, Løkkeborg S, Misund O, Ostensen O, Fonn M, Haugland E. 2004. Influence of seismic shooting on the lesser sandeel (*Ammodytes marinus*). ICES J Mar Sci. 61(7):1165–1173. doi:10.1016/j.icesjms.2004.07.008.
- Hastings MC, Popper AN. 2005. Effects of sound on fish. Sacramento (CA): California Department of Transportation; [accessed 2020 Dec 15]. <u>https://www.arlis.org/docs/vol1/A/301596073.pdf</u>.
- Hastings MC, Reid CA, Grebe CC, Hearn RL, Colman JG. 2008. The effects of seismic airgun noise on the hearing sensitivity of tropical reef fishes at Scott Reef, Western Australia. APPEA [Australian Petroleum Production & Exploration Association] Journal. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; 49 (2): 567. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/AJ08040</u>.
- Hawkins AD, Hazelwood RA, Popper AN, Macey PC. 2021. Substrate vibrations and their potential effects upon fishes and invertebrates. J Acoust Soc Am. 149(4):2782. doi:10.1121/10.0004773.
- Hawkins AD, Roberts L, Cheesman S. 2014. Responses of free-living coastal pelagic fish to impulsive sounds. J Acoust Soc Am. 135(5):3101–3116. doi:10.1121/1.4870697].
- Hayes M, Hoff R, Michel J, Scholz D, Shigenaka G. 1992. An introduction to coastal habitats and biological resources for oil spill response. Seattle (WA): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Hazardous Materials Response and Assessment Division. 401 p. Report No.: HMRAD 92-4. [accessed 2022 2 May]; https://response.restoration.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/Monterey.pdf.
- Hayes MO, Domeracki DD, Getter CD, Kana TW, Scott GI. 1980. Sensitivity of coastal environments to spilled oil, south Texas coast (Rio Grande to Aransas Pass). Boulder (CO): U.S Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Office of Marine Pollution Assessment. 89 p. Report No.: RPI/R/80/4/11-12.
- Heck KL, Hays G, Orth RJ. 2003. Critical evaluation of the nursery role hypothesis for seagrass meadows. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 253:123–136. doi:10.3354/meps253123.
- Hemmer MJ, Barron MG, Greene RM. 2011. Comparative toxicity of eight oil dispersants, Louisiana sweet crude oil (LSC), and chemically dispersed LSC to two aquatic test species. Environ Toxicol Chem. 30(10):2244–2252. doi:10.1002/etc.619.
- Hensel P, Proffitt EC, Delgado P, Shigenaka G, Yender R, Michel J, Hoff R, Mearns AJ, Michel J. 2014. Oil spills in mangroves: planning & response considerations. Seattle (WA): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Office of Response and Restoration; [accessed 2020 Nov 09]. https://response.restoration.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/Oil Spill Mangrove.pdf.
- Hinwood JB, Potts AE, Dennis LR, Carey JM, Houridis H, Bell RJ, Thomson JR, Boudreau P, Ayling AM. 1994. Environmental implications of offshore oil and gas development in Australia– drilling activities. In: Swan JM, Neff JM, Young PC, editors. Environmental implications of offshore oil and gas development in Australia–the findings of an independent scientific review. Sydney(AU): Australian Petroleum Exploration Association. p. 124–206.

- Hofmann GE, Barry JP, Edmunds PJ, Gates RD, Hutchins DA, Klinger T, Sewell MA. 2010. The effect of ocean acidification of calcifying organisms: an organism-to-ecosystem perspective. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst. 41:127–147. doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120227.
- Holland-Bartels L, Kolak JJ. 2011. Chapter 5. Oil-spill risk, response, and impact. In: Holland-Bartels L, Pierce B, editors. An evaluation of the science needs to inform decisions on Outer Continental Shelf energy development in the Chukchi and Beaufort Seas, Alaska. Anchorage (AK): US Geological Survey. Report No.: USGS Circular 1370. p. 109–163. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://pubs.usgs.gov/circ/1370/</u>
- Hooper JR, Suhayda JN. 2005. Hurricane Ivan as a geologic force: Mississippi delta front seafloor failures. Paper presented at: Offshore Technology Conference (OTC 17737); 2005 May 2–5; Houston, TX. Paper No.: OTC 17737-MS. p. 1–4. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://onepetro.org/OTCONF/proceedings-abstract/05OTC/All-05OTC/OTC-17737-MS/29777</u>
- Hourigan TF. 2014. A strategic approach to address fisheries impacts on deep-sea coral ecosystems. In: Bortone SA, editor. Interrelationships between corals and fisheries. Boca Raton (FL): CRC Press, Inc. Chapter 8; p. 127–145.
- Hsing P-Y, Fu B, Larcom EA, Berlet SP, Shank TM, Govindarajan AF, Lukasiewicz AJ, Dixon PM, Fisher CR. 2013. Evidence of lasting impact of the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill on a deep Gulf of Mexico coral community. Elem Sci Anth. 1:000012. doi:10.12952/journal.elementa.000012.
- Hubert J, Campbell JA, Slabbekoorn H. 2020. Effects of seismic airgun playbacks on swimming patterns and behavioural states of Atlantic cod in a net pen. Mar Pollut Bull. 160:111680. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111680.
- Incardona JP, Gardner LD, Linbo TL, Brown TL, Esbaugh AJ, Mager EM, Stieglitz JD, French BL, Labenia JS, Laetz CA, et al. 2014. *Deepwater Horizon* crude oil impacts the developing hearts of large predatory pelagic fish. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 111(15):E1510–1518. doi:10.1073/pnas.1320950111.
- Inoue M, Welsh SE, Rouse LJ, Weeks E (Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA). 2008. Deepwater currents in the eastern Gulf of Mexico : observations at 25.5° N and 87° W. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 95 p. Contract No.: 1435-01-99-CA-30951-16805. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 2008-001. [accessed 2020 Dec 17]; <u>https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/4305.pdf</u>.
- Irvine GV. 2000. Persistence of spilled oil on shores and its effects on biota. In: Sheppard CRC, editor. Seas at the millennium: an environmental evaluation. 3rd ed. Amsterdam (NL): Elsevier Science Ltd. Chapter 126; p. 267–281.
- Jasperse L, Levin M, Tsantiris K, Smolowitz R, Perkins C, Ward JE, De Guise S. 2018. Comparative toxicity of Corexit 9500, oil, and a Corexit/oil mixture on the eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica* (Gmelin). Aquat Toxicol. 203:10–18. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2018.07.015.
- Johnston JB, Cahoon DR, La Peyre MK (USGS National Wetlands Research Center, Lafayette, LA). 2009. Outer continental shelf (OCS)-related pipelines and navigation canals in the western and central Gulf of Mexico: relative impacts on wetland habitats and

effectiveness of mitigation. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 192 p. Contract No.: 01-97-RU-14961. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 2009-048. [accessed 2020 Nov 07]; https://marinecadastre.gov/espis/#/search/study/135.

- Jones CE, Davis BA. 2011. High resolution radar for response and recovery: monitoring containment booms in Barataria Bay. Photogram Eng Remote Sens. 77(2):102–105.
- Jönsson M, Ranåker L, Nilsson PA, Brönmark C, Grant J. 2013. Foraging efficiency and prey selectivity in a visual predator: differential effects of turbid and humic water. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 70(12):1685–1690. doi:10.1139/cjfas-2013-0150.
- Jorgenson JK, Gyselman EC. 2009. Hydroacoustic measurements of the behavioral response of arctic riverine fishes to seismic airguns. J Acoust Soc Am. 126(3):1598–1606.
- Judy CR, Graham SA, Lin Q, Hou A, Mendelssohn IA. 2014. Impacts of Macondo oil from Deepwater Horizon spill on the growth response of the common reed *Phragmites australis*: a mesocosm study. Mar Pollut Bull. 79(1–2):69–76. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.12.046.
- Kalmijn AJ. 1988. Chapter 4: hydrodynamic and acoustic field detection. In: Atema J, Fay RR, Popper AN, Tavolga WN, editors. Sensory biology of aquatic animals. New York (NY): Springer-Verlag. p. 83–130.
- Keevin TM, Hempen GL. 1997. The environmental effects of underwater explosions with methods to mitigate impacts. St. Louis (MO): US Department of the Army, Army Corps of Engineers. [accessed 2020 Dec 15]; <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/pdfs/ADA575523.pdf</u>.
- Kendall JJ, Rainey G (MMS, New Orleans, LA). 1991. Session 7: produced waters: findings of recent studies in the coastal waters of Louisiana: session introductions. In: Geo Marine, compiler (Plano, TX). Proceedings: eleventh annual Gulf of Mexico information transfer meeting; November 13–15, 1990, New Orleans, LA. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. Contract 14-35-0001-30499. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 91-0040. p. 157–182. [accessed 2020 Oct 27]; https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/3642.pdf.
- Kennicutt II MC, Boothe PN, Wade TL, Sweet ST, Rezak R, Kelly FJ, Brooks JM, Presley BJ, Wiesenburg DA. 1996. Geochemical patterns in sediments near offshore production platforms. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 53:2554–2566. doi:10.1139/cjfas-53-11-2554.
- Kenworthy WJ, Fonseca MS. 1996. Light requirements of seagrasses *Halodule wrightii* and *Syringodium filiforme* derived from the relationship between diffuse light attenuation and maximum depth distribution. Estuaries. 19(3):740–750. doi:10.2307/1352533.
- Kiesling RW, Alexander SK, Webb JW. 1988. Evaluation of alternative oil spill cleanup techniques in a *Spartina alterniflora* salt marsh. Environ Pollut. 55(3):221–238. doi:10.1016/0269-7491(88)90153-4.
- Ko J-Y, Day JW. 2004. A review of ecological impacts of oil and gas development on coastal ecosystems in the Mississippi Delta. Ocean Coastal Manage. 47(11-12):597–623. doi:10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2004.12.004.
- Kokaly RF, Heckman D, Holloway J, Piazza SC, Couvillion BR, Steyer GD, Mills CT, Hoefen TM. 2011. Shoreline surveys of oil-impacted marsh in southern Louisiana, July to August

2010. Reston (VA): US Department of the Interior, Geological Survey. Open-File Report 2011-1022. [accessed 2020 Nov 08];

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/323496786\_Shoreline\_surveys\_of\_oilimpacted\_marsh\_in\_southern\_Louisiana\_July\_to\_August\_2010\_USGS\_Open\_File\_Repo rt\_2011-1022.

- Kostyuchenko LP. 1973. Effects of elastic waves generated in marine seismic prospecting on fish eggs in the Black Sea. Hydrobiol J. 9(5):45–48.
- Kurman MD, Gómez CE, Georgian SE, Lunden JJ, Cordes EE. 2017. Intra-specific variation reveals potential for adaptation to ocean acidification in a cold-water coral from the Gulf of Mexico. Front Mar Sci. 4:111. doi:10.3389/fmars.2017.00111.
- Kushmaro A, Henning G, Hofmann DK, Benayahn Y. 1997. Metamorphosis of *Heteroxenia fuscescens* plaunlae (cnidaria: Octocorallia) is inhibited by crude oil: a novel short-term toxicity bioassay. Mar Environ Res. 43(4):295–302. doi:10.1016/S0141-1136(96)00092-X.
- La Peyre M, Furlong J, Brown LA, Piazza BP, Brown K. 2014. Oyster reef restoration in the northern Gulf of Mexico: extent, methods and outcomes. Ocean Coastal Manage. 89:20–28. doi:10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2013.12.002.
- La Peyre MK, Aguilar Marshall D, Miller LS, Humphries AT. 2019. Oyster reefs in northern Gulf of Mexico estuaries harbor diverse fish and decapod crustacean assemblages: a meta-synthesis. Front Mar Sci. 6:1–13. doi:10.3389/fmars.2019.00666.
- Lafolley DdA, Roe H, Angel M, Bates N, Boyd I, Brooke S, Buck K, Carlson C, Causey B, Conte M, et al. 2011. The protection and management of the Sargasso Sea: the golden floating rainforest of the Atlantic Ocean. Summary science and supporting evidence case. Washington (DC): Sargasso Sea Alliance. 48 p.
- Laramore S, Krebs W, Garr A. 2016. Effects of exposure of pink shrimp, *Farfantepenaeus duorarum*, larvae to Macondo Canyon 252 crude oil and the Corexit dispersant. J Mar Sci Eng. 4(1):1–18. doi:10.3390/jmse4010024.
- Lassuy DR. 1983. Species profile: life histories and environmental requirements (Gulf of Mexico) - Gulf menhaden. Washington (DC): U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Report No.: FWS/OBS-82/11.2. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, TR EL-82-4.
- Le Hénaff M, Kourafalou VH, Paris CB, Helgers J, Aman ZM, Hogan PJ, Srinivasan A. 2012. Surface evolution of the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill patch: combined effects of circulation and wind-induced drift. Environ Sci Technol. 46:7267–7273. doi:10.1021/es301570w.
- Lee DS, Moser ML. 1998. Importance des Sargasses pelagiques pour la recherché alimentaire des oiseaux marins. El Pitirre. 11(3):111–112.
- Lee RF, Sauerheber R, Dobbs GH. 1972. Uptake, metabolism and discharge of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by marine fish. Mar Biol. 17:201–208. doi:10.1007/BF00366294.
- Lesser MP, Slattery M. 2011. Phase shift to algal dominated communities at mesophotic depths associated with lionfish (Pterois volitans) invasion on a Bahamian coral reef. Biol Invasions. 13(8):1855–1868. doi:10.1007/s10530-011-0005-z.

- Levin LA, Sibuet M. 2012. Understanding continental margin biodiversity: a new imperative. Annu Rev Mar Science. 4:79–112. doi:10.1146/annurev-marine-120709-142714.
- Lewis A, Aurand D. 1997. Putting dispersants to work: overcoming obstacles. In: An issue paper prepared for the 1997 International Oil Spill Conference. Washington (DC): American Petroleum Institute. Report No.: API publication 4652A, Technical Report IOSC-004. 71 p.
- Lewis JB. 1971. Effect of crude oil and an oil-spill dispersant on reef corals. Mar Pollut Bull. 2:59–62.
- Lewis M, Pryor R, Wilking L. 2011. Fate and effects of anthropogenic chemicals in mangrove ecosystems: a review. Environ Pollut. 159(10):2328–2346. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2011.04.027.
- Lin Q, Mendelssohn IA. 1996. A comparative investigation of the effects of south Louisiana crude oil on the vegetation of fresh, brackish and salt marshes. Mar Pollut Bull. 32(2):202–209. doi:10.1016/0025-326X(95)00118-7.
- Lissner AL, Taghon GL, Diener DR, Schroeter SC, Dixon JD. 1991. Recolonization of deepwater hard-substrate communities: potential impacts from oil and gas development. Ecol Appl. 1(3):258–267. doi:10.2307/1941755.
- Littler DS, Littler MM. 2000. Phaeophyta. In: Littler DS, Littler MM. Caribbean reef plants: an identification guide to the reef plants of the Caribbean, Bahamas, Florida and Gulf of Mexico. Washington (DC): Offshore Graphics, Inc. p. 280–289.
- Logan DT. 2007. Perspective on ecotoxicology of PAHs to fish. Human and ecological risk assessment. 13:302–316. doi:10.1080/10807030701226749.
- Long BF, Vandermeulen JH. 1983. Geomorphological impact of cleanup of an oiled salt marsh (Ile Grande, France). In: Ludwigson JO, editor. Proceedings of the 1983 International Oil Spill Conference, 28 February–3 March 1983, San Antonio, Texas. Washington (DC): American Petroleum Institute. p. 501–505.
- Loren C. Scott and Associates, Inc. 2014. The economic impact of Port Fourchon: an update. Baton Rouge (LA): Loren C. Scott and Associates, Inc. [accessed 2020 Nov 10]; <u>http://www.lorenscottassociates.com/Reports/PortFourchonImpact2014.pdf</u>.
- Lunden JJ, McNicholl CG, Sears CR, Morrison CL, Cordes EE. 2014. Acute survivorship of the deep-sea coral Lophelia pertusa from the Gulf of Mexico under acidification, warming, and deoxygenation. Front Mar Sci. 1:78. doi:10.3389/fmars.2014.00078.
- Lunt J, Smee DL. 2014. Turbidity influences trophic interactions in estuaries. Limnol Oceanog. 59(6):2002–2012. doi:10.4319/lo.2014.59.6.2002.
- Lytle JS. 1975. Fate and effects of crude oil on an estuarine pond. In: Scott RW, editor. Proceedings of the 1975 Conference on Prevention and Control of Oil Pollution, 25–27 March 1975, San Francisco, California. Washington (DC): American Petroleum Institute.
   p. 595–600. [accessed 2020 Nov 8]; <u>https://meridian.allenpress.com/iosc/article-pdf/1975/1/595/1738775/2169-3358-1975-1-595.pdf</u>.
- MacDonald I, ed. (Texas A&M Research Foundation, College Station, TX). 1992. Northern Gulf of Mexico: chemosynthetic ecosystems study literature review and data synthesis: volume I executive summary. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior,

Minerals Management Service. Contract No.: 14-35-0001-30555. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 92-0033. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; https://marinecadastre.gov/espis/#/search/study/15067

- MacDonald IR, Guinasso NL, Reilly JF, Brooks JM, Callender WR, Gabrielle SG. 1990. Gulf of Mexico hydrocarbon seep communities: VI. Patterns in community structure and habitat. Geo-Marine Letters. 10(4):244–252. doi:10.1007/bf02431071.
- Mager EM, Esbaugh AJ, Stieglitz JD, Hoenig R, Bodinier C, Incardona JP, Scholz NL, Benetti DD, Grosell M. 2014. Acute embryonic or juvenile exposure to *Deepwater Horizon* crude oil impairs the swimming performance of mahi-mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*). Environ Sci Technol. 48(12):7053–7061. doi:10.1021/es501628k.
- Maiaro JL. 2007. Disturbance effects on nekton communities of seagrasses and bare substrates in Biloxi Marsh, Louisiana [Master's thesis]. Baton Rouge (LA): Louisiana State University.
- Martin CW, Hollis LO, Turner RE. 2015. Effects of oil-contaminated sediments on submerged vegetation: an experimental assessment of Ruppia maritima. PLoS ONE. 10(10):e0138797. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0138797.
- Martin CW, Swenson EM. 2018. Herbivory of oil-exposed submerged aquatic vegetation Ruppia maritima. PLoS ONE. 13(12):e0208463. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0208463.
- Martínez ML, Feagin RA, Yeager KM, Day J, Costanza R, Harris JA, Hobbs RJ, López-Portillo J, Walker IJ, Higgs E. 2012. Artificial modifications of the coast in response to the Deepwater Horizon oil spill: quick solutions or long-term liabilities? Front Ecol Environ.10(1):44–49. [accessed 2020 Dec 11]; https://aquila.usm.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1120&context=fac\_pubs.
- McAuliffe CD, Canevari GP, Searl TD, Johnson JJ, Greene SH. 1980. The dispersion and weathering of chemically treated crude oils on the sea surface. In: Eurocean. Petroleum and the marine environment-Petromar '80; London (GB): Graham and Trotman Ltd. Published in 1981.
- McAuliffe CD, Steelman BL, Leek WR, Fitzgerald DE, Ray JP, Barker CD. 1981. The 1979 Southern California dispersant treated research oil spills. In: International Oil Spill Conference Proceedings. Atlanta (GA). Washington (DC): American Petroleum Institute. API Publication No. 4334. p. 269–282.
- McCauley RD, Fewtrell JL, Popper AN. 2003. High intensity anthropopgenic sound damages fish ears. J Acoust Soc Am. 113(1):638–642. doi:10.1121/1.1527962.
- McCauley RD, Kent CS. 2012. A lack of correlation between air gun signal pressure waveforms and fish hearing damage. In: Popper A, Hawkins A, editors. The effects of noise on aquatic life. advances in experimental medicine and biology, vol 730. New York (NY): Springer Science+Business Media. p. 245–250. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007%2F978-1-4419-7311-5\_54</u>.
- McCauley RD, Kent CS, Archer M. 2008. Impacts of seismic survey pass-bys on fish and zooplankton, Scott Reef Lagoon Western Australia, full report of Curtain University findings. Perth (AU): Centre for Marine Science and Technology, Curtin University. 92 p. Report No.: CMST Project 696\_2; CMST Report R2008-32.

- McGrail D (Texas A&M Research Foundation, College Station, TX). 1982. Chapter 4: water and sediment dynamics at the Flower Garden Banks. In: Environmental studies at the Flower Gardens and selected banks: northwestern Gulf of Mexico, 1979–1981: executive summary. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. Contract No. AA851-CT0-25. Report No. 82-8-T. p. 27–29. [accessed 2020 Oct 28]; https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/3932.pdf.
- Meekan M, Speed C, McCauley R, Fischer R, Birt M, Currey-Randall L, Semmens J, Newman S, Cure K, Stowar M, et al. 2021. A large-scale experiment finds no evidence that a seismic survey impacts a demersal fish fauna. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 118(No. 30):e2100869118.
- Mendelssohn IA, Hester MW, Hill JM (Louisiana Universities Marine Consortium, Baton Rouge, LA). 1993. Effects of oil spills on coastal wetlands and their recovery: year 4, final report. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 53 p. Cooperative Agreement 14-35-0001-30470. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 93-0045. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/1038.pdf</u>.
- Millemann DR, Portier RJ, Olson G, Bentivegna CS, Cooper KR. 2015. Particulate accumulations in the vital organs of wild *Brevoortia patronus* from the northern Gulf of Mexico after the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. Ecotoxicology. 24(9):1831–1847. doi:10.1007/s10646-015-1520-y.
- Minello TJ, Zimmerman RJ, Martinez EX. 1987. Fish predation on juvenile brown shrimp, *Penaeus aztecus* Ives: effects of turbidity and substratum on predation rates. Fisheries Bulletin.85(1):59–70. [accessed 2020 Dec 15]; https://spo.nmfs.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/pdf-content/1987/851/minello.pdf.
- MMS [Minerals Management Service] Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. 2005. Structure-removal operations on the Gulf of Mexico outer continental shelf: programmatic environmental assessment. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 333 p. Report No.: OCS EIS/EA MMS 2005-013. [accessed 2020 Dec 7]; <a href="https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/boem-newsroom/Library/Publications/2005/2005-013.pdf">https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/boem-newsroom/Library/Publications/2005/2005-013.pdf</a>.
- MMS [Minerals Management Service]. 2009a. NTL No. 2009-G39: notice to lessees and operators of federal oil, gas, and sulphur leases and pipeline right-of-way holders Outer Continental Shelf, Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. Biologically-sensitive underwater features and areas. New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 22 p. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://www.bsee.gov/sites/bsee.gov/files/notices-to-lessees-ntl/notices-to-lessees/09g39.pdf</u>
- MMS [Minerals Management Service]. 2009b. NTL No. 2009-G40: notice to lessees and operators of federal oil, gas, and sulphur leases and pipeline right-of-way holders Outer Continental Shelf, Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. Deepwater benthic communities. New Orleans (LA): Minerals Management Service. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://www.bsee.gov/sites/bsee.gov/files/notices-to-lessees-ntl/notices-to-lessees/09-g40.pdf</u>
- Molnar JL, Gamboa RL, Revenga C, Spalding MD. 2008. Assessing the global threat of invasive species to marine biodiversity. Front Ecol Environ. 6(9):485–492. doi:10.1890/070064.

- Montagna PA, Harper Jr. DE. 1996. Benthic infaunal long-term response to offshore production platforms in the Gulf of Mexico. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 53:2567–2588. doi:10.1139/f96-215.
- Munnelly RT, Reeves DB, Chesney EJ, Baltz DM. 2021. Spatial and temporal influences of nearshore hydrography on fish assemblages associated with energy platforms in the northern Gulf of Mexico. Estuaries Coasts. 44(1):269–285. doi:10.1007/s12237-020-00772-7.
- Murawski SA, Hogarth WT, Peebles EB, Barbeiri L. 2014. Prevalence of external skin lesions and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon concentrations in Gulf of Mexico fishes, post-Deepwater Horizon. Trans Am Fish Soc. 143(4):1084–1097. doi:10.1080/00028487.2014.911205.
- National Academies of Sciences Engineering and Medicine. 2020. The use of dispersants in marine oil spill response. Washington (DC): National Academies Press. [accessed 2020 Nov 19]; https://www.nap.edu/catalog/25161/the-use-of-dispersants-in-marine-oil-spill-response.
- National Ocean Service. 2011. The Gulf of Mexico at a glance: a second glance. Washington (DC): U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. 58 p.
- Neff JM. 2005. Composition, environmental fates, and biological effects of water based drilling muds and cuttings discharged to the marine environment: a synthesis and annotated bibliography. Duxbury (MA): Battelle.
- Neff JM, Sauer Jr TC (Arthur D. Little, Inc., Boston, MA). 1990. Review: findings of the American Petroleum Institute study on produced waters. In: Geo Marine, compiler (Plano, TX). Proceedings: eleventh annual Gulf of Mexico information transfer meeting; November 13–15, 1990, New Orleans (LA): US Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. Contract 14-35-0001-30499. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 91-0040. p. 171–176.
- Negri AP, Heyward AJ. 2000. Inhibition of fertilization and larval metamorphosis of the coral *Acropora millepora* (Ehrenberg, 1834) by petroleum products. Mar Pollut Bull. 41(7–12):420–427. doi:10.1016/S0025-326X(00)00139-9.
- NMFS [National Marine Fisheries Service]. 2007. Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (as amended through January 12, 2007). Washington (DC): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. 178 p. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://media.fisheries.noaa.gov/dam-migration/msa-amended-2007.pdf</u>
- NMFS [National Marine Fisheries Service]. 2009. Final–Amendment 1 to the 2006 Consolidated Atlantic HMS Fishery Management Plan Essential Fish Habitat. Silver Spring (MD): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service. 410 p. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/action/amendment-1-2006-consolidated-hms-fishery-management-plan-essential-fish-habitat</u>
- NMFS [National Marine Fisheries Service]. 2010. Essential fish habitat: a marine fish habitat conservation mandate for federal agencies; Gulf of Mexico region. St. Petersburg (FL): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Southeast Regional Office. 15 p.

- NMFS [National Marine Fisheries Service]. 2015. Final essential fish habitat 5-year review for Atlantic highly migratory species. Silver Springs (MD): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service. 136 p.
- NMFS [National Marine Fisheries Service]. 2021a. History of management of Gulf of Mexico red snapper. St. Petersburg (FL): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administation. [updated 2021 Apr 28; accessed 2021 May 12]; <u>https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/historymanagement-gulf-mexico-red-snapper</u>.
- NMFS [National Marine Fisheries Service]. 2021b. Overfishing and overfished stocks as of March 31, 2021. St. Petersburg (FL): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administation. [updated 2021 Mar 31; accessed 2021 May 12]; <u>https://media.fisheries.noaa.gov/2021-04/FSSI%20Quarterly%20Map\_Q1\_2021.pdf?null</u>.
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration]. 2010. Characteristic coastal habitats: choosing spill response alternatives. Seattle (WA): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Ocean Service, Office of Response and Restoration. [accessed 2020 Nov 10].
   <a href="https://response.restoration.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/Characteristic\_Coastal\_Habitats.p\_df">https://response.restoration.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/Characteristic\_Coastal\_Habitats.p\_df</a>.
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration]. 2014. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants: final listing determinations on proposal to list 66 reef-building coral species and to reclassify elkhorn and staghorn corals. Fed Regist. 79(175) (September 10): 53852–54123. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2014-09-10/pdf/2014-20814.pdf</u>
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration]. 2016. Coral facts. Silver Spring (MD): U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. [updated 2016 April 19; accessed 2021 July 22]; <u>https://coralreef.noaa.gov/education/coralfacts.html#reproduce</u>.
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration]. 2017. Atlantic highly migratory species: essential fish habitat; final rule. Fed Regist. 82(172) (August 30): 42329–42337. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2017-09-07/pdf/2017-18961.pdf</u>.
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration]. 2020. Shoreline sensitivity rankings list. Silver Spring (MD): NOAA Office of Response and Restoration. [accessed 2020 August 24]; <u>https://response.restoration.noaa.gov/oil-and-chemical-spills/oil-</u> <u>spills/shoreline-sensitivity-rankings-list</u>.
- NOAA [National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration] 2021. Expansion of Flower Garden Banks National Marine Sanctuary. Fed Regist. 86(11) (January 19): 4937–4961 [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2021-01-19/pdf/2021-</u>00887.pdf.
- Nodine MC, Cheon JY, Wright SG, Gilbert RB. 2006. Mudslides during Hurricane Ivan and an assessment of the potential for future mudslides in the Gulf of Mexico. Austin (TX): University of Texas at Austin. 192 p. Report No.: TAP 552.
- NRC [National Research Council]. 2003. Oil in the sea III: inputs, fates, and effects. Washington (DC): National Research Council of the National Academies, Divisions of Earth and Life

Studies and Transportation Research Board, Ocean Studies Board and Marine Board, Committee on Oil in the Sea: Inputs, Fates, and Effects. [accessed 2020 Nov 22]; https://www.nap.edu/catalog/10388/oil-in-the-sea-iii-inputs-fates-and-effects.

- NRC [National Research Council]. 2005. Oil spill dispersants: efficacy and effects. Washington (DC): National Research Council of the National Academies, Division on Earth and Life Studies, Ocean Studies Board, Committee on Understanding Oil Spill Dispersants: Efficacy and Effects. [accessed 2020 Nov 20]; <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/11283/oil-spill-dispersants-efficacy-and-effects</u>.
- Onuf CP. 1996. Biomass patterns in seagrass meadows of the Laguna Madre, Texas. Bull Mar Sci.58(2):404–420. [accessed 2020 Nov 05]; <u>https://www.ingentaconnect.com/contentone/umrsmas/bullmar/1996/00000058/0000002</u> /art00007.
- Orth RJ, Carruthers TJB, Dennison WC, Duarte CM, Fourqurean JW, Heck Jr. KL, Hughes AR, Kendrick GA, Kenworthy WJ, Olyarnik S, et al. 2006. A global crisis for seagrass ecosystems. BioScience. 56(12):987–996. doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2006)56[987:AGCFSE]2.0.CO;2.
- OSAT-2 [Operational Science Advisory Team]. 2011. Summary report for fate and effects of remnant oil in the beach environment. Washington (DC): U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Coast Guard, Operational Science Advisory Team (OSAT-2) Gulf Coast Incident Management Team. [accessed 2020 Nov 12]; <u>https://www.restorethegulf.gov/sites/default/files/u316/OSAT-2%20Report%20no%20ltr.pdf.</u>
- Oviatt CA, Huizenga K, Rogers CS, Miller WJ. 2019. What nutrient sources support anomalous growth and the recent sargassum mass stranding on Caribbean beaches? A review. Mar Pollut Bull. 145:517–525. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.06.049.
- Passow U, Ziervogel K, Asper V, Diercks A. 2012. Marine snow formation in the aftermath of the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico. Environ Res Lett. 7(035301):1–11. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/7/3/035301.
- Patterson WF, Wilson CA, Bentley SJ, Cowan JH, Henwood T, Allen YC, Dufrene TA. 2005. Delineating juvenile red snapper habitat on the northern Gulf of Mexico continental shelf. American Fisheries Society Symposium. 41:277–288. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; https://fisheries.org/docs/books/x54041xm/23.pdf.
- Payne JF, Coady J, White D. 2009. Potential effects of airgun discharges on monkfish eggs (*Lophius americanus*) and larvae. St. John's (CA): Environmental Studies Research Funds. 32 p. Report No.: 170.
- Pearson WH, Skalski JR, Sulkin SD, Malme CI. 1994. Effects of seismic energy releases on the survival and development of zoeal larvae of dungeness crab (*Cancer magister*). Mar Environ Res. 38:93–113. doi:10.1016/0141-1136(94)90003-5.
- Peña H, Handegard NO, Ona E. 2013. Feeding herring schools do not react to seismic air gun surveys. ICES J Mar Sci. 70(6):1174–1180. doi:10.1093/icesjms/fst079.
- Peters KM, McMichael RHJ. 1987. Early life history of the red drum, *Sciaenops ocellatus* (Pisces: Sciaenidae) in Tampa Bay, Florida. Estuaries. 10(2):92–107. doi:10.2307/1352173.

- Pezeshki S, DeLaune R. 2015. United States Gulf of Mexico coastal marsh vegetation responses and sensitivities to oil spill: a review. Environments. 2(4):586–607. doi:10.3390/environments2040586.
- Pfetzing E, Cuddeback J. 1993. Use of chemical dispersants for marine oil spills. Cincinnati (OH): U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, Risk Reduction Engineering Laboratory. 132 p. Report No.: EPA/600/R-93/195. (U.S.). [accessed 2020 Nov 16]; <u>https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi?Dockey=3000313B.PDF</u>.
- Popper A, Fay R, Platt C, Sand O. 2003. Sound detection mechanisms and capabilities of teleost fishes. In: Collin SP, Marshall NJ, editors. Sensory processing in aquatic environments. New York (NY): Springer. p. 3–38. [accessed 2022 Apr 29]; https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-22628-6\_1.
- Popper AN, Fay RR. 1993. Sound detection and processing by fish: critical review and major research questions. Brain, Behavior and Evolution. 41:14–38. doi:10.1159/000113821.
- Popper AN, Fay RR. 2011. Rethinking sound detection by fishes. Hear Res. 273(1-2):25–36. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2009.12.023.
- Popper AN, Hastings MC. 2009. The effects of anthropogenic sources of sound on fishes. J Fish Biol. 75(3):455–489. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2009.02319.x.
- Popper AN, Hawkins AD. 2018. The importance of particle motion to fishes and invertebrates. J Acoust Soc Am. 143(1):470–488. doi:10.1121/1.5021594.
- Popper AN, Hawkins AD, Fay RR, Mann DA, Bartol S, Carlson TJ, Coombs S, Ellison WT, Gentry RL, Halvorsen MB, et al. 2014. Chapter 7: sound exposure guidelines. In: Popper AN, Hawkins AD, Fay RR, et al. ASA S3/SC14 TR-2014 sound exposure guidelines for fishes and sea turtles: a technical report prepared by ANSI-Accredited Standards Committee S3/SC1 and registered with ANSI. Cham (DK): Springer. p. 33–51.
- Popper AN, Hawkins AD, Halvorsen MB. 2019. Anthropogenic sounds and fishes. Olympia (WA): Washington State Department of Transportation, Office of Research & Library Services. WSDOT Research Report WA-RD 891.1. [accessed 2020 Dec 15]; <u>https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/research/reports/fullreports/891-1.pdf</u>.
- Popper AN, Hawkins AD, Sisneros JA. 2021. Fish hearing "specialization"-a re-valuation. Hear Res.108393. doi:10.1016/j.heares.2021.108393.
- Popper AN, Smith ME, Cott PA, Hanna BW, MacGillivray AO, Austin ME, Mann DA. 2005. Effects of exposure to seismic airgun use on hearing of three fish species. J Acoust Soc Am. 117(6):3958–3971. doi:10.1121/1.1904386.
- Powers SP, Hernandez FJ, Condon RH, Drymon JM, Free CM. 2013. Novel pathways for injury from offshore oil spills: direct, sublethal and indirect effects of the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill on pelagic *Sargassum* communities. PLoS ONE. 8(9):e74802. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074802.
- Rabalais NN, Turner RE, Scavia D. 2002. Beyond science into policy: Gulf of Mexico hypoxia and the Mississippi River. BioScience. 52(2):129–142. doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2002)052[0129:BSIPGO]2.0.CO;2.

- Ramachandran SD, Hodson PV, Khan CW, Lee K. 2004. Oil dispersant increases PAH uptake by fish exposed to crude oil. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 59(3):300–308. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2003.08.018.
- Reimer AA. 1975. Effects of crude oil on corals. Mar Pollut Bull. 6(3):39–43. doi:10.1016/0025-326X(75)90297-0.
- Rezak R, Bright TJ (Texas A&M University, College Station, TX). 1981. Northern Gulf of Mexico topographic features study. Volumes 1–5. New Orleans (LA): U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management. Contract No.: AA551-CT8-35. Technical Report No. 81-2-T. Report Nos.: OCS Study 1981-18–1981-22. [accessed 2020 Nov 06]; <u>https://marinecadastre.gov/espis/#/search/study/15145</u>.
- Rezak R, Bright TJ, McGrail DW (Texas A&M University, College Station, TX). 1983. Reefs and banks of the northwestern Gulf of Mexico: their geological, biological, and physical dynamics, final report. New Orleans (LA): U.S. Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 524 p. Contract No.: AA851-CT1-55. Report Nos.: OCS Study 1983-1 and 1983-20. [accessed 2020 Aug 14]; https://marinecadastre.gov/espis/#/search/study/15166.
- Robb CK. 2014. Assessing the impact of human activities on British Columbia's estuaries. PLoS ONE. 9(6):e99578. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0099578.
- Roberts HH, Aharon P, Carney R, Larkin J, Sassen R. 1990. Sea floor responses to hydrocarbon seeps, Louisiana continental slope. Geo-Mar Lett. 10(4):232–243. doi:10.1007/BF02431070.
- Roberts HH, Shedd W, Hunt JJ. 2010. Dive site geology: DSV Alvin (2006) and ROV Jason II (2007) dives to the middle-lower continental slope, northern Gulf of Mexico. Deep Sea Res Part II. 57(21-23):1837–1858. doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2010.09.001.
- Rogers CS. 1990. Responses of coral reefs and reef organisms to sedimentation. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 62:185–202. doi:10.3354/meps062185.
- Rogers CS, Garrison VH. 2001. Ten years after the crime: lasting effects of damage from a cruise ship anchor on a coral reef in St. John, U.S. Virgin Islands. Bull Mar Sci. 69(2):793–803.
- Rooker JR, Dokken QR, Pattengill CV, Holt GJ. 1997. Fish assemblages on artificial and natural reefs in the Flower Garden Banks National Marine Sanctuary, USA. Coral Reefs. 16:83–92.
- Rooker JR, Holt SA, Soto MA, Holt GJ. 1998. Postsettlement patterns of habitat use by Sciaenid fishes in subtropical seagrass meadows. Estuaries. 21(2):18–327. doi:10.2307/1352478.
- Rooker JR, Landry AM, Geary BW, Harper JA. 2004. Assessment of a shell bank and associated substrates as nursery habitat of postsettlement red snapper. Estuarine Coastal Shelf Sci. 59(4):653–661. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2003.11.009.
- Rooker JR, Simms JR, Wells RJD, Holt SA, Holt GJ, Graves JE, Furey NB. 2012. Distribution and habitat associations of billfish and swordfish larvae across mesoscale features in the Gulf of Mexico. PLoS ONE. 7(4):e34180. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034180.
- Rozas LP, Odum WE. 1988. Occupation of submerged aquatic vegetation by fishes: testing the roles of food and refuge. Oecologia. 77:101–106. doi:10.1007/BF00380932.

- Scharf FS, Schlight KK. 2000. Feeding habits of red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) in Galveston Bay, Texas: seasonal diet variation and predator-prey size relationships. Estuaries. 23:128–139. doi:10.2307/1353230.
- Schroeder DM, Love MS. 2004. Ecological and political issues surrounding decommissioning of offshore oil facilities in the Southern California Bight. Ocean Coastal Manage. 47:21–48. doi:10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2004.03.002.
- Schroeder WW, Shultz AW, Dindo JJ. 1988. Inner-shelf hardbottom areas, northeastern Gulf of Mexico. Gulf Coast Assoc Geolog Soc Trans. 38:535–541.
- Schroeder WW, Wood CF, editors. 2000. Shelf hard bottom habitats. In: Physical/biological Oceanographic Integration Workshop for the Desoto Canyon and adjacent shelf, October 19-21, 1999. New Orleans (LA): U.S. Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. p. 67–72. Report No.: OCS Study MMS 2000-074. <u>Physical/Biological</u> <u>Oceanographic Integration Workshop for the DeSoto Canyon and Adjacent Shelf,</u> <u>October 19-21, 1999 (unt.edu)</u>
- Seavey JR, Pine WE, Frederick P, Sturmer L, Berrigan M. 2011. Decadal changes in oyster reefs in the big bend of Florida's gulf coast. Ecosphere. 2(10):1–14. doi:10.1890/es11-00205.1.
- SEDAR [Southest Data, Assessment, and Review]. 2011. Gulf of Mexico menhaden: SEDAR 27 stock assessment report. North Charleston (SC): SEDAR 27. 492 p. [accessed 2022 Apr 26]; <u>http://sedarweb.org/docs/sar/S27\_SAR\_FINAL.pdf</u>.
- Silva M, Etnoyer PJ, MacDonald IR. 2016. Coral injuries observed at mesophotic reefs after the Deepwater Horizon oil discharge. Deep Sea Res Part II. 129:96–107. doi:10.1016/j.dsr2.2015.05.013.
- Snyder SM, Pulster EL, Murawski SA. 2019. Associations between chronic exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and health indices in Gulf of Mexico tilefish (*Lopholatilus chamaeleonticeps*) post Deepwater Horizon. Environ Toxicol Chem. 38(12):2659–2671. doi:10.1002/etc.4583.
- Snyder SM, Pulster EL, Wetzel DL, Murawski SA. 2015. PAH exposure in Gulf of Mexico demersal fishes, post-Deepwater Horizon. Environ Sci Technol. 49(14):8786–8795. doi:10.1021/acs.est.5b01870.
- Stephenson JR, Gingerich AJ, Brown RS, Pflugrath BD, Deng Z, Carlson TJ, Langeslay MJ, Ahmann ML, Johnson RL, Seaburg AG. 2010. Assessing barotrauma in neutrally and negatively buoyant juvenile salmonids exposed to simulated hydro-turbine passage using a mobile aquatic barotrauma laboratory. Fish Res. 106(3):271–278. doi:10.1016/j.fishres.2010.08.006.
- Stoner AW. 1983. Pelagic *Sargassum*: evidence for a major decrease in biomass. Deep Sea Res Part A. 30(4):469–474. doi:10.1016/0198-0149(83)90079-1.
- Streich MK, Ajemian MJ, Wetz JJ, Stunz GW. 2017a. A comparison of fish community structure at mesophotic artificial reefs and natural banks in the western Gulf of Mexico. Mar Coastal Fish. 9(1):170–189. doi:10.1080/19425120.2017.1282897.
- Streich MK, Ajemian MJ, Wetz JJ, Williams JA, Shipley JB, Stunz GW. 2017b. A comparison of size structure, age, and growth of red snapper from artificial and natural habitats in the

western Gulf of Mexico. Trans Am Fish Soc. 146(4):762–777. doi:10.1080/00028487.2017.1308884.

- Stress Engineering Services Inc. 2005. Evaluation and comparison of hurricane induced damage to offshore GOM pipelines from Hurricane Lili. Houston (TX): Stress Engineering Services, Inc. 81 p. Report No.: PN 112279-RRA.
- Teal JM, Farrington JW, Burns KA, Stegeman JJ, Tripp BW, Woodin B, Phinney C. 1992. The West Falmouth oil spill after 20 years: fate of fuel oil compounds and effects on animals. Mar Pollut Bull. 24(12):607–614. doi:10.1016/0025-326X(92)90281-A.
- Teal JM, Howarth RW. 1984. Oil spill studies: a review of ecological effects. Environmental Management. 8(1):27–43. doi:10.1007/BF01867871.
- Teo SLH, Boustany AM, Block BA. 2007. Oceanographic preferences of Atlantic bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, on their Gulf of Mexico breeding grounds. Mar Biol. 152(5):1105–1119. doi:10.1007/s00227-007-0758-1.
- Thatcher CA, Hartley SB, Wilson SA. 2011. Bank erosion of navigation canals in the Western and Central Gulf of Mexico. Reston (VA): U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy Management, Regulation and Enforcement, and U.S. Geological Survey. 122 p. Report Nos.: OCS Study BOEMRE 2010-039 and USGS Open-File Report 2010–1017. [accessed 2022 Apr 28]; doi.org/10.3133/ofr20101017
- Thompson MJ, Schroeder WW, Philips NW, Graham BD (Continental Shelf Associates, Inc. Jupiter, FL). 1999. Ecology of live bottom habitats of the northeastern Gulf of Mexico: a community profile. New Orleans (LA): U.S. Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey and Minerals Management Service. 100 p. Contract No. 5-83040-02356. Report Nos.: USGS/BRD/CR1999-001 and MMS 99-0004. [accessed 2022 Apr 28]; https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/3196.pdf.
- Thomsen B. 2008. An experiment on how seismic shooting affects caged fish. Bioacoustics. 17(1-3):219–221. doi:10.1080/09524622.2008.9753824.
- Tian Y, Youssef B, Cassidy MJ. 2015. Assessment of pipeline stability in the Gulf of Mexico during hurricanes using dynamic analysis. Theor Appl Mech Lett. 5(2):74–79. doi:10.1016/j.taml.2015.02.002.
- Tolley GS, Volety AK. 2005. The role of oysters in habitat use of oyster reefs by resident fishes and decapod crustaceans. J Shellfish Res. 24(4):1007–1012. doi:10.2983/0730-8000(2005)24[1007:Trooih]2.0.Co;2.
- Trefry JH, Naito KL, Trocine RP, Metz S. 1995. Distribution and bioaccumulation of heavy metals from produced water discharges to the Gulf of Mexico. Water Sci Technol. 32(2):31–36. doi:10.1016/0273-1223(95)00566-6.
- Tunnell JW. 2017. Shellfish of the Gulf of Mexico. In: Ward CH, editor. Habitats and biota of the Gulf of Mexico: before the Deepwater Horizon oil spill: volume 1: water quality, sediments, sediment contaminants, oil and gas seeps, coastal habitats, offshore plankton and benthos, and shellfish. New York (NY): Springer-Verlag. p. 769–839. [accessed 2020 Nov 06];

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318162538\_Shellfish\_of\_the\_Gulf\_of\_Mexico.

- Turner RE, Rabalais NN, Swenson EM, Kasprzak M, Romaire T. 2005. Summer hypoxia in the northern Gulf of Mexico and its prediction from 1978 to 1995. Mar Environ Res. 59:65–77. doi:10.1016/j.marenvres.2003.09.002.
- Turnpenny AWH, Nedwell JR. 1994. Consultancy report: the effects on marine fish, diving mammals and birds of underwater sound generated by seismic surveys. Southampton (GB): Fawley Aquatic Research Laboratories. report No.: FCR 089/94. [accessed 2020 Nov 03]; https://www.pge.com/includes/docs/pdfs/shared/edusafety/systemworks/dcpp/turnpenny

https://www.pge.com/includes/docs/pdfs/shared/edusafety/systemworks/dcpp/turnpenny\_ and\_nedwell\_1994\_the\_effects\_on\_marine\_fish\_diving\_mammals\_and\_birds\_of\_seismic\_ \_surveys.pdf.

- U.S. Department of the Navy. 2018. Atlantic fleet training and testing final environmental impact statement/overseas environmental impact statement: volume I. Norfolk (VA): U.S. Department of the Navy, Naval Facilities Engineering Command Atlantic. [accessed 2020 Nov 08]; <u>https://media.defense.gov/2018/Aug/16/2001955256/-1/-1/1/VOLUME\_I\_AFTT\_DRAFT\_EIS\_OEIS.PDF</u>.
- USACE [US Army Corps of Engineers]. 2013. Beneficial use of dredged material. New Orleans (LA): U.S. Department of the Army, Corps of Engineers. [accessed 2020 Dec 10]; <u>https://www.mvn.usace.army.mil/About/Offices/Operations/Beneficial-Use-of-Dredged-Material/</u>.
- USCG, MARAD [US Coast Guard Maritime Adminstration]. 2003. Final environmental impact statement for the Port Pelican LLC Deepwater Port License Application. Washington (DC): U.S. Coast Guard, U.S. Department of Transportation. 404 p. Report No.: USCG-2002-14134.
- USEPA. 2012. National coastal condition report IV. Washington (DC): U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development/Office of Water. 334 p. Report No.: EPA-842-R-10-003. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-</u> 10/documents/0 nccr 4 report 508 bookmarks.pdf.
- Valentine DL, Burch Fisher G, Bagby SC, Nelson RK, Reddy CM, Sylva SP, Woo MA. 2014. Fallout plume of submerged oil from Deepwater Horizon. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 111(45):15906–15911. doi:10.1073/pnas.1414873111.
- van der Knaap I, Reubens J, Thomas L, Ainslie MA, Winter HV, Hubert J, Martin B, Slabbekoorn H. 2021. Effects of a seismic survey on movement of free-ranging Atlantic cod. Cur Biol. 31:1–8. [accessed 2022 Apr 28]; doi:10.1016/j.cub.2021.01.050.
- VanderKooy SJ, Smith JW. 2002. The menhaden fishery of the Gulf of Mexico, United States: a regional management plan. Ocean Springs (MS): Gulf States Marine Fisheries Commission. Number 99. [accessed 2020 Nov 06]; <u>https://www.gsmfc.org/publications/gsmfc%20number%20099.pdf</u>.
- Verhoeven JT, Arheimer B, Yin C, Hefting MM. 2006. Regional and global concerns over wetlands and water quality. Trends Ecol Evol. 21(2):96–103. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.11.015.
- Veron J. 2013. Overview of the taxonomy of zooxanthellate Scleractinia. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society. 169(3):485–508. doi:10.1111/zoj.12076.

- Volety AK, Haynes L, Goodman P, Gorman P. 2014. Ecological condition and value of oyster reefs of the southwest Florida shelf ecosystem. Ecol Indic. 44:108–119. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.03.012.
- Wang M, Chuanmin H, Barnes BB, Mitchum G, Lapointe B, Montoya JP. 2019. The great Atlantic sargassum belt. Science. 365:83–87.
- Wardle CS, Carter TJ, Urquhart GG, Johnstone ADF, Ziolkowski AM, Hampson G, Mackie D. 2001. Effects of seismic air guns on marine fish. Cont Shelf Res. 21:1005–1027. doi:10.1016/S0278-4343(00)00122-9.
- Warnock AM, Hagen SC, Passeri DL. 2015. Marine tar residues: a review. Water Air Soil Pollut. 226(3):68. doi:10.1007/s11270-015-2298-5.
- Waycott M, Duarate CM, Carruthers TJB, Orth RJ, Dennison WC, Olyamik S, Calladine A, Fourqurean JW, Heck Jr. K, Hughes AR, et al. 2009. Accelerating loss of seagrass across the globe threatens coastal ecosystems. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 106(3):12377–12381. doi:10.1073/pnas.0905620106.
- Webb JW, Alexander SK, Winters JK. 1985. Effects of autumn application of oil on *Spartina alterniflora* in a Texas salt marsh. Environ Pollut (Series A) 38(4):321–337. doi:10.1016/0143-1471(85)90105-9.
- Wells RJD, Cowan JH, Patterson WF, Walters CJ. 2008. Effect of trawling on juvenile red snapper (*Lutjanus campechanus*) habitat selection and life history parameters. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 65(11):2399–2411. doi:10.1139/f08-145.
- Welsh SE, Inoue M, Rouse Jr LJ, Weeks E (Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA).
  2009. Observation of the deepwater manifestation of the Loop Current and Loop Current rings in the eastern Gulf of Mexico. New Orleans (LA): U.S. Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service. 119 p. Contract No.: 1435-01-99-CA-32806-36189.
  Report No.: OCS Study MMS 2009-050. [accessed 2020 Dec 17]; https://espis.boem.gov/final%20reports/4883.pdf.
- White HK, Hsing PY, Cho W, Shank TM, Cordes EE, Quattrini AM, Nelson RK, Camilli R, Demopoulos AW, German CR, et al. 2012. Impact of the Deepwater Horizon oil spill on a deep-water coral community in the Gulf of Mexico. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 109(50):20303–20308. doi:10.1073/pnas.1118029109.
- Wiernicki CJ, Liang D, Bailey H, Secor DH. 2020. The effect of swim bladder presence and morphology on sound frequency detection for fishes. Rev Fish Sci Aquacult. 28(4):459–477. doi:10.1080/23308249.2020.1762536.
- Wilber DH, Clarke DG. 2001. Biological effects of suspended sediments: a review of suspended sediment impacts on fish and shellfish with relation to dredging activities in estuaries. N Am J Fish Manage. 21:855–875. doi:10.1577/1548-8675(2001)021<0855:BEOSSA>2.0.CO;2.
- Wilson CA, Pierce A, Miller MW (Louisiana Statue University, Baton Rouge, LA). 2003. Rigs and reefs: a comparison of the fish communities at two artificial reefs, a production platform, and a natural reef in the northern Gulf of Mexico. New Orleans (LA): U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Ocean Energy and Management. 105 p. Contract No.: 30660-19960. Report No.: MMS 2003-009. [accessed 2022 Apr 28]; <a href="https://marinecadastre.gov/espis/#/search/study/59">https://marinecadastre.gov/espis/#/search/study/59</a>

- Wilson SS, Furman BT, Hall MO, Fourqurean JW. 2019. Assessment of hurricane Irma impacts on south Florida seagrass communities using long-term monitoring programs. Estuaries Coasts. 43(5):1119–1132. doi:10.1007/s12237-019-00623-0.
- Wolfe MF, Schwartz GJB, Singaram S, Mielbrecht EE, Tjeerdema RS, Sowby ML. 2001. Influence of dispersants on the bioavailability and trophic transfer of petroleum hydrocarbons to larval topsmelt (Atherinops affinis). Aquat Toxicol. 52(1):49–60. doi:10.1016/S0166-445X(00)00131-4.
- Wright RM, Correa AMS, Quigley LA, Santiago-Vázquez LZ, Shamberger KEF, Davies SW. 2019. Gene expression of endangered coral (*Orbicella* spp.) in Flower Garden Banks National Marine Sanctuary after Hurricane Harvey. Front Mar Sci. 6:672. doi:10.3389/fmars.2019.00672.
- Wyers SC, Frith HR, Dodge RE, Smith SR, Knap AH, Sleeter TD. 1986. Behavioral effect of chemically dispersed oil and subsequent recovery in *Diploria strigosa* (DANA). Mar Ecol. 7(1):23–42. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0485.1986.tb00146.x.
- Wysocki LE, Ladich F. 2005. Hearing in fishes under noise conditions. J Assoc Res Otolaryngology. 6(1):28–36. doi:10.1007/s10162-004-4043-4.
- Yarbro LA, Carlson Jr PR. 2013. Seagrass integrated mapping and monitoring for the state of Florida mapping and monitoring report No. 1. St. Petersburg (FL): Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, Fish and Wildlife Research Institute. Report No.: FWRI Technical Report TR-17.
- Zengel S, Bernik BM, Rutherford N, Nixon Z, Michel J. 2015. Heavily oiled salt marsh following the Deepwater Horizon oil spill, ecological comparisons of shoreline cleanup treatments and recovery. PLoS ONE. 10(7):e0132324. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132324.
- Zengel S, Rutherford N, Bernik B, Nixon Z, Michel J. 2014. Salt marsh remediation and the Deepwater Horizon oil spill, the role of planting in vegetation and macroinvertebrate recovery. In: Miller EJ, editor. Proceedings of the 2014 International Oil Spill Conference Proceedings, 5–8 May 2014, Savannah, Georgia. Washington (DC). American Petroleum Institute. p. 1985–1999. [accessed 2020 Dec 11]; <u>https://meridian.allenpress.com/iosc/article-pdf/2014/1/1985/1748707/2169-3358-2014\_1\_1985.pdf</u>.
- Zengel SA, Michel JM. 2013. Deepwater Horizon oil spill: salt marsh oiling conditions, treatment testing, and treatment history in northern Barataria Bay, Louisiana (interim report October 2011). Seattle (WA): National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Office of Response and Restoration. Report No.: NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS OR&R 42. [accessed 2020 Dec 11]; https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/380.
- Zieman JC, Orth R, Phillips RC, Thayer G, Thorhaug A. 1984. Effects of oil on seagrass ecosystems. In: Cairns Jr J, Buikema Jr AL, editors. Restoration of habitats impacted by oil spills. Boston (MA): Butterworth. p. 37–64. [accessed 2020 Nov 12]; <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/242651053\_The\_effects\_of\_oil\_spills\_on\_seag</u> <u>rass\_ecosystems</u>.

# Table 2. Gulf of Mexico Managed Species

5 .						
Coastal Migratory Pelagic Fish						
cobia (Rachycentron canadum)						
king mackerel (Scomberomorus cavalla)						
Spanish mackerel (Scomberomorus maculatus)						
Corals						
Class Hydrozoa (stinging and hydrocorals)						
Class Anthozoa (sea fans, whips, precious coral, sea pen, stony corals)						
*Listed corals also covered under ESA consultation						
Red Drum Fishery						
red drum (Sciaenops ocellatus)						
Shrimp Fishery						
brown shrimp (Farfantepenaeus aztecus)						
pink shrimp (Farfantepenaeus duorarum)						
royal red shrimp (Pleoticus robustus)						
white shrimp (Litopenaeus setiferus)						
Spiny Lobster Fishery						
spiny lobsters (Panulirus argus)						

Highly Migratory Species	Highly Migratory Species (cont.)	Reef Fish Fishery
albacore (Thunnus alalunga)	almaco jack (Seriola rivoliana)	almaco jack (Seriola rivoliana)
Atlantic angel shark (Squatina dumerili)	banded rudderfish (Seriola zonata)	banded rudderfish (Seriola zonata)
Atlantic bigeye tuna (Thunnus obesus)	black grouper (Mycteroperca bonaci)	black grouper (Mycteroperca bonaci)
Atlantic bluefin tuna (Thunnus thynnus)	blackfin snapper (Lutjanus buccanella)	blackfin snapper (Lutjanus buccanella)
Atlantic sharpnose (Rhinocodon terraenovae)	blueline tilefish (Caulolatilus microps)	blueline tilefish (Caulolatilus microps)
Atlantic yellowfin tuna (Thunnus albacares)	cubera snapper (Lutjanus cyanopterus)	cubera snapper (Lutjanus cyanopterus)
basking shark (Cetorhinus maximus)	gag (Mycteroperca microlepis)	gag (Mycteroperca microlepis)
bigeye sand shark (Odontaspis noronhai)	goldface tilefish (Caulolatilus chrysops)	goldface tilefish (Caulolatilus chrysops)
bigeye sixgill shark (Hexanchus vitulus)	goliath grouper (Epinephelus itajara)	goliath grouper (Epinephelus itajara)
bigeye thresher shark (Alopias superciliosus)	gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus)	gray snapper (Lutjanus griseus)
bignose shark (Carcharhinus altimus)	gray triggerfish (Balistes capriscus)	gray triggerfish (Balistes capriscus)
blacknose shark (Carcharhinus acronotus)	greater amberjack (Seriola dumerili)	greater amberjack (Seriola dumerili)
blacktip shark (Carcharhinus limbatus)	hogfish (Lachnolaimus maximus)	hogfish (Lachnolaimus maximus)

Highly Migratory Species	Highly Migratory Species (cont.)	Reef Fish Fishery
blue marlin (Makaira nigricans)	lane snapper (Lutjanus synagris)	lane snapper (Lutjanus synagris)
blue shark (Prionace glauca)	lesser amberjack (Seriola fasciata)	lesser amberjack (Seriola fasciata)
bonnethead shark (Sphyrna tiburo)	mutton snapper (Lutjanus analis)	mutton snapper (Lutjanus analis)
bull shark (Carcharhinus leucas)	Nassau grouper (Epinephelus striatus)	Nassau grouper (Epinephelus striatus)
Caribbean reef shark (Carcharhinus perezi)	queen snapper (Etelis oculatus)	queen snapper (Etelis oculatus)
Caribbean sharpnose shark (Rhinocodon porosus)	red grouper (Epinephelus morio)	red grouper (Epinephelus morio)
common thresher shark (Alopias vulpinus)	red snapper (Lutjanus campechanus)	red snapper (Lutjanus campechanus)
dusky shark (Carcharhinus obscurus)	scamp (Mycteroperca phenax)	scamp (Mycteroperca phenax)
finetooth shark (Carcharhinus isodon)	silk snapper (Lutjanus vivanus)	silk snapper (Lutjanus vivanus)
Galapagos shark (Carcharhinus galapagensis)	snowy grouper (Epinephelus niveatus)	snowy grouper (Epinephelus niveatus)
great hammerhead (Sphyrna mokarran)	speckled hind (Epinephelus drummondhayi)	speckled hind (Epinephelus drummondhayi)
	tilefish (Lopholatilus chamaeleonticeps)	tilefish (Lopholatilus chamaeleonticeps)
	vermilion snapper (Rhomboplites aurorubens)	vermilion snapper (Rhomboplites aurorubens)
	warsaw grouper (Epinephelus nigritus)	warsaw grouper (Epinephelus nigritus)
	wenchman (Pristipomoides aquilonaris)	wenchman (Pristipomoides aquilonaris)
	yellowedge grouper (Epinephelus flavolimbatus)	yellowedge grouper (Epinephelus flavolimbatus)
	yellowfin grouper (Mycteroperca venenosa)	yellowfin grouper (Mycteroperca venenosa)
	yellowmouth grouper (Mycteroperca interstitialis)	yellowmouth grouper (Mycteroperca interstitialis)
	yellowtail snapper (Ocyurus chrysurus)	yellowtail snapper (Ocyurus chrysurus)

Sources: GOMFMC, 2004; USDOC, NMFS, 2010.

### Table 3. Described Essential Fish Habitat Locations for Reef Fish in the Gulf of Mexico

Species Name	Eggs	Larvae	Post Larvae	Juveniles	Adults
Almaco jack	Gulfwide	Gulfwide	-	Gulfwide, associated with floating structures ( <i>Sargassum</i> ) and barrier islands in the late summer and fall, and feed on invertebrates	Southern GOM, offshore associated with platforms, prey on fish, and spawning is hypothesized to be spring and fall
Banded rudderfish		Gulf Stream every other month (starting with January)	-	Offshore, associated with floating structures ( <i>Sargassum</i> ), year-round	Coastal waters over the continental shelf, both pelagic and epibenthic; feed on fish and shrimp, and spawn year-round offshore
Black grouper	Pelagic and occur offshore	Pelagic and occur offshore	-	Inshore to estuaries with seagrass, rocky bottoms, or coral reefs, eat crustaceans, and move to deeper water with size	Deeper (>20 m; 65 ft) waters than the other life history stages over rocky bottoms and coral reefs (mid to high relief), feed on fish, and spawn in May near the Florida Keys
Blackfin snapper	Continental shelf year-round	-	-	Shallow waters with hard substrate (12-40 m; 39-131 ft) by the Virgin Islands in spring	Continental shelf edge, eat nekton, and spawn year-round
Blackfin snapper	Continental shelf year-round	-	-	Shallow waters with hard substrate (12-40 m; 39-131 ft) by the Virgin Islands in spring	Continental shelf edge, eat nekton, and spawn year-round
Blueline and goldface tilefish	Pelagic and occur offshore	Pelagic and occur offshore	-	Pelagic and occur offshore	Continental shelf edge and upper slope (91–150 m; 298–492 ft) associated with irregular bottoms, feed on benthic invertebrates and some fish, and spawn in burrows and crevices in summer and fall
Cubera snapper	Near coral reefs and wrecks of medium depth (80 m; 262 ft) in the summer	-	-	Shallow vegetated waters in estuaries near streams and rivers wide salinity ranges	Southern GOM near reefs and mangroves, in wide salinity ranges, eat nekton, and spawn in the Florida Keys at approximately 80 m (262 ft)
Gag	Pelagic and occur in the winter to spring	Pelagic and occur in the winter to spring, shallow (<5 m; 16 ft) estuaries associated with grass beds or oysters, eat crustaceans then nekton, and then recruit to offshore	-		In water depths of 20–100 m (65–326 ft) associated with hard bottoms that have some relief, feed on nekton, and spawn offshore shelf edge break in the winter but peaking in the spring

		hard bottoms in the fall			
Goliath grouper	Pelagic and occur offshore in the late summer and early fall	Pelagic and occur offshore in the late summer and early fall	-	High salinity (>25 psu) estuaries and bays, and feed on crustaceans and vegetation	Near jetties, coral reefs, and crevices at 2– 55 m (6-180 ft); feed on crustaceans; and spawn from summer to winter with peaks in the late summer offshore in structures or patchy reefs
Gray snapper	High salinity continental shelf waters near coral reefs in the summer	High salinity continental shelf waters near coral reefs in the summer and eat zooplankton	Move to estuaries with vegetation (seagrass), wide salinity and temperature ranges, and eat copepods and amphipods	Feed on crustaceans	Onshore and offshore, eat nekton, and spawn offshore near reefs in summer
Greater amberjack	Gulfwide	Gulfwide	Offshore in the summer	Gulfwide with floating structures (Sargassum) in the late summer and fall and feed on invertebrates	Gulfwide, near the structured habitat, eat invertebrates and fish, and spawn in the spring and summer offshore
Grey trigger	Sand bottoms near reef habitats in the spring and summer seasons	-	Upper water column in spring and summer seasons	Upper water column associated with Sargassum and eat from Sargassum	Continental shelf waters (>10 m; 33 ft), reefs in the late spring and summer, and eat invertebrates
Hogfish		-	-	Seagrass beds of Florida Bay and eat invertebrates	Coral reefs and rocky flats, and eat mollusks
Lane snapper	Continental shelf and offshore in the summer	-	-	Low salinity inshore grasses, coral reefs, and soft bottoms (0-20 m; 0- 65 ft), and eat small invertebrates	High salinity offshore waters in sand bottoms with structure; wide depth range of 4–130 m (13-426 ft); eat nekton, annelids, and algae; spawning peak offshore in midsummer
Lesser amberjack	Gulfwide	Gulfwide	-	Gulfwide, associated with floating structures (Sargassum) in the late summer and fall and feed on invertebrates	Gulfwide, near the bottom, associated with structures, feed on squid, and spawn in spring and fall

Marbled grouper (insufficient information to identify EFH)	-	-	-	-	-
Mutton snapper	Shallow continental shelf waters	Shallow continental shelf waters	-	Seagrasses during the summer	Seagrass or reefs, year-round, eat nekton, and spawn in south Florida at drop offs near coral reefs in late spring
Nassau grouper (protected)	Not offshore but are in highly saline waters in the winter	Not offshore but are in highly saline waters in the winter, and start feeding on other larvae	-	Saline, shallow, vegetated waters or associated with reefs in similar waters, move offshore with size, and start feeding on fish	Associated with reeds and crevices, feed on nekton, and spawn in the winter at full moon over soft corals, sponges, and sand
Queen snapper	Offshore	Offshore	-	-	Deep water in southern GOM (>100 m; 328 ft) in rocky bottoms; eat fish, crustaceans, and squid; and spawn in March and August in St. Lucia
Red grouper	Pelagic and occur offshore over the continental shelf, and feed on zooplankton over the continental shelf, and feed on zooplankton	Pelagic and occur offshore over the continental shelf, and feed on zooplankton	-	Inshore by seagrass and rock formation, have wide salinity range, feed on crustaceans, and move into deeper waters with size	Continental shelf near live bottoms and crevices (3–190 m; 9–623 ft), feed on nekton, and spawn offshore as protogynous hermaphrodites in late the winter and spring
Red snapper	Offshore in the summer and fall	Continental shelf waters in summer and fall, and eat rotifers and algae	-	Continental shelf associated with structures and feed on zooplankton and shrimp	Hard and irregular bottoms, eat nekton, and spawn offshore away from coral reefs in sand bottoms with low relief in summer and fall
Scamp	Pelagic and occur offshore in the spring	Pelagic and occur offshore in the spring	-	Inshore associated with hard bottoms	Continental shelf associated with high-relief hard bottoms that have complex structure, feed on nekton, and spawn at the continental shelf edge (60–100 m; 196-328 ft) in complex habitat from early spring to summer
Silk snapper	Shallow water year- round and eat nekton	Shallow water year- round and eat nekton	-	Shallow water year-round and eat nekton	Edge of the continental shelf (90–140 m; 295–459 ft), ascend at night, feed on nekton, and spawn year-round (more so in the late summer)

Snowy grouper	Pelagic and occur offshore	Pelagic and occur offshore	-	Benthic and found inshore associated with shallow reefs, feed on nekton, and move offshore with size	Deep water (100–200 m; 328–656 ft) with high-relief rocky bottoms, feed on nekton, and spawn in spring and summer
Speckled hind	Pelagic and occur offshore	Pelagic and occur offshore	-	Shallow waters	Hard bottoms/ rocky reefs commonly at 60– 120 m (196–393 ft); they are the apex predator of the mid-shelf coral reef and spawn at continental shelf edge in spring and late summer
Tilefish	Pelagic and occur on the near shelf edge in the spring and summer	Pelagic and occur on the near shelf edge in the spring and summer	-	-	Outer continental shelf (>250 m; 820 ft), feed on crustaceans, burrow in clay/mud, and spawn spring to fall
Vermilion snapper	-	-	-	Coral reefs and rocky bottoms (20- 200 m; 65-656 ft), spawn offshore in spring-summer	Coral reefs and rocky bottoms (20–200 m; 65–656 ft), and spawn offshore in spring- summer
Wenchman	Continental shelf waters, warmer months	Continental shelf waters, warmer months	-	-	Hard bottoms of the mid- to outer shelf (80– 200 m; 262–656 ft), feed on small fish, and spawn in burrows and crevices in summer and fall
Yellowedge grouper	Pelagic and occur offshore	Pelagic and occur offshore	-	Shallow waters with rocky bottom habitats	Outer continental shelf (>180 m; 590 ft) with high relief, hard-bottom habitats; feed on nekton; and spawn in the spring and summer
Yellowfin grouper	-	-	-	Seagrass beds then move to rocky bottoms	Adults are not common but can be found near the shoreline to mid-shelf with rocky bottoms and coral reefs, feed on nekton, and spawn in spring and summer
Yellowmouth grouper	Pelagic and occur offshore	Pelagic and occur offshore	-	Shallow waters with mangroves (e.g., lagoons) and feed on fish	Inshore in water depths <100 m (328 ft) over rocky bottom and corals, feed on nekton, and spawn in spring and summer
Yellowtail snapper	Found in February and October	Shallow water with vegetation and structure and feed on zooplankton	-	Nearshore with vegetation and move to shallow coral reefs with age	Semipelagic and use deeper coral reefs (50 m; 164 ft), feed on nekton, and spawn away from shore with peaks in February–April and September–October

Species	Eggs	Larvae	Juveniles	Adults
Cobia	Top meter of the water column	Offshore waters	Coastal waters and offshore on the shelf in the upper water column, found in the summer, and feed on nekton	Shallow coastal waters and offshore shelf waters (1-70 m; 3-229 ft) from March to October and spawn in the shelf waters in the spring and summer
King mackerel	Pelagic and occur offshore in spring and summer	Mid to outer continental shelf (25-180 m; 82-590 ft) in October and feed on other larval fish	Inshore waters on the inner shelf and feed on estuarine dependent fish	Pelagic and occur in coastal to offshore waters, feed on nekton, and spawn from May to October on the outer continental shelf
Spanish mackerel	Pelagic and found on the continental inner shelf (<50 m; 164 ft) in spring and summer	Continental inner shelf from spring to fall and feed on larval fish	Estuarine and coastal waters with a wide salinity range and feed on fish	Inshore and coastal waters, feed on estuarine dependent fish, and spawn on the inner shelf from May to September

# Table 5. Described Essential Fish Habitat and Spawning Locations for Shrimp in the Gulf of Mexico

Species	Eggs	Larvae	Post Larvae	Juveniles	Adult
Brown shrimp	-	-	Migrate to estuaries in early spring	Associated with vegetation and mud bottoms, and sub-adults use bays and shelf as they move from estuaries to offshore waters	Spawn in deep waters (>18 m; 59 ft) over the continental shelf generally in the spring
Pink shrimp	Spring and summer	-	-	Use the seagrass beds ( <i>Halodule</i> and <i>Thalassia</i> , depending on size)	Offshore over the continental shelf on sand/shell bottoms
Royal red shrimp	Winter and spring on the upper slope (250-550 m; 820-1,804 ft)	-	-	-	Upper slope associated with muddy bottoms and spawn there from winter to spring, feed on benthic organisms, and are not estuarine dependent
White shrimp	Spring and fall	-	-	Associated with soft bottoms with detritus and vegetation	Nearshore soft bottoms and spawn at <27 m (88 ft) from spring to fall, and migrate through the water column between night and day

### Table 6. Described Essential Fish Habitat Locations for Highly Migratory Species in the Gulf of Mexico

EEZ = Exclusive Economic Zone

\* The states are used to help visualize approximately where in the GOM the species could occur.

\*\* Central Gulf—This is the central portion of the entire GOM, not the GOM's Central Planning Area (CPA).

Species Eggs		Larvae	Juvenile	Adult
Albacore tuna	-	-	-	Central Gulf
Atlantic bigeye tuna	-	-	Found in waters adjacent to Louisiana/Mississippi and Florida*	Central Gulf**
Atlantic bluefin tuna	100 m (328 ft) to the EEZ	100 m (328 ft) to the EEZ	-	Spawn in the spring over the continental shelf in the Gulf
Atlantic yellowfin tuna	Offshore	Offshore	Central Gulf from Texas to the Florida panhandle	Offshore
Blue marlin	Mid-Florida Keys	Mid-Florida Keys	Central Gulf waters from Texas to Florida	Central Gulf waters from Texas to Florida
Longbill spearfish	-	-	Central Gulf from Louisiana to the Florida panhandle and the Keys	Central Gulf from Louisiana to the Florida panhandle and the Keys
Sailfish	-	-	Central Gulf waters from Texas, Louisiana, and the Florida panhandle	Central Gulf waters from Texas, Louisiana, and the Florida panhandle
Skipjack tuna	Offshore out to the EEZ	Offshore out to the EEZ	Central Gulf waters from Louisiana to Florida	Central Gulf waters from Texas to Florida and spawn offshore
Swordfish	100 fathoms (200 m; 656 ft) to the EEZ	100 fathoms (200 m; 656 ft) to the EEZ	Gulf waters from Texas to Florida	Spawn offshore associated with the Loop Current
White marlin	-	-	Central Gulf from Texas to the Florida panhandle and Keys	Central Gulf from Texas to the Florida panhandle and Keys

# Table 7. Described Essential Fish Habitat Locations for Shark Species Using the Gulf of Mexico

\* The states are used to help visualize approximately where in the GOM the species could occur.

\*\* Central Gulf—This is the central portion of the entire GOM, not the GOM's Central Planning Area (CPA).

Shark Species	Neonates	Young of Year	Juveniles	Adult
Atlantic angel shark	-	-	Localized in coastal waters from eastern Louisiana to the Florida panhandle	Localized in coastal waters from eastern Louisiana to the Florida panhandle
Atlantic sharpnose shark	-	-	-	Found in coastal waters from Texas to the Florida Keys
Basking shark (no EFH described for the GOM)	-	-	-	-
Bigeye thresher shark	-	-	-	Found in the Central Gulf and Key West, Florida
Bignose shark	-	-	Localized areas from Louisiana to the Florida Keys	Localized areas from Louisiana to the Florida Keys
Blacknose shark	Found in the coastal waters of Florida	Found in the coastal waters of Florida	Localized in the coastal waters of Texas, western Louisiana, and Mississippi to Florida	Localized areas in waters from Texas to the Florida Keys
Blacktip sharks	-	-	-	Coastal waters from Texas to the Florida Keys
Blue shark (no EFH described for the GOM)	-	-	-	-
Bonnethead shark	-	-	-	Found in coastal shallow waters with sandy and muddy bottoms around Texas, eastern Mississippi, and to the Florida Keys
Bull shark	Coastal waters of Texas but are also found in localized areas in Florida	Coastal waters of Texas, but are also found in localized areas in Florida	Coastal waters from Texas through eastern Louisiana to the panhandle and western Florida	Southern and mid-coast of Texas to Louisiana and the Florida Keys
Caribbean reef sharks	-	-	-	Coastal waters of the Florida Keys

Caribbean sharpnose shark (no EFH identified due to insufficient data)	-	-	-	-
Common thresher shark	-	-	-	Found in the Central Gulf and the Florida Keys
Dusky shark	-	-	Central Gulf** adjacent to south Texas and Florida	Central Gulf adjacent to south Texas and Florida
Finetooth shark	Inshore waters from Texas, eastern Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and the Florida panhandle	Inshore waters from Texas, eastern Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and the Florida panhandle	Found in inshore waters from south Texas and the Florida Keys, and from eastern Louisiana to the Florida panhandle	Found in inshore waters from south Texas and the Florida Keys, and from eastern Louisiana to the Florida panhandle
Great hammerheads	-	-	-	Coastal areas from Texas to Florida*
Lemon shark	Found in waters adjacent to mid- Texas and the Florida Keys with a localized area adjacent to the middle of Florida	Found in waters adjacent to mid- Texas and the Florida Keys with a localized area adjacent to the middle of Florida	Found in coastal waters of Texas, eastern Louisiana, and Florida	Coastal waters adjacent to Florida
Longfin makos and shortfin makos	-	-	-	Deepwater offshore in the Central Gulf and the Florida Keys
Narrowtooth shark (no EFH identified due to insufficient data)	-	-	-	
Night sharks	-	-	-	Found in localized areas of offshore waters adjacent to Texas, Louisiana, and Florida
Nurse sharks	-	-	-	Coastal waters of Florida
Oceanic whitetip shark	-	-	-	Found in the Central Gulf and the Florida Keys
Sandbar shark	-	-	-	Coastal waters near Florida and some localized areas near Alabama
Scalloped hammerhead	Coastal waters from Texas to Florida	Coastal waters from Texas to Florida	Coastal and offshore waters from mid-Texas to Louisiana	Coastal GOM waters from Texas to Florida and offshore waters from Texas to eastern Louisiana

Silky sharks	-	-	-	Offshore waters in the Central Gulf adjacent to Texas, Louisiana, and the Florida Keys
Spinner shark	Coastal waters near Texas, Louisiana, and Florida	Coastal waters near Texas, Louisiana, and Florida	Localized in waters reaching from south Texas to Florida	Localized in waters reaching from south Texas to Florida
Tiger sharks	Localized areas near the Texas/Louisiana border and Florida panhandle	Localized areas near the Texas/Louisiana border and Florida panhandle	Found in Florida waters	Found in both shallow and deep waters
Whale sharks	-	-	-	Found in the waters of the Central Gulf ranging from Texas to the Florida panhandle
White sharks	-	-	-	Southwest coastal waters of Florida and Florida Keys